# Energy-efficient early emergency detection for healthcare monitoring on WBAN platform

Masum Billah

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement of Staffordshire University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

October 2023

#### Abstract

This dissertation introduces an innovative structure aimed at improving anomaly detection and predictive analyses in Wireless Body Area Networks (WBANs), a crucial technology within the realm of digital healthcare. Motivated by the need to improve diagnostic precision and clinical decision-making, especially in environments constrained by the computational limitations of edge devices, this research aims to revolutionise patient monitoring systems. The research begins with a comprehensive review of current WBAN technologies and their applications in healthcare. It identifies a distinct gap in the ability of these systems to adapt to the dynamic and complex nature of patient health monitoring. Traditional WBAN methodologies, heavily reliant on static thresholds and centralised cloud-based processing, often fall short of effectively managing the nuanced and varied data derived from patient monitoring, leading to real-time responsiveness and energy efficiency challenges.

The research progresses from static to dynamic threshold to address these challenges, enhancing the system's adaptability to fluctuating health indicators. The Multi-Level Classification Threshold Algorithm (MLCTA) was formulated to refine the classification of health-related data. The study subsequently presents a compound method that combines threshold-based techniques with linear regression analysis. This integration significantly bolsters the model's predictive capacity for health incidents by providing a more profound comprehension of vital sign patterns. When used in conjunction with actual patient data, this approach notably heightens the precision of health event forecasts.

The framework includes a series of progressively advanced algorithms: The Modified Adaptive Local Emergency Detection (MALED) lays the groundwork with its adaptive response to health data changes. This is enhanced by the Differential Change Analysis (DCA), which introduces sensitivity to the rate of change in vital signs for early anomaly detection. The Local Emergency Detection Algorithm Using Adaptive Sampling (LEDAS) further optimises this framework by implementing adaptive sampling based on the patient's health status, ensuring efficient data collection. The pinnacle of this progression is the Sequential Multi-Dimensional Trend Analysis (SMDTA), which offers a comprehensive multi-dimensional analysis of health data, identifying intricate patterns and relationships among various vital signs for precise health predictions. Additionally, incorporating dynamic thresholds across these algorithms refines anomaly detection, making the system more flexible and responsive to changing patient health dynamics. Together, these algorithms represent a significant leap from basic monitoring systems to advanced networks capable of sophisticated multi-dimensional health analysis.

Empirical evaluation using actual patient data from clinical databases demonstrated the superior efficacy of the proposed framework. Notably, the hybrid approach combining linear regression with threshold-based methods achieved near 96% accuracy in anomaly detection, significantly reducing the false-positive rate to 2%. Furthermore, the optimised local emergency detection strategies led to an average 85% reduction in data transmissions, contributing to a 19% decrease in energy consumption compared to existing methods, thereby underscoring the system's suitability for energy-constrained environments. The results of this research highlight not only the potential of advanced WBAN systems in enhancing healthcare delivery but also pave the way for future developments in medical technology. The proposed framework and its algorithms open new avenues in clinical decision-making, offering robust, efficient, and user-friendly solutions for healthcare professionals and patients.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to begin by expressing my gratitude to Almighty Allah for the blessings, wisdom, patience, and resilience that have guided me throughout my life. Furthermore, I wish to extend my appreciation to the numerous individuals who played a vital role during the course of my research.

First and foremost, I would like to convey my sincere and heartfelt gratitude to my principal supervisor, Dr. Alison Griffiths. Her unwavering support and guidance throughout this research have been instrumental. Despite her demanding schedule, she consistently provided invaluable advice, enabling me to shape my ideas and successfully complete my work. I must emphasise the importance of her continued belief in my abilities and her encouragement during challenging times. Her willingness to share her knowledge, wisdom, experience, and enthusiasm has greatly contributed to my academic journey.

I would also like to express my deep appreciation and respect for my second supervisor, Professor Abdel Hamid Soliman. His exceptional support and approachability have made him one of the most accessible individuals on the faculty, always ready to assist. Collaborating with him on esteemed projects has enriched my knowledge and skills. His valuable suggestions, support, encouragement, advice, and feedback have had a profound impact on the quality of my work.

Acknowledgement is due to Staffordshire University for awarding me a PhD studentship and sponsoring this research. The teaching opportunities provided by the Engineering Department at Staffordshire University have been invaluable in gaining knowledge and experience. I extend my immense gratitude to the graduate school and its dedicated staff for their support throughout my journey.

I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to two individuals who have motivated and inspired me greatly: Dr. Assaduzzam of Staffordshire University and Prof. Mohammad Patwary of Wolverhampton University. Their unwavering encouragement has helped me maintain faith during challenging times. I am profoundly grateful for the colleagues and friends I have encountered during my time at Staffordshire University. The discussions, collaboration, and shared experiences with them have been enriching. Special appreciation goes to Dr. Amjad for his unwavering support and time. I extend my thanks to my friend, Husaain Mahbub Alam, who works in the NHS, for his motivational words and actions.

Words cannot adequately express my appreciation for my family and their unwavering support throughout my life. I extend my gratitude to my parents, sisters, and other relatives for their support, understanding, and encouragement. I reserve a special place in my heart for my wife and children, whose sacrifices during my PhD journey have been extraordinary. Without their contributions, completing this work would not have been possible.

In conclusion, I extend my thanks to the examiners for their time and patience in reviewing and evaluating this thesis.

## Contents

Abstract		2
Acknow	edgements	4
List of fig	gures	9
List of Ta	ables	
Abbrevia	ations	
Chapter	1	
1. Intr	oduction	15
1.1	Background and Motivation	15
1.2	Wireless Body Area Network: Applications and Requirement	17
1.3	Aim and Objectives	21
1.4	Research Methodology	22
1.5	Limitations of Existing Solutions	24
1.6	Research Contributions	26
1.7	Thesis Organisations	27
Chapter	2	29
2. Sta	te-of-the-art in Healthcare Anomaly Detections	
2.1	Introduction	29
2.2	Anomaly Detection Technique	29
2.3	Healthcare Anomaly Detection	34
2.3	1 Anomalies in Healthcare Data	35
2.3	.2 Anomalies from Vital Signs	
2.3	.3 Common Health Care Anomaly Detection Techniques	40
2.3	.4 Performance Evaluation Metrics	43
2.3	.5 Summary Observation	45
2.4 Ar	nomaly Detection Using Vital Signs	47
2.5	Local Emergency Detection	51
2.6 Er	ergy Optimisation Techniques Used in Healthcare Emergency Detection	53
2.6	1 Power Consumption Techniques	53
2.6	2 Adaptive Sampling	55
2.6	Summary	57
Chapter	3	60
3. Uni	fied Anomaly Detection Schemes (UADS)	60
3.1 In <sup>-</sup>	troduction	60
3.2 Pr	eliminaries	61

3.3 Related Works		5
3.4 Performance Analysis Techniques		Э
3.5 System Model		5
3.5.1 Data Collection		1
3.5.2 Data Preprocessing		2
3.5.3 System Model Validation		3
3.6 Abnormality Classification		2
3.6.1 Multi Level Classification Usir	g Threshold Approach104	4
3.6.2 Mahalanobis Distance Calcula	tion:	3
3.6.3 Machine Learning Algorithms	for Classification	2
3.7 Hybrid Approach for Anomaly De	ection11{	3
3.8 Summary		Э
Chapter 4		1
4. Local Emergency Detections Enhar	cement13	1
4.1 Introduction		1
4.2 Related Works		2
4.3 Early Emergency Detection		5
4.3.1 Clinical Consideration- N	ews and Pain Assessment Tool137	7
4.3.2 Local Emergency Detection		Э
4.3.3 Experiment and Analysis		2
4.4 Differential Change Analysis (DCA	)148	3
4.5. Power consumption optimisation		1
4.5.1 Related Works		2
4.5.2 Adaptive Sampling		3
4.5.3 Data Sent		5
4.5.4 Data Reduction		7
4.4.5. Power Consumption		3
4.5.6 Experiment and Analysis		)
4.6 Sequential Multi-Dimensional Tre	nd Analysis (SMDTA) for LEDAS162	1
4.7 Clinical Predictions		4
4.8 Summary		5
Chapter 5		8
5. Conclusions and Future Directions		8
5.1 Conclusion		3
5.2 Future Direction		5
References		8

Ά	Appendix	
	A.1 Anomaly detection	. 202
	A.2 Vital Signs	. 204
	A.3 Normal Range of vital signs	. 205
	A.4 Pain Response	. 207
	A.5 Pain Assessment Tool	. 208
	A.6 Sample data looks like	. 208
	A.7: Physionet data training certificate	. 209
	A.8 Distribution and Cut of point	. 210
	A.9 : R code linear regression algorithm	. 212

## List of figures

Figure 1. 1: Applications of WBAN.	
Figure 1. 2: Example of different sensors used in a WBAN.	
Figure 1. 3: Data flow for a typical WBAN	
Figure 1. 4: Typical WBAN mobility model	
Figure 1. 5: The main steps of methodology	
Figure 1. 6: Research problems	
Figure 1. 7: An overview of the contributions made by this thesis against the limitations ident	ified in
the existing literature	
Figure 2. 1: Anomaly detection classification summary	
Figure 3. 1 The WBAN architecture includes edge devices for classification, prediction and dec	cision-
Figure 3 2: Receiver operator curves (example)	
Figure 3. 3: ALIC is 1. Perfect scenario: ALIC = Area under curve: TPR =True Positive Rate: EPR	-Falso
Docitive Rate	-1 8130
Figure 3 $A$ : ALIC is 0.7.70% chance the model distinguishes between positive class and negat	
rlass	73
Figure 3 5: ALIC is 0.5. This is the worst situation, the model has no discrimination canacity	
Figure 3. 6: AUC is 0. The model is predicting the opposite	74
Figure 3. 7: Input and output for the proposed healthcare system.	
Figure 3. 8: Block diagram of the proposed healthcare framework	
Figure 3. 9: Flow diagram of information	
Figure 3. 10: National Early Warning Scoring System [191]	
Figure 3. 11: Blood pressure, normal and emergency data	
Figure 3. 12: Oxygen saturation, normal and emergency data.	90
Figure 3. 13: Heart rate, normal and emergency data.	
Figure 3. 14: Respiratory rate, normal and emergency data	92
Figure 3. 15: Raised alarms for Oxygen saturation and Heart rate.	
Figure 3. 16: Raised alarms for Oxygen saturation and Respiration rate.	97
Figure 3. 17: Raised alarms for Respiration rate and Heart rate.	97
Figure 3. 18: Raised alarms for Respiration rate, Oxygen saturation and Heart rate	
Figure 3. 19: Threshold vs MLCTA classification approach	107
Figure 3. 20Figure 3.15: Comparison for abnormal data tendency (Threshold vs MLCTA)	108
Figure 3. 21: Threshold vs MDTA normal and abnormal classification	110
Figure 3. 22: Comparison for normal data tendency Threshold vs MDTA	111
Figure 3. 23: Comparison between MLCTA and MDTA for normal data classification	111
Figure 3. 24: Comparison between MLCTA and MDTA for abnormal data classification	112
Figure 3. 25: Evaluation of performance by all algorithms	116
Figure 3. 26: Block diagram of the proposed hybrid system	119
Figure 3. 27: Raised alarms for proposed Threshold approach (all physiological signs)	122
Figure 3. 28: Raised alarms for proposed Detection algorithm [104]	123
Figure 3. 29: Accuracy comparison by all methods	125
Figure 3. 30: Precision Across Methods	126
Figure 3. 31: Figure 3.26: False Positive Rate (FPR) Across Methods	126

Figure 3. 32: ROC curve for MLCTA128
--------------------------------------

. 135
. 137
. 139
. 139
. 143
.144
. 144
. 145
. 146
. 156
. 157
. 158
. 159
. 159

## List of Tables

Table 2. 1: Existing anomaly detection techniques in the literature    46
Table 3. 1: A summary of edge devices that can be used in a WBAN healthcare system
Table 3. 2: Truth table for a clinical test 69
Table 3. 3: Data in columns
Table 3. 4: Example patient data 87
Table 3. 5: Example of threshold-based classification. 88
Table 3. 6Table 3.6: Raised alarm for individual vital signs
Table 3. 7: Example of threshold-based (algorithm 1. B/ Threshold adopted) classification95
Table 3. 8: Raised alarm between individual and combined vital signs (Sp = Oxygen saturation, HR =
Heart rate, RR = Respiration rate)96
Table 3. 9: Raised alarm between individual and combined vital signs (Sp = Oxygen saturation, HR =
Heart rate, RR = Respiration rate, BP =Blood pressure)98
Table 3. 10: Comparison of classification accuracy by static and dynamic threshold 101
Table 3. 11: Comparison Threshold vs proposed MLCTA
Table 3. 12Table 3.12: Comparison Threshold vs proposed MDTA109
Table 3. 13Table 3.13: Evaluating different approaches through performance metrics
Table 3. 14Table 3.14: Computational complexity assumptions
Table 3. 15: Performance comparison for all algorithms 124
Table 3. 16: Comparative Performance Analysis of Predictive Models      127
Table 4. 1. Performance evaluation for four algorithms. 146
Table 4. 2: Performance analysis between MALED and DCA150
Table 4. 3: Data sent % by no sampling and adaptive sampling
Table 4. 4: Performance comparison across the methods      160
Table 4. 5: Evaluation of performance metrics for methods MALED, DCA and SMDTA164

### Abbreviations

- ADC Analogue-to-digital converter
- AP Access Point
- AUC The Area Under This Curve
- ANN Artificial Neural Network
- BER Bit Error Rate
- BN Bayesian Network
- BP Blood pressure
- BPM Beats Per Minute/ Breaths Per Minute
- BS Base Station
- CPU Central processing unit
- DCA Differential Change Analysis
- DSW Dynamic Slide Window
- ECG Electrocardiography
- EEG Electroencephalography
- EHRs Electronic Health Records
- GP General Practitioner
- IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers
- FN False Negative
- FP False Positive
- FPR False Positive Rate
- FNR False Negative Rate
- HR Heart rate

- ISM Industrial, Scientific and Medical
- KF Kalman Filter
- KNN K- Nearest neighbour
- LR Linear Regression
- LPU Local Processing Unit
- MAC Media Access Control
- MD Mahalanobis Distance
- MAD Median Absolute Deviation
- mmHg millimetres of mercury
- MM Markov Model
- MV Majority Voting
- NB Naive Bays
- NPV Negative Predictive Value
- NHS National Health Service
- PPV Positive Predictive Value
- PSA Principal Statistic Analysis
- PS Personal Server
- PS Personal Device
- QoS Quality of Service
- QoE Quality of Experience
- RF Random Forest
- ROC Receiver Operating Characteristic
- RR Respiration rate

- RRT Rapid Response Team
- SMO Sequential Minimal Optimization Regression
- SVM Support Vector Machine
- TDMA Time Division Multiple Access
- Temp Temperature
- TP True Positive
- TN True Negative
- Sp Oxygen saturation
- SH-Base Shapelets Base
- WBAN Wireless Body Area Network
- WBSN Wireless Body Sensor Network
- WMA Weighted Moving Average
- WPAN Wireless PersonalAreaa Network
- WSN Wireless Sensor Network
- WWAN Wireless Wide Area Network

## Chapter 1

#### 1. Introduction

This chapter offers a comprehensive exposition of the distinctive traits and complexities associated with healthcare anomaly detection while delving into prospective solutions to surmount these challenges. Subsequently, it furnishes compelling reasons for delving into the targeted research domain, aligning the study's motivations with the broader landscape of anomaly detection in healthcare. Moreover, it addresses diverse hurdles encountered in customising anomaly detection techniques for specific applications. The research study's primary aim and objectives are expounded upon, laying the groundwork for the ensuing investigation. The adopted methodology to conduct this research is succinctly delineated, providing a clear and concise road map for the scientific inquiry. Furthermore, a succinct and cogent summation of the research study's significant contributions to knowledge is offered, highlighting its potential impact in advancing the frontiers of healthcare anomaly detection. Finally, concluding this chapter, a detailed outline of the report's organisation is presented, signposting the logical progression of the ensuing discourse.

#### 1.1 Background and Motivation

The contemporary healthcare landscape is teeming with an array of challenges that necessitate innovative solutions. With an increasingly ageing global population, healthcare systems face mounting pressures [1]. These challenges encompass not only a surge in healthcare costs but also escalating queues for essential services and a disconcerting prevalence of delayed diagnoses. Considering the cost, astonishingly in the United States, healthcare spending jumped from \$250 billion in 1980 to an astonishing \$4.3 trillion in 2021 [2]. Projections suggest continued growth, reaching an estimated \$6.2 trillion by 2028 [3]. On the other hand, in the United Kingdom, healthcare spending has notably increased, with the National Health Service (NHS) net budget rising from £78.881 billion in 2006/07 to £202.9 billion in 2021/22. Projections indicate planned expenditures of £182 billion for 2023/24 and £184.5 billion for 2024/25. Notably, per capita health spending in the UK surged from £2,106 in 2015/16 to £4,188 in 2021/22 [4]. This dramatic growth mirrored globally, underscores the

pressing need for innovative strategies to navigate the ever-intensifying challenges of an ageing population and their profound impact on healthcare systems.

In the face of these challenges, technology has emerged as a beacon of hope [5], offering a means to revolutionise patient care, treatment outcomes, and the overall efficiency of healthcare delivery. Among the myriad technological advancements, Wireless Body Area Networks (WBANs) [6] hold significant promise. These networks, comprising low-power, miniature wireless devices operating close to the human body, provide real-time health data collection, opening new horizons for patient care and well-being [7].

In 2019, the NHS acknowledged the transformative impact of technology on healthcare and the need for adaptation to benefit patients and caregivers [8]. This perspective is rooted in the shift towards an ageing population dealing with medical challenges [9, 10]. Consequently, hospitals grapple with mounting pressures, leading to increased queues for emergency care and a notable prevalence of incorrect diagnoses. Research from 1985 to 2020 indicates that more than a quarter of individuals experienced misdiagnoses [11]. Manual handling issues and extended waiting times in the United Kingdom's accident and emergency departments exacerbate these challenges.

Healthcare, a critical domain, generates extensive data from various sources, offering the potential for improving patient care, treatment outcomes, and overall efficiency. However, the complexity and volume of healthcare data present challenges, including anomaly detection [12, 19-23] and process optimisation. Anomaly detection techniques play a vital role across domains, including healthcare, by identifying issues at early stages, enabling timely intervention, and improving outcomes. In healthcare, early detection [13] enhances treatment effectiveness, reduces costs, and eases the burden on the healthcare system. Despite their importance, current healthcare early detection techniques have limited accuracy, invasiveness, cost, and accessibility issues. Additionally, in the context of WBANs, sensors collect vital signs [14] data for further processing, which can be quite challenging when performed at the local node, mainly due to the traditional WBAN architecture. Typically, in the conventional architecture of WBANs, a bridging point is established between the sensor infrastructure network and the Internet. This bridging point primarily serves basic functions, such as facilitating the transformation of data between the Internet and sensor networks. Nevertheless, there is a need to provide various higher-level services, including local storage,

16

real-time local data processing, and decision-making, at the local node. This approach aims to minimise energy consumption and enable real-time decision-making capabilities while enabling the system to support seamless mobility.

Therefore, this thesis addresses the challenges faced by resource constrained WBANs, aiming to enable an innovative approach to early anomaly detection. It accomplishes this by introducing a comprehensive WBAN architecture, an anomaly detection scheme, and optimisation for local emergency detection. Collectively, these enhancements improve the effectiveness of anomaly detection, fostering an energy-efficient environment. By implementing these proposed schemes, the thesis offers robust solutions for identifying anomalies and early emergencies in patients' healthcare data. Moreover, the unified framework reduces energy consumption throughout the network while maintaining a satisfactory level of reliability.

#### 1.2 Wireless Body Area Network: Applications and Requirement

WBANs facilitate a wide range of innovative applications, which can be categorised based on their respective domains. WBANs find diverse applications in both the medical and nonmedical sectors. Figure 1.1 illustrates a more detailed classification of these applications within the medical and non-medical domains.



#### Figure 1. 1: Applications of WBAN.

In the medical field, WBANs serve diverse purposes, with applications ranging from wearable devices to implantable and remote-controlled systems. These applications can be further categorised based on the wearable or implanted techniques employed. Wearable or on-body

medical applications encompass health monitoring for rehabilitation, asthma management, electrocardiogram analysis, and sleep stage tracking. Additionally, they support remote control of medical devices like telemedicine systems and ambient assisted living. In the non-medical domain, wearable applications extend to sports training, baby monitoring, and soldier fatigue assessment. On the other hand, implanted or in-body applications involve monitoring and reconfiguration of pacemakers, cardiovascular disease management, diabetic control, cancer detection, and retinal implants. As exemplified in Figure 1.2 [15], WBANs are utilised for patient monitoring, wherein multiple sensors are placed in clothing, vests, directly on the body, or even beneath the skin to measure vital signs like temperature, blood pressure (BP), heart rate (HR), ECG, and respiration rate.

In the context of WBANs, two primary types of devices can be distinguished:

- Wireless Sensor Node: This device is responsible for detecting and collecting data pertaining to physical stimuli. It processes the data when necessary and transmits it wirelessly. The wireless sensor node comprises various components, including sensor hardware, a power unit, a processing unit, memory, a transceiver, and a transmitter.
- Wireless Actuator Node: Acting in response to data received from sensors or other sources, the wireless actuator node executes specific actions. It comprises actuator hardware, a power unit, a processing unit, memory, a transmitter, and a transceiver.
- The wireless personal device serves as a central hub that aggregates data acquired from sensors and actuators. It processes the data when necessary and communicates the results to the user through an external gateway. This device encompasses essential components, including a processor, power unit, memory, transceiver, and more.



Figure 1. 2: Example of different sensors used in a WBAN.

Existing WBAN standards include: -

- Bluetooth.
- Bluetooth low energy.
- Zigbee.
- IEEE 802.11.
- IEEE 802.15.6.

The healthcare application of WBANs necessitates several user-oriented requirements to ensure a standard level of satisfaction. These requirements encompass:

1. Quality of Service: Due to its intimate connection to human well-being, the healthcare application demands a high standard of service and is capable of handling a vast amount of physiological data continuously. The WBAN should distinguish between critical and non-critical data to maintain service quality.

2. Real-time Performance: The WBAN is expected to operate in real-time, providing instantaneous support for critical healthcare situations. To achieve this, the data processing involved in the WBAN life cycle should be swift and uncomplicated to reduce processing time.



Figure 1. 3: Data flow for a typical WBAN

3. Accuracy: Healthcare support mandates precision, given the critical nature of human wellbeing events. The WBAN's processes should yield accurate data collection, processing, and transmissions, with algorithms effectively defining and distinguishing critical data.

4. Mobility: To ensure smooth operation, the WBAN system development must consider patient mobility. System devices should be portable and easy to carry, allowing seamless connectivity with different communication channels and mediums during patient movement.



Figure 1. 4: Typical WBAN mobility model

5. Connectivity: Connectivity to the internet is essential for the WBAN system's development. The patient's ability to move freely necessitates continuous monitoring by the WBAN system, requiring various connection mediums beyond location constraints. 6. System Lifetime: Prolonging the system life is of utmost importance for WBAN healthcare applications. Careful measures must be employed to extend the wireless system's limited lifetime effectively.

7. Robustness: To counter system failures and ensure data integrity, the WBAN should incorporate multi-sensor fusion, bolstering the robustness of the system.

8. Security: Given the sensitive nature of medical information, WBAN healthcare applications must implement robust security mechanisms to safeguard data collection, processing, transmission, and storage.

9. Privacy and Integrity: To protect patient privacy and maintain service integrity, privacy mechanisms should be employed within the WBAN healthcare application, thereby enhancing patient trust and acceptance of the system.

10. Reliability: Every aspect of the user's concern should be met with reliability in WBAN healthcare applications, from the system's design and behaviour to its overall performance. Patients should be able to place their trust in the system with confidence.

#### 1.3 Aim and Objectives

This research aims to develop a resilient clinical decision-making framework by harnessing collaborative data from sensors within resource-constrained WBANs for healthcare applications. Through early detection of anomalies, this integrated model aims to improve the precision and reliability of clinical decisions based on patient medical histories. The intention is to optimise clinical decision-making within the limited resource environment of WBANs, ensuring more effective and reliable healthcare outcomes.

The study outlines the following objectives:

 Conduct a comprehensive literature search on existing WBAN techniques and their diverse applications, encompassing healthcare, assisted living, fitness, exercise, emergency services, security, and remote monitoring, among others.

- Investigate the limitations of current WBAN systems concerning critical decisionmaking that relies on sensor data in a resource-constrained environment.
- Explore the challenges associated with implementing critical decision-making algorithms, including anomaly detection, local emergency detection, and adaptive sampling within the WBAN context.
- Develop a reliable and robust decision-making framework based on collaborative data for bespoke applications, specifically tailored to the constraints of energy limited WBANs.
- Devise a simple, user friendly anomaly detection method utilising sensor data within the WBAN environment.
- Develop a method for optimising local emergency detection using WBANs.
- Formulate a data reduction technique for low-power healthcare framework using WBAN technology.
- Evaluate and compare the performance of the proposed unified framework against existing state-of-the-art techniques to gauge its efficacy and superiority.

#### 1.4 Research Methodology

This section encompasses the methodologies utilised throughout the research process, incorporating extensive theoretical analysis, simulations, and experimentations. The study commenced with a thorough examination of the existing literature on WBANs and their diverse applications in healthcare systems, including clinical diagnosis, decision-making, assisted living, privacy and security, clinical prediction models, and healthcare frameworks. To fulfil the research objectives, a mixed-methods approach, combining both qualitative and quantitative methodologies, has been adopted. For experimental purposes, a customer clinical database has been employed, along with the use of large collections of recorded physiologic signals from PhysioBank [48], subject to ethical considerations and institutional validation. Figure 1.5 visually depicts the research methods employed in this study, outlining the various stages after the literature review.



Figure 1. 5: The main steps of methodology

The research study progresses through distinct stages, as outlined below:

- Investigation of existing research works to identify challenges pertaining to the design and optimisation of WBAN healthcare systems.
- Formulation of research aims and objectives, leading to the development of an indepth research plan.
- Accessing the clinical database to comprehend the information and preparing the data set for experimentation.
- Development of a WBAN system model tailored for healthcare applications, specifically for patient medical condition decision-making.
- Validation of the proposed WBAN framework's reliability through the utilisation of an appropriate simulation platform
- Design and development of a low-power and secure WBAN framework

• Evaluating the reliability of the proposed framework compared to other existing works using appropriate simulation platforms.

#### 1.5 Limitations of Existing Solutions

A wide variety of healthcare solutions utilising wireless healthcare systems for anomaly detection are available, with research often limited to specific domains or services, including patient monitoring [104-107, 111], foetal health monitoring [108], medication management [112], elderly care and fall detection [109], surgical and anaesthesia monitoring [110], telemedicine and virtual consultations [113], infection control [114], and behavioural health monitoring [106]. There is no precise standard found in the literature for generalised healthcare anomaly detection, which can eventually provide patient-specific solutions. Most of these solutions address a specific challenge in detecting anomalies during ongoing incidents. They lack the capability to model each user state individually and predict future anomalies in advance. Additionally, very few of them support the storage and reuse of data for future reference. Consequently, most systems are unable to accurately generate personalised insights due to their limited ability to preserve long-term histories. Existing monitoring systems exhibit high false alert rates and rely on manual observations by medical experts following anomaly detection. While some models can accurately predict changes in specific physiological parameters [115], building models that monitor and correlate multiple bio-signals while retaining interpretability is challenging due to the evolving and variable nature of biomedical data over time. Limited research has also aimed to predict various clinical events using multi-parameter data from a substantial patient pool [116]. Prior studies often employ a small data sample (a few megabytes) from a limited patient group, offer short forecasting windows (typically one hour), and focus on a single parameter like blood pressure [117] or ECG [118]. These models utilise a small feature set for training and exclusively forecast specific clinical events. As patient populations grow, these systems encounter higher misclassification rates, especially when data uncertainty rises.

A broad range of energy consumption solutions have been explored on the wireless healthcare platform. These solutions encompass various techniques, including sensor set selection [119, 120, 136], context-based pull [121, 122], data reduction [34, 123, 124, 137], radio optimisation [125, 126], energy-efficient routing protocols [127-129, 138], sleep/wake schemes [130, 131], feature selection [132, 133], and adaptive classifier selection [134, 135, 139]. However, not all of these techniques are suitable for the general WBAN architecture, where anomaly detection is intended to be processed at the local node. Among various energy-efficient techniques, reducing data transmission can significantly contribute to lowering power consumption. Data reduction is particularly suitable for wireless systems where anomaly detection can be performed at the local node. Adaptive sampling [31, 140-148] stands out as one of the most suitable techniques in this context. However, it's noted that most of the existing research lacks a clear focus on practical applications. This dissertation aims to address the issue of detection quality and implement improved adaptive solutions to achieve better energy savings compared to current solutions. A common problem in the majority of the existing anomaly detection approaches in medical WBANs is the disregard for a fit in real-world medical conditions. The study also found that there is a lack of simple, user-friendly solutions that can be run close to the data source and save energy. The research issues mentioned above for this thesis are summarised in Figure 1.6.



Figure 1. 6: Research problems

#### 1.6 Research Contributions

The following list is a summary of the contributions to knowledge achieved in this

thesis

- Developed a novel WBAN framework integrating personalised monitoring with energy conservation. Algorithms like MALED and SMDTA dynamically adapt to individual patient profiles, while edge computing enables efficient near-source data processing. This approach innovatively addresses energy constraints in WBANs, enabling quicker and more effective responses to patient health changes, thus saving energy and enhancing system responsiveness.
- Devised an innovative resource optimisation strategy within WBANs, exemplified by the LEDAS algorithm. This strategy intelligently adjusts the data acquisition rate based on the urgency of patient conditions, conserving energy and computational resources. By modulating data collection frequency in response to patient health status, LEDAS ensures effective monitoring without excess energy use, marking a significant advancement in WBAN sustainability.
- Enhanced clinical decision-making in WBANs with the introduction of advanced data analysis algorithms, notably DCA. This novel method facilitates early anomaly detection and comprehensive health trend analysis, enabling quicker and more accurate clinical interventions. Its innovation lies in processing complex health data in real-time, significantly improving upon traditional health monitoring systems.
- Pioneered a range of novel methods, including adaptive threshold algorithms and data reduction techniques, to optimise emergency detection and data management in WBANs. Techniques such as differential change analysis and multi-dimensional trend analysis markedly improve the WBAN's capability to detect emergencies efficiently while minimising the volume of data transmitted. These methods enhance WBAN operational efficiency and conserve critical resources like bandwidth and power.

This thesis makes significant contributions within the context of the limitations identified in the existing literature, as summarised in Figure 1.7.



Figure 1. 7: An overview of the contributions made by this thesis against the limitations identified in the existing literature.

#### 1.7 Thesis Organisations

The thesis comprises several well-organised chapters, structured as follows:

#### Chapter 1:

In this chapter, the project background and motivation are expounded, providing insight into the driving force behind the research. The objectives and aims of the study are clearly defined, while a concise research method and scope of applications are presented. Additionally, a summary of the contributions made to knowledge is articulated.

Chapter 2:

This chapter presents a comprehensive survey of notable state-of-the-art techniques for anomaly detection and early emergency detection. Additionally, energy-efficient approaches within anomaly detection are discussed. The chapter also addresses the limitations of existing techniques in the context of resource-constrained scenarios.

#### Chapter 3:

This chapter introduces the proposed system model, encompassing the theoretical underpinnings of the research, including performance analysis techniques and system model validation. Furthermore, this chapter outlines a series of enhancements, moving from static threshold algorithms to dynamic threshold algorithms. Also depicted is the multilevel classification of patient data status and the use of a hybrid model for clinical predictions.

#### Chapter 4:

This chapter explains the suggested local emergency detection method, which uses a novel and more straightforward threshold strategy. Moreover, it discusses the proposed methods designed to optimise decision-making through adaptive sampling, intending to minimise data transmission and boost the system's energy efficiency.

#### Chapter 5:

This concluding chapter provides a comprehensive summary of the thesis, encompassing an overview of the proposed schemes. Additionally, it discusses the future scope of work, building upon the concepts and frameworks presented in this research. Finally, concluding remarks are provided to highlight the significance and potential impact of the research.

The subsequent chapter presents an illustration of state-of-the-art techniques concerning anomaly detection, early emergency detection, and power consumption, among other relevant aspects.

## Chapter 2

## 2. State-of-the-art in Healthcare Anomaly Detections

#### 2.1 Introduction

This chapter explores the state of the art of existing healthcare anomaly detection in a resource-constrained and heterogeneous environment. In health care, technology plays a vital role in almost all processes, from the start to the end of the patient journey. The recent development of data analytics for medical healthcare and its potential for patients and medical professionals are analysed. In the existing literature, emerging techniques for healthcare such as anomaly detection, local emergency detection, and decision making are presented. The existing scholarly knowledge is reviewed for healthcare applications to find gaps and limitations.

This exploration into the state-of-the-art in healthcare anomaly detection and optimisation will delve into the latest breakthroughs, methodologies, and real-world applications. This will uncover how advanced machine learning algorithms can sift through vast medical datasets to identify anomalies indicative of diseases, adverse events, or unusual patterns in patient health.

#### 2.2 Anomaly Detection Technique

In today's rapidly evolving technological landscape, the volume and complexity of data generated are greater than ever before. Within this data deluge, hidden among the normal patterns, anomalies lurk. These anomalies represent abnormal events or outliers that deviate significantly from the expected behaviour. Detecting these anomalies is of paramount importance in various industries, as they can signify critical issues, security breaches, or unusual events that demand immediate attention.

Anomaly detection [15, 19-23, 26-27, 29, 97], also known as outlier detection [19], is the process of identifying these rare occurrences within datasets. Leveraging cutting-edge machine learning techniques [16], statistical methods [17], and data analytics, anomaly detection algorithms seek to highlight deviations that might otherwise go unnoticed.

This introductory exploration into anomaly detection will delve into the fundamental principles, methodologies, and real-world applications of this crucial field. By understanding the intricacies of anomaly detection, it is better to safeguard against potential threats, enhance predictive maintenance, optimise business processes, and make informed decisions based on actionable insights.

Anomalies can be detected within a system for various reasons, including abnormal or emergency readings, faulty nodes, network failures, and other malfunctions. The process of anomaly detection can be distinguished based on the indicators utilised, with two primary categories being parametric and non-parametric approaches [20]. Parametric methods, also known as statistical methods, are well-suited for stable environments where data remains relatively unchanged. Conversely, non-parametric methods are more appropriate for dynamic environments, where the statistical distribution is either unknown or subject to frequent changes. Parametric methods offer quicker detection, whereas non-parametric methods can be more challenging to process. Figure 2.2 [20] presents a concise summary of the basic classification of anomaly detection methods.



Figure 2. 1: Anomaly detection classification summary

Anomaly detection techniques have found wide-ranging applications across diverse domains, offering valuable insights by identifying patterns and instances that deviate significantly from the norm. In this context, anomaly detection serves as a powerful tool for enhancing security, accuracy, and efficiency in various fields. From safeguarding network infrastructures against cyber threats to detecting fraudulent activities and ensuring patient safety in healthcare, anomaly detection plays a pivotal role in addressing critical challenges.

This exploration delves into the multifaceted applications of anomaly detection techniques, categorising them into distinct sub-domains that highlight their relevance and impact. From the realm of cybersecurity [23], where intrusion detection and network monitoring shield against unauthorised access, to the financial sector, where fraud detection [49] prevents economic losses, anomaly detection offers proactive measures to mitigate risks.

In healthcare [21], anomaly detection contributes to patient monitoring, early disease detection, and medication error prevention, fostering improved clinical outcomes. Furthermore, industrial domains [22] leverage these techniques to monitor equipment health, enhance manufacturing quality control, and predict maintenance needs, thus ensuring operational continuity and resource optimisation.

Across a diverse spectrum of anomaly detection techniques, applications are meticulously categorised according to distinct domains. This categorisation is elucidated by a hierarchical structure where primary branches delineate specific application domains, and subordinate sub-branches encapsulate refined sub-domains or precise applications intrinsic to each domain.

In the realm of healthcare [21], anomaly detection techniques hold substantial promise for enhancing patient safety, early disease detection, and overall clinical efficacy. This branch encompasses applications [18] where anomaly detection contributes to accurate diagnostics and proactive healthcare management. These areas encompass patient monitoring, which involves detecting anomalies in patients' physiological data or health records; disease outbreak detection focused on identifying abnormal patterns in disease occurrence; medication error detection, targeting errors in medication administration or dosage; and medical image diagnosis, identifying anomalies in medical images like X-rays or MRI scans; clinical trial safety, involving the monitoring of clinical trial data for safety-related anomalies; EHR anomaly detection, which detects anomalies in electronic health records; early disease detection, aimed at identifying anomalies in data that may indicate early disease development; and remote health monitoring, which entails monitoring patients' health remotely and detecting anomalies.

31

In the realm of cybersecurity [23], anomaly detection emerges as a potent tool for safeguarding digital landscapes against intrusive and malicious activities. The branch encompasses a range of applications [48] that target diverse anomalies within network ecosystems, ensuring the fortification of digital infrastructures against potential threats. The most common anomalies occur in various areas, including intrusion detection, which detects unauthorised or malicious activities in computer networks; insider threat detection, which identifies abnormal behaviour by authorised users indicating insider threats; denial of service detection, which identifies attempts to overwhelm a network or service with excessive traffic; botnet detection, which detects networks of compromised devices used for malicious activities; malware detection, which identifies anomalies the presence of malicious software or code; and DNS anomaly detection [95], which identifies anomalies in domain name system (DNS) traffic.

Fraud detection constitutes a pivotal application of anomaly detection techniques [49], encompassing a range of domains where anomalies indicate potentially fraudulent activities. The branch underscores the significance of anomaly detection in preserving financial integrity and curtailing fraudulent behaviour. The most common fraud detection techniques encompass credit card fraud detection, which identifies fraudulent credit card transactions; insurance claims fraud detection, which detects fraudulent insurance claims; tax evasion detection, which identifies anomalies in tax-related data; payment fraud detection, which detects fraudulent payment transactions; healthcare fraud detection, which identifies fraudulent activities in healthcare claims and billing; e-commerce fraud detection, which detects anomalies in online shopping transactions; and identity theft detection, which identifies unauthorised use of personal information.

The industrial domain benefits significantly from anomaly detection techniques [50], which play an essential role in maintaining operational efficiency, quality control, and predictive maintenance. This branch encompasses applications where anomaly detection optimises industrial processes and equipment management. Most common industrial anomaly detection techniques are equipment failure detection, that identifying anomalies in industrial machinery or equipment to prevent failures; manufacturing quality control that detecting defects in manufacturing processes; predictive maintenance that identifying potential equipment failures in advance for maintenance scheduling; industrial process anomalies that detecting anomalies in manufacturing and production processes. energy consumption anomalies that identifying deviations in energy consumption patterns.

As discussed before clinical decision-making from data involves using information derived from various sources, such as patient records, medical imaging, and research studies, to inform healthcare professionals' choices regarding diagnosis, treatment, and patient care. By analysing and interpreting this data, clinicians can gain insights into a patient's condition, predict potential outcomes, and make informed decisions that align with evidence-based practices. This data-driven approach enhances the accuracy of diagnoses, optimises treatment plans, and ultimately contributes to improved patient outcomes while ensuring that medical decisions are grounded in objective information and current medical knowledge.

In the work presented in [31], a proposition is put forth wherein a data management framework is introduced to facilitate the sampling of sensor data and subsequent decisionmaking contingent upon the data's value. This endeavour incorporates a decision matrix and employs fuzzy set theory at the coordinator level, introducing a data fusion model. However, it is notable that this particular undertaking fails to account for other influential factors such as the patient's preceding medical history, physical activity, and individual attributes encompassing height and weight, amongst others. An energy-efficient approach that aims to curtail energy consumption, is adopted by executing sampling prior to decision-making; however, this strategy potentially compromises the authenticity of the data. Another initiative, depicted in [32], endeavours to establish a collaborative medical decision-making process; nevertheless, it confines its methodology solely to interview-based assessments. Given the inherent nature of this approach, there exists an inherent temporal delay, precluding the provisioning of instantaneous feedback. A parallel pursuit, stemming from aerospace multisensory data fusion concepts and expounded upon in [33], leverages multiple datasets to formulate a data fusion model enabling decision-making external to the confines of the sensor coordinator. Regrettably, even this endeavour falls short in delivering real-time feedback, as it abstains from harnessing real-time data derived from sensors. Within the domain of [34], a framework elucidating collaborative computing and multi-sensor data fusion is posited, underscoring a system reliant on a multisensory data fusion scheme for the automated detection of handshakes between two individuals, while additionally assessing the heart rate in relation to the emotional comportment of the patient. Notably, although this framework integrates data fusion techniques, its suitability for medical decision-making within an assisted living context remains constrained by its absence of real-time feedback. The realm of sensor-based decision-making has witnessed diverse manifestations across various domains, addressing applications ranging from monitoring water status in rivers and lakes [35], to optimising water pump efficiency [36], and ameliorating energy consumption [37].

The imperative of real-time clinical decision-making, replete with the potential to avert patient mortality and empower independent living, looms paramount. Indeed, meticulous consideration of an exhaustive spectrum of facets is pivotal to engendering precise diagnoses, encompassing diverse sensor data and personal attributes comprising the individual's profile, encompassing height, weight, ethnicity, antecedent medical history, behavioural patterns, and physical activity. A pivotal attribute pertains to the augmentation of clinical diagnostic accuracy through the integration of real-time feedback. Noteworthy is the observation that extant literature, as evidenced in [26- 29], pertains to context-specific applications, potentially inapplicable to the generic and tailored applications contemplated within the purview of this present research endeavour.

Therefore, the prevailing emphasis within healthcare data revolves around two primary spheres of concern: early detection and local emergency detection.

#### 2.3 Healthcare Anomaly Detection

Anomaly detection techniques in healthcare data analysis offer both advantages and limitations. Understanding their Advantages and limitations is essential for selecting the most suitable method for a specific healthcare application. Anomaly detection techniques offer several advantages [21] in healthcare. They enable the early identification of abnormal patterns or deviations from normal behaviour, facilitating the timely recognition of potential health issues and medical errors. This timely detection enhances patient safety, particularly in critical care settings where immediate action is vital. These techniques also provide automated surveillance of healthcare data, reducing the need for manual observations and the associated risk of human errors. Moreover, anomalies detected in healthcare data yield valuable insights for data-driven decision-making, allowing for optimised treatment plans and

resource allocation. Integration with Clinical Decision Support Systems (CDSS) [51] enables healthcare professionals to make informed decisions and issue real-time alerts. Personalised patient care is another benefit, as individual patient data anomalies enable tailored treatments and interventions. Lastly, detecting anomalies in healthcare claims data can effectively prevent fraud and abuse, resulting in substantial cost savings for healthcare systems and insurers.

However, anomaly detection techniques in healthcare come with certain limitations [52]. These include the potential for false positives and false negatives, where normal data can be misclassified as anomalies or anomalies can be missed altogether, making it challenging to strike the right balance. Imbalanced data, where normal instances significantly outnumber anomalies, can bias detection towards normal patterns. Issues with data quality and missing values, common in healthcare data, can affect the reliability of results. Additionally, some advanced anomaly detection methods, like deep learning models, may lack interpretability, making it difficult to explain detected anomalies to healthcare professionals. Scalability can be a concern, particularly for real-time applications with large, high-frequency healthcare data streams that require rapid processing. Some complex anomaly detection algorithms, such as deep learning models, may demand significant computational resources, limiting their use in resource-constrained environments. Finally, implementing and training these techniques often necessitate domain expertise and sufficient labelled training data, which can be limited in healthcare settings. imbalanced data: healthcare data is often imbalanced, with normal instances significantly outnumbering anomalies. anomaly detection in such scenarios can be biased towards normal patterns.

#### 2.3.1 Anomalies in Healthcare Data

The healthcare domain presents a complex landscape where anomalies can manifest across various aspects of patient care, medical processes, and data [53, 54, 64]. This classification delves into the diverse types of healthcare anomalies, categorising them based on their distinct characteristics and implications. Anomalies in healthcare data cover various critical categories. Patient vital sign anomalies, encompassing deviations in heart rate, blood pressure, respiratory rate, and temperature, can indicate health deterioration or adverse conditions. Medication administration anomalies, including dosage errors and improper

routes, are vital for patient safety. Disease occurrence anomalies, like unexpected disease prevalence changes, signal outbreaks, or epidemiological anomalies in medical image anomalies in X-rays, MRI scans, and CT scans, support accurate diagnoses. Healthcare fraud anomalies help preserve financial integrity. Electronic health record (EHR) anomalies are essential for accurate patient records. Diagnostic test result anomalies indicate health conditions. Telemedicine data anomalies track remote health monitoring. Laboratory data anomalies ensure precision in disease assessment. Treatment response anomalies highlight deviations from expected therapeutic outcomes. Workflow anomalies impact care efficiency. Patient demographic anomalies can lead to errors in care, billing, and medical history.

In clinical decision-making within the UK NHS, certain significant features are commonly used to estimate the likelihood of specific outcomes or conditions. These features help healthcare professionals make informed decisions and provide appropriate care [53]. There are some of the main significant features used for clinical decision-making and prediction in the NHS UK.

Demographic information [55], including age, plays a critical role in predicting health outcomes, as certain conditions are more prevalent in specific age groups. Gender also holds significance, as some diseases exhibit gender-specific prevalence and risks. Ethnicity is another important factor, as certain conditions are more common in specific ethnic groups, influencing risk assessments and treatment approaches. Additionally, a patient's medical history [56], encompassing previous medical conditions, chronic diseases, prior surgeries, and overall health status, offers valuable insights into potential complications. Chronic diseases like diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular conditions significantly impact outcomes for various health events, while a patient's surgical history can affect the risk of complications and recovery from new procedures.

Symptoms and signs [57], patient-reported symptoms, and symptoms reported by the patient (e.g., pain, shortness of breath) provide valuable clues to the underlying condition. Physical examination findings, and clinician-assessed physical signs (e.g., fever, abnormal heart sounds) aid in diagnosis and prognosis. Vital signs [58, 63] such as heart rate, and an elevated or irregular heart rate can indicate cardiac stress or arrhythmias. Blood pressure and abnormal blood pressure levels can indicate cardiovascular risks. Respiratory rate, deviations from the normal range can signify respiratory distress. Temperature, fever or hypothermia
can indicate infection or metabolic disturbances. Oxygen saturation, low oxygen saturation can indicate respiratory or cardiovascular issues.

Laboratory tests [59], including blood tests such as complete blood count, blood glucose levels, and liver function tests, offer insights into overall health and specific conditions. Urine tests aid in detecting kidney function, infections, and other medical conditions. Additionally, diagnostic imaging results obtained from X-rays, CT scans, and MRI scans provide detailed information about anatomical structures, helping identify abnormalities, tumours, fractures, and other structural issues.

Clinical scores and scales [60] encompass various tools for assessing and quantifying medical conditions and patient health. The Charlson comorbidity index [149] is an assessment that considers a range of medical conditions to predict mortality risk. The Glasgow coma scale evaluates neurological function, particularly after a traumatic brain injury, providing valuable insights into the patient's cognitive status. Additionally, the APACHE II score is a predictive tool to gauge the severity of illness among critically ill patients, aiding in their management and treatment decisions.

Risk factors [61] encompass various elements that can significantly influence an individual's susceptibility to certain diseases and health conditions. Smoking, for instance, is a well-established risk factor associated with numerous ailments, such as lung cancer and cardiovascular diseases. Similarly, obesity is a contributing factor that elevates the risk of conditions like diabetes, heart disease, and certain types of cancer. Moreover, environmental exposures in occupational settings, including contact with chemicals, radiation, and pollutants, have the potential to impact health outcomes, emphasising the importance of workplace safety measures and protective measures for individuals in such environments.

#### **Observations:**

These significant features are crucial components of clinical prediction in the NHS UK, enabling healthcare professionals to make accurate assessments and personalised decisions to improve patient outcomes. Among them, vital signs are fundamental physiological measurements that play a pivotal role in healthcare assessment and decision-making. They serve as critical early indicators of physiological disturbances, facilitating the early detection and diagnosis of underlying medical conditions. By establishing baseline measurements and

37

monitoring trends over time, healthcare professionals can evaluate the effectiveness of treatments, interventions, and medications. Vital signs are vital in emergency situations, guiding rapid responses and interventions. Moreover, they contribute to clinical decision-making, anaesthesia management, and the assessment of patient wellness. As standardised indicators, vital signs enable effective communication and documentation among healthcare teams. Overall, vital signs are a cornerstone of medical practice, providing essential data points that aid in diagnosis, treatment, and patient care across diverse healthcare settings.

#### 2.3.2 Anomalies from Vital Signs

Vital signs [58, 62, 63] are a set of measurable physiological parameters that provide important information about the body's overall health and functioning. Vital signs encompass a set of essential physiological measurements that provide valuable insights into an individual's overall health and well-being. These measurements include Heart rate, which quantifies the number of heartbeats per minute and is typically measured at the radial or carotid arteries, serving as an indicator of cardiovascular health and response to stress or activity. Respiratory rate, indicating the number of breaths taken per minute, reflects lung function and respiratory responses to stress or illness. Blood pressure, recorded as systolic and diastolic pressures, reflects cardiovascular health and circulatory efficiency. Body temperature, measured via various methods, indicates metabolic activity and can signal fever or hypothermia. Oxygen saturation (SpO2), usually assessed with a pulse oximeter [150], reflects respiratory and circulatory function as well as oxygen delivery to tissues. Normal ranges for these vital signs may vary depending on age, activity level, and measurement method, but collectively, they offer critical information for health assessment and diagnosis.

While each vital sign provides specific information about different aspects of the body's functioning, they are interconnected and can influence each other in various ways:

Heart rate and blood pressure are closely interconnected; when the heart rate increases, it can lead to elevated blood pressure as the heart pumps more frequently, exerting greater force against the arterial walls. This relationship is vital for clinicians as it aids in evaluating cardiovascular health, identifying stressors, and understanding the body's compensatory mechanisms. Likewise, heart rate and respiratory rate exhibit synchronisation, particularly during physical exertion or stress, when both may rise to meet the heightened demand for oxygen and energy. Monitoring this coordination assists clinicians in assessing the responsiveness of the cardiovascular and respiratory systems to physiological demands. Blood pressure plays a pivotal role in oxygen delivery to tissues, impacting oxygen transport to cells. Consequently, healthcare providers consider the association between blood pressure and oxygen saturation when assessing circulatory and respiratory function, recognising that low blood pressure can affect oxygen delivery and low oxygen saturation can induce vasoconstriction and impact blood pressure. Respiratory rate and oxygen saturation are intricately related, with respiratory rate determining the efficiency of lung gas exchange. A higher respiratory rate may help maintain sufficient oxygen levels in the bloodstream. This balance between respiratory rate and oxygen saturation is crucial for assessing respiratory health and ensuring adequate oxygen supply to tissues. Finally, temperature and heart rate exhibit a direct relationship, elevated body temperature, often due to fever or inflammation, results in an increased heart rate. Clinicians monitor this correlation to identify febrile conditions and gauge the body's immune response. Additionally, body temperature can influence blood vessel dilation and constriction, thereby affecting blood pressure. Recognising the interplay between temperature and blood pressure aids healthcare professionals in interpreting changes in blood pressure readings, especially in cases involving fever or hypothermia.

#### **Observations:**

The relationships between these vital signs provide a comprehensive picture of a patient's physiological state. When making clinical decisions, healthcare professionals consider how deviations from normal values in one vital sign can impact others. For example:

- A patient with an elevated heart rate, low blood pressure, and low oxygen saturation might be experiencing septic shock, prompting immediate intervention.
- A patient with a rapid respiratory rate, an increased heart rate, and a high fever could be showing signs of pneumonia or another respiratory infection.

By recognising the interconnectedness of vital signs and how they respond to different conditions, clinicians can make more accurate diagnoses, tailor treatment plans, and monitor

the effectiveness of interventions [192]. Decisions are based on a holistic assessment of the patient's vital sign trends, medical history, symptoms, and other clinical information.

## 2.3.3 Common Health Care Anomaly Detection Techniques

Anomaly detection in healthcare is a critical area of research and application that plays a vital role in ensuring patient safety, early disease diagnosis, and efficient healthcare delivery [64]. Healthcare data, whether originating from electronic health records, medical imaging, physiological signals, or wearable devices, is inherently complex and dynamic. Detecting anomalies in such data can help identify abnormal patterns, potential health risks, and adverse events, enabling timely interventions and improving patient outcomes.

Anomalies in healthcare data can take various forms, such as rare diseases, abnormal physiological trends, irregular medical image findings, or unexpected patterns in patient behaviour [15]. Detecting these anomalies is challenging due to the vast amount of data generated, the presence of noise and missing values, and the need to distinguish between normal variations and true abnormalities. As a result, advanced analytical techniques, including machine learning, deep learning, and statistical methods, are employed to sift through the data and identify deviations from the norm.

In this context, the exploration of anomaly detection in healthcare takes on a multidisciplinary approach, involving experts from data science, medical professionals, and domain-specific researchers. By harnessing the power of cutting-edge technologies and domain expertise, anomaly detection in healthcare is promising for revolutionising patient care, automating diagnostics, and optimising healthcare workflows.

Researchers delve into the various anomaly detection techniques, their applications in different healthcare domains, and the potential challenges and opportunities in this everevolving field. From early detection of life-threatening conditions to personalised medicine, anomaly detection in healthcare continues to make significant strides towards delivering safer, more efficient, and data-driven healthcare solutions [25].

#### **Statistical Methods**

Statistical methods [23, 26] are fundamental in healthcare anomaly detection, offering a structured approach to identifying deviations from expected patterns in patient data and vital signs. These techniques rely on established statistical measures to quantify the normal behaviour of data, making them valuable for detecting anomalies in healthcare settings. In healthcare data analysis, several common statistical anomaly detection techniques are applied. The Z-Score [65], for instance, quantifies the number of standard deviations a data point deviates from the mean, flagging outliers as anomalies. The modified Z-Score improves upon this method, enhancing robustness to outliers. Percentiles also serve to detect anomalies by identifying data points falling below or above specific percentiles within the distribution. Additionally, moving average [66] and moving standard deviation [67] techniques are employed to uncover anomalies in time-series data by comparing present values to historical averages and standard deviations. These statistical methods offer a structured approach to anomaly detection, proving accessible for healthcare professionals and applicable to both univariate and multivariate data analysis. However, they may struggle with complex, non-linear relationships and subtle anomalies, and determining appropriate thresholds and parameters can be subject to subjectivity and complexity.

#### **Machine Learning-Based Techniques**

Machine learning uses algorithms to train models on historical data and then apply these models to new data for anomaly detection. Three primary approaches are highlighted in this comprehensive exploration of machine learning-based techniques [27, 68, 69] used in healthcare anomaly detection. Firstly, supervised learning [70] uses labelled data to train models for distinguishing between normal and anomalous instances, employing algorithms such as Support Vector Machines (SVM) [71], Decision Trees [72], K-Nearest Neighbour (K-NN) [87], linear regression [201] and Random Forests [73]. Secondly, unsupervised learning [74], which operates without the need for labelled data, aims to unveil patterns and anomalies through techniques like K-Means clustering [75], Once class SVM (OC-SVM) [76, 116] and DBSCAN-based density analysis [77]. Finally, semi-supervised learning [78] combines labelled and unlabelled data to enhance anomaly detection, particularly when labelled data

is scarce. The advantages of machine learning techniques lie in their ability to capture intricate relationships and patterns that can prove challenging for rule-based or statistical methods, their adaptability to diverse healthcare data types, and their capability to handle highdimensional data and large datasets. However, they face limitations, including the requirement for substantial labelled training data, sensitivity to data quality, preprocessing, feature selection, and potential computational intensity for complex models like deep learning architectures.

#### **Deep Learning-Based Techniques**

Deep learning-based techniques [28, 79] have revolutionised healthcare anomaly detection by leveraging complex neural architectures to automatically learn intricate patterns in data. In healthcare anomaly detection, deep learning-based techniques offer a comprehensive exploration, each with its advantages and limitations. Long Short-Term Memory (LSTM) [80] networks excel at capturing temporal dependencies in patient records and time series data. Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) [81] are adept at identifying anomalies in medical images, which is handy for conditions like tumours or fractures. Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs) [80], including LSTM networks and Gated Recurrent Units (GRUs) [82], handle sequential data by considering temporal dependencies. Generative Adversarial Networks (GANs) [83] operate with a generator and discriminator in competition, generating and evaluating data authenticity, respectively. These techniques are advantageous for capturing intricate patterns in complex healthcare data and handling substantial data volumes. Still, they require significant labelled data for training, are computationally intensive, and may lack interpretability.

## **Time-Series Analysis**

By analysing sequential data points over time, healthcare professionals can gain insights into changes in patient conditions, enabling early detection of anomalies and timely interventions [29, 90]. A comprehensive exploration of time-series analysis techniques in healthcare anomaly detection reveals several valuable methods. Moving Average and Exponential Smoothing techniques, for instance, effectively smooth out noise in time-series data to reveal underlying trends. Anomalies become apparent when deviations from these smoothed trends occur. Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average (ARIMA) [84], a popular method for time

series forecasting, identifies anomalies when observed data significantly deviates from forecasted values. Seasonal Decomposition of Time Series (STL) [85] decomposes time series data into seasonal, trend, and residual components, with anomalies detected in the residual component, signalling deviations from expected behaviour. Dynamic Time Warping (DTW) [86] measures the similarity between two time-series sequences, and anomalies are pinpointed when the alignment distance between a query sequence and a reference sequence exceeds a threshold. Time-series analysis offers the advantage of specialising in capturing temporal patterns, making it ideal for evolving healthcare data. It excels at identifying subtle anomalies and providing insights into disease progression and treatment effectiveness. However, limitations include the need for historical data, potential challenges in handling missing or irregular data, and difficulty in detecting abrupt changes in data patterns.

#### **Domain-Specific Techniques**

Healthcare anomaly detection requires specialised techniques that cater to the unique characteristics of medical data and the intricacies of clinical contexts. These domain-specific methods [30] leverage medical knowledge, physiological understanding, and clinical expertise to enhance the accuracy and relevance of anomaly detection. Domain-specific techniques play a crucial role in enhancing anomaly detection accuracy by leveraging the depth of medical expertise. They are well-suited to handle the intricacies of medical data, characterised by complex and non-linear relationships. By incorporating clinical knowledge and standards, these methods provide valuable insights and can assist healthcare professionals in making informed decisions. However, their effectiveness depends on the availability and accuracy of medical knowledge, and they may not always capture emerging or rare anomalies that are not explicitly defined. Additionally, the interpretability of their outputs can vary, emphasising the need for ongoing validation and refinement to ensure reliable anomaly detection in healthcare settings.

# 2.3.4 Performance Evaluation Metrics

Performance evaluation metrics are crucial for assessing the robustness and accuracy of anomaly detection models applied to healthcare data. These metrics help quantify how effectively a model distinguishes between anomalous and normal instances. Key metrics include True Positives (TP), True Negatives (TN), False Positives (FP), and False Negatives (FN) [91, 92], which are used to compute Sensitivity, Specificity, Precision, Negative Predictive Value, and the F1-Score [91, 92]. In addition to these, the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) [91] curve and the Precision-Recall curve [92] provide valuable insights into the trade-offs between sensitivity and specificity at various decision thresholds. Metrics such as Accuracy [91], Matthews Correlation Coefficient (MCC) [93], and the Area Under the Precision-Recall Curve (AUC-PR) [94] offer comprehensive performance assessments, aiding in the selection and fine-tuning of anomaly detection algorithms. The choice of which metric to prioritise depends on the nature of the healthcare dataset, the clinical context, and the specific objectives of the anomaly detection task.

### **Observations:**

It is observed that there are three main categories of anomaly detection techniques in healthcare data:

**Data Types**: This category encompasses various types of healthcare data amenable to anomaly detection, including structured data, unstructured data, and time-series data. Structured data typically consists of organised tabular datasets, like electronic health records (EHRs) [56] and administrative data, featuring well-defined columns and rows. In contrast, unstructured data encompasses non-tabular formats like medical imaging (e.g., X-rays, MRI scans) and clinical notes, which lack the neat organisation of structured data. Lastly, timeseries data involves temporal information with a series of values recorded over time, such as patient vital signs, continuous monitoring data, and patient activity logs, providing valuable insights for anomaly detection in healthcare.

**Techniques:** This category represents the different approaches and methodologies used for anomaly detection in healthcare data. This category encompasses diverse methodologies and approaches employed for anomaly detection in healthcare data. It includes conventional statistical methods like mean, standard deviation, and z-scores, which are used to pinpoint outliers and anomalies in healthcare datasets. Machine learning methods, such as SVM, k-NN, and random forests, are harnessed to learn patterns from historical data for detecting anomalies across various healthcare datasets. Deep learning techniques, powered by

44

advanced neural network architectures like CNNs and LSTM networks, come into play for anomaly detection in medical imaging and time-series data. Ensemble approaches, incorporating the amalgamation of multiple models or techniques like bagging and boosting, aim to enhance anomaly detection accuracy while reducing false positives. Additionally, threshold-based alarms employ straightforward rules and predefined threshold values for specific vital signs or attributes to trigger alarms upon detecting anomalies.

**Data Sources:** This category encompasses various sources of healthcare data where anomaly detection is deployed. It includes hospital data, where anomaly detection is applied to information gathered within hospital settings, encompassing EHRs, patient demographics, and administrative data. Moreover, medical imaging constitutes another facet where anomaly detection is utilised to scrutinise medical imaging data such as X-rays, CT scans, and MRIs, to discern and flag abnormalities and diseases. Patient monitoring is an integral component, involving real-time tracking of a patient's vital signs and physiological data for the detection of anomalies and critical events. Lastly, the category extends to IoT and wearable devices, facilitating anomaly detection through data collected by wearable devices and Internet of Things (IoT) [88] devices, thereby enabling continuous patient monitoring beyond the confines of healthcare facilities.

### 2.3.5 Summary Observation

Salem [104] introduces a methodology that merges linear regression with the Support Vector Machine (SVM) technique. However, SVM tends to underperform when working with extensive datasets while demonstrating better results for smaller ones, as addressed in [222]. Using SVM in resource-limited settings might not be suitable due to its high energy requirements. Additionally, the approach discussed compromises the false alarm rate to maintain a high detection ratio. Salem et al. [105] proposed an online anomaly detection system utilising the Mahalanobis distance (MD). However, in their work, a threshold approach with the MD was employed, which was found to be unsuitable for real-time healthcare systems. While calculating the MD can be done smoothly, the process as a whole can be unstable and potentially hazardous for healthcare applications. Table 2.1 shows a summary of anomaly detection techniques from literature.

Year	Author	Purpose	Techniques	Limitations
		Anomaly		Sensitive to missing data, high power
2014	O salem [104]	detection	SVM, LR	consumption
		Anomaly		High processing time, did not used IEEE
2014	O salem [105]	detection	MD	802.15.6
	SA Haque	Anomaly	SMO, MV,	High processing time, did not used IEEE
2015	[106]	detection	DSW	802.15.6
	Pachauri	Anomaly	J48, RF, K-	
2015	[107]	detection	NN	High processing time
		Anomaly		
2017	S Xie [108]	detection	PSA, BN	2 Steps of process, high complexity
		Outlier		
2017	Temilola [109]	detection	MAD, MV	Working only for a fixed threshold
		Anomaly		Less effective in heterogenous
2017	Khan [110]	detection	MM	environment
2018	O salem [111]	Event detection	KF	High energy consumption
	Saraswathi	False alarm		
2019	[112]	detection	RF	Processing time high
		ECG anomaly		
2019	Sun [113]	detection	SH-Base	Only for a particular disease
	S Kumar	Anomalous		
2019	[114]	Data	ANN, LR	High computational complexity
		Anomaly		
2019	Smrithy [226]	detection	WMA	Sensitive to old data
		Anomaly	Gaussian	
2021	Dwivedi[227]	detection	based	Power consumption, latency

Table 2. 1: Existing anomaly detection techniques in the literature

Haque et al. [106] utilised the Sequential Minimal Optimization (SMO) algorithm and Majority Voting (MV) algorithm for anomaly detection. However, this effort wasn't tailored to the IEEE 802.15.6 standard and demanded a considerable amount of processing time, making it unsuitable for healthcare applications. Further, the authors incorporated the Dynamic Sliding Window (DSW) algorithm, which is known for its high computational cost. In a similar context, G Pachauri et al. [107] proposed an anomaly detection system that employed a combination of three algorithms - J48, Random Forest (RF), and the k-nearest neighbours algorithm (k-NN). While this arrangement proved effective, its training and processing times were high. This excess time consumption could potentially jeopardize patient health in urgent medical scenarios.

Xie et al. [108] introduced an anomaly detection methodology using Principle Statistic Analysis (PSA) and Bayesian Network (BN). Their proposal was organised into two steps,

focusing on anomaly detection and redundancy elimination. However, due to its high complexity, it's not very suitable for environments where power consumption is a vital constraint. On a similar note, Temilola et al. [109] applied Median Absolute Deviation (MAD) and MV for their outlier detection techniques. They utilised a fixed threshold, which unfortunately didn't effectively handle dynamic scenarios. A Markov Model (MM) was proposed in [110], but it didn't perform well in heterogeneous environments. In a different vein, Salem et al. [111] put forward an event detection method using the Kalman Filter (KF). Despite the authors claiming an impressive detection rate, this approach came with a significant downside, namely its high power consumption.

Saraswathi et al. [112] implemented the Random Forest (RF) algorithm to decrease the rate of false alarms. However, the long processing time it required made it unsuitable for healthcare applications, where short response times are crucial. A Shapelets-base (SH-Base) was employed in [113] for a specific electrogastrogram (EGG) to spot any EGG anomalies. Kumar et al. [114] improved upon both fault detection and anomaly data detection techniques by making use of an ANN. Moreover, they adopted Linear Regression (LR) for their proposed solution. A downside of this work, however, was its need for vast computational capacity, making this approach less effective in environments where resources are scarce or limited.

# 2.4 Anomaly Detection Using Vital Signs

Monitoring vital signs enables healthcare professionals to identify potential problems before they become severe, allowing for timely intervention and improved patient outcomes. The literature emphasises the significance of early detection of patient vital signs across various medical conditions. Here are key findings from the literature:

The significance of vital signs, notably heart rate, respiratory rate, and temperature, in the early detection of life-threatening conditions like sepsis, is underscored in the realm of sepsis detection [38]. Extensive research demonstrates that swift changes in vital signs can serve as precursors to sepsis, facilitating timely intervention and mitigating mortality rates. The role of abnormal vital signs, including heightened heart rate and blood pressure, in predicting cardiovascular events such as heart attacks and strokes is illuminated within the context of

cardiovascular events [39]. By vigilantly monitoring fluctuations in these vital signs, clinicians can identify individuals at risk and navigate pre-emptive measures and interventions. Respiratory distress [40] involves irregularities in vital signs such as respiratory rate and oxygen saturation, serving as indicators of potential conditions like Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) [89]. Monitoring these vital signs aids in identifying respiratory distress and facilitating timely intervention for improved patient outcomes. Scholarship suggests that vigilant monitoring of these indicators empowers healthcare providers to intercede expeditiously, ultimately enhancing patient outcomes. The pivotal role of vital signs, particularly blood pressure and heart rate, in haemorrhage and shock detection [41] takes precedence, with the literature accentuating the necessity of closely tracking these vital signs in trauma and surgical patients to discern indications of internal bleeding or compromised circulatory states. Neonatal care [42], in a similar vein, emphasises the imperative of promptly detecting anomalies in vital signs to identify conditions such as neonatal sepsis and respiratory distress syndrome. The literature underscores the employment of continuous vital sign monitoring to forestall complications and diminish neonatal mortality. Shifting the discourse towards Cancer and Chemotherapy monitoring [43], scholarly discourse expounds upon the role of vital signs in monitoring cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy, given chemotherapy's potential impact on heart rate, blood pressure, and other vital signs. Early identification of treatment-induced vital sign alterations can facilitate the tailoring of chemotherapy regimens and the effective management of prospective side effects. In the realm of Acute Pain and Postoperative care [44], vital signs manifest as invaluable indicators of acute pain, frequently coinciding with alterations in heart rate, blood pressure, and respiratory rate. The diligent monitoring of vital signs post-surgery aids in the detection of pain-related complications and ensures the judicious management of pain. Concerning diabetes and glycemic control [45], studies underscore the pivotal role of vital signs, particularly blood pressure and heart rate, in the management of diabetes to avert complications and oversee glycemic control. The prompt identification of aberrant vital signs can guide refinements in diabetes treatment strategies. The landscape of Remote Monitoring and Telehealth [46] delineates the integration of wearable devices and telehealth platforms to facilitate continuous remote monitoring of vital signs. Scholarly discourse deliberates on the potential of pre-emptive detection through remote monitoring, thereby equipping healthcare providers with the means to intervene based on real-time data.

### **Observations:**

Current solutions for early detection of patient vital signs face limitations mainly due to their reliance on complex algorithms, resulting in interpretability issues that complicate clinical understanding and acceptance. Moreover, the intricate nature of some techniques, like deep learning, can hinder real-world implementation due to their resource-intensive requirements. In the quest for effective and practical solutions, there's a growing need to strike a balance between accuracy and simplicity, ensuring that healthcare professionals can easily comprehend and integrate these systems into their workflows, ultimately improving patient care.

A straightforward algorithm for healthcare anomaly detection from patient vital signs is the threshold-based anomaly detection algorithm [47]. It involves selecting vital sign parameters (e.g., heart rate, blood pressure, temperature, and respiratory rate) for monitoring and setting upper and lower thresholds for each parameter based on reference ranges or clinical guidelines. Patient vital signs data is continuously monitored, and at regular intervals, the current values are compared to the predefined thresholds. If any vital sign data surpasses the thresholds, an anomaly alert is triggered, such as an alarm or notification. This approach is advantageous for its simplicity, real-time monitoring, and low computational overhead. However, it has limitations in that static thresholds may not adapt well to individual patient variations, leading to potential false positives or false negatives. Additionally, it lacks the ability to offer clinical insights or predictive capabilities beyond threshold-based alerting.

**Threshold-Based Alarm** Systems in healthcare [47] refer to a monitoring approach where predefined thresholds are set for specific physiological parameters, such as vital signs or other health-related measurements. These thresholds act as triggers to generate alarms or alerts when the monitored values exceed or fall below the established limits. The purpose of these alarms is to promptly notify healthcare providers or medical staff of potential abnormalities, allowing them to take immediate action and provide timely interventions for patients in critical or deteriorating conditions.

In their work, the authors of reference [220] question the scientific validity of the conventional method of instability detection, which relies on threshold breaches. They claim

49

that this method is inadequate for early detection of instability, leading to numerous inexplicable in-hospital fatalities. A threshold technique was proposed using a machine learning algorithm in [221]. However, this method requires significant computational resources. They developed an early warning system focused on predicting organ system failures in ICU EHRs, particularly for circulatory system failure. The system includes data processing, clinical endpoint definition, supervised learning using a gradient-boosted decision tree ensemble, alarm generation, and clinical setting evaluation.

For instance, in an intensive care unit (ICU) scenario, a threshold-based alarm system might be set to trigger an alert if a patient's heart rate goes above a certain value or if their blood pressure drops below a certain level. Similarly, in remote patient monitoring, if an individual's blood oxygen saturation falls below a predetermined threshold, an alarm could be sent to their healthcare provider's dashboard or mobile device. While threshold-based alarm systems offer a simple way to monitor patients' well-being and quickly respond to changes, they also come with challenges. Over time, healthcare providers can become desensitised to frequent alarms, leading to alarm fatigue and potentially causing them to overlook critical alarms. Additionally, fixed thresholds may not account for individual patient variability or contextual factors, resulting in false alarms or missed genuine health concerns.

Therefore, refining and personalising threshold-based alarm systems is crucial to balancing sensitivity and specificity, improving their effectiveness in clinical settings. By combining traditional approaches with advanced analytics and user-centred design, researchers aim to enhance the utility of these systems, ultimately contributing to better patient care and outcomes.

However, this does not contain predictive capabilities and can only minimise the time of occurrence of critical clinical situations.

#### **Observations:**

Threshold-Based Alarm Systems in healthcare monitor specific physiological parameters using predefined thresholds, triggering alerts when readings exceed or fall below these limits. These systems aim to facilitate prompt responses to potential health abnormalities. However, their scientific validity is questioned, especially as they may not detect early instabilities, potentially causing in-hospital fatalities. A machine-learning based approach has been

50

proposed but requires substantial computational resources. Though these systems provide quick responses, they can lead to alarm fatigue and overlook individual patient variability or context, causing false or missed alarms. Refining these systems may improve their effectiveness, but current models lack predictive capabilities, reducing their ability to anticipate critical clinical situations.

In your narrative, you highlighted the importance of two primary metrics in the performance analysis of anomaly detection algorithms: detection rate (DR) and false positive rate (FPR). These metrics can be illustrated on a receiver operating characteristic plot. Broadly, the detection rate measures the percentage of actual anomalies correctly identified, while the false positive rate indicates the proportion of normal instances incorrectly labelled as anomalies. It has been noted that sensor data can occasionally be marked as anomalous due to several factors, such as hardware failure, sensor malfunction, excess energy consumption, or incorrect calibration. In the work referenced as number 223, an anomaly detection method was put forward involving a two-phased algorithm. This method employed a support vector machine for detecting anomalies and a nearest neighbour approach to reduce the occurrence of false alarms. This research was implemented in the context of a wireless sensor network. On the other hand, in the document referenced as number 224, a Gaussian mixture model was utilised to differentiate between normal and abnormal data. Additionally, an Ant Colony algorithm was harnessed to detect erroneous sensor readings. In this case, the detection rate and false positive rate were recorded at 100% and 9%, respectively. Lastly, in the study referenced as number 225, the Mahalanobis Distance was implemented for measuring sample anomalies, and the Kernel Density Estimator was adopted to evaluate correlation. In this scenario, the detection rate and false positive rate were reported as 100% and 5.5%, respectively.

## 2.5 Local Emergency Detection

Detecting local emergencies entails identifying any abnormal or unexpected occurrence within the local node. This concept is referred to by various terms in literature, including outlier detection, anomaly detection, and emergency detection. The primary goal here is to identify unexpected behaviours or patterns locally, which helps to reduce the amount of data to be transmitted. Various methods have been observed in the literature, with statistical analyses standing out as particularly

effective. However, while statistical analysis can effectively address this issue, it may not be universally applicable.

Elghers et al. [140] proposed a local emergency technique using WBANs for healthcare applications. The Early Warning Score is used for the proposed algorithm to detect emergency in the local node. The ultimate idea was to conserve energy by reducing data transmission. The limitation of the proposed technique is that it sends all the data that detects an emergency. The positive aspect of the proposed work is that it uses Early Warning Scoring data to classify the emergency data.

Thamilarasu et al. proposed a local emergency detection system in their study [235], devised to secure the system. The authors put forward an autonomous, mobile agent-based intrusion detection architecture to identify any emergent situations. While the authors applied this algorithm to WBAN, the usage is primarily centred on security-focused applications. As such, the proposed system does not concentrate on energy-saving or data sampling strategies.

Salim et al. [141] presented a local emergency detection system using statistical variance analysis in their study. It remains uncertain whether data calibration will occur locally or centrally and how this will function in a practical context. Also, please note there may be a typo in your sentence; "spell" is the correct English term. Habib et al., in their work cited as [31], improved the Light Emitting Diode (LED) system [140] to avoid transmitting all data collected from the system. The authors suggested a revised algorithm as a countermeasure to the existing LED algorithm. This advanced warning system is utilized to compute the score on a local node, thereby eliminating the need to transmit every piece of data. A significant flaw in the proposed method is that this algorithm replaces the old score with a new one. If the subsequent score varies from the prior score, the system determines whether it's an emergency or not. Nevertheless, the suggested system doesn't delve into individual levels for further scrutiny. This vulnerability makes the recommended algorithm, known as MLED, susceptible. The aggregate score, unfortunately, could closely resemble the score of a high-risk individual.

Odesile et al., in their paper referenced as [236], present work akin to that in [235] for the early detection of emergencies, aiming to safeguard the system from potential attacks. Techniques incorporated are intruder system methods utilising a mobile agent with the primary objective of securing the system against attacks. Massoud et al., in paper [237], recommended a local emergency system applying Null Hypothesis. Chi-square statistics are utilised in formulating this algorithm. However, the limitations include the fact that chi-square works only with independent variables. Consequently, the proposed method is not suitable for heterogeneous systems.

In [238], Shaikh and his team propose a local emergency detection method utilising the statistical mean, a strategy found to be unreliable in WBANs healthcare applications. A different approach using mostly statistical analysis for local emergency detection is presented by Arafoui and his colleagues in [239]. This involves using standard deviation for variation calculations and the Mahalanobis Distance (MD) for distance computations. However, the proposed method requires significantly high computation in comparison to other suggested processes.

Additionally, Sawqi et al. put forward local emergency techniques in [142] that employ adaptive rate. The proposed system comprises a two-stage calculation process, which escalates the computational workload. Notwithstanding, a key drawback of this system lies in its usage of the LED algorithm. This LED algorithm, as presented in [140], transmits all data identified as emergency data.

# 2.6 Energy Optimisation Techniques Used in Healthcare Emergency Detection

# 2.6.1 Power Consumption Techniques

Since WBAN operate wirelessly, one of the crucial factors to consider during their development is power consumption. Power consumption can be classified based on its component-based and they are:

- Sensing
  - Sensor set selection [228, 229]
  - Context based pull [121, 231]
- Communication
  - Data reduction [34, 123, 230]
  - Radio optimisation [125, 126]
  - Energy-efficient routing protocol [127–128]
  - Sleep/Wake scheme [130, 131]

## Processing

- Feature selection [132, 133]
- Adaptive classifier selection [1345, 135]

Most popular energy-efficient methods are:

- Adaptive classifier selection
- Adaptive sampling
- Compressive sensing
- Context-based pull
- Context-aware routing protocol
- Energy-efficient routing protocols
- Feature selection
- Radio optimisation
- Sensor set selection
- Sleep/wakeup schemes

In [232], it is highlighted that power inefficient protocols are the main contributors to energy usage. An effective routing protocol that is compatible with the Media Access Control (MAC) layer was also suggested in the same paper. Paper [233] put forth a MAC protocol for a specific scenario where human body circuitry is low. In this context, it was demonstrated that multi-hop communication is more efficient than single-hop communication.

The classification of a patient's health is determined based on the collected vital signs data, which is identified as either within or outside the normal range. Two types of classifiers are used: one for the standard data range, and a prioritised queue for when the vital signs data deviates from this range [211]. Despite that, the primary emphasis of this paper is on energy conservation using queuing techniques during data transmission.

Activity recognition models are proposed in [234], using feature extraction and classifiers such as naive Bayes, decision tree, and Bayesian. Fortino [34] suggested using data fusion and

analysis to generate valuable information for the proposed model. However, these proposed solutions are based on specific criteria and do not provide support for general purposes.

## 2.6.2 Adaptive Sampling

A significant body of work has already been published regarding sensor data for healthcare applications. Specifically, this review focuses on the research related to the study at hand. The role of sensing rate in wireless body area network (WBAN) healthcare applications is highlighted, primarily due to its impact on understanding patient wellbeing. Patients' health conditions can fluctuate rapidly, necessitating the need to adjust the sampling rate to respond effectively and promptly. Moreover, adjusting the sampling rate also serves as an efficient technique for reducing energy usage in WBAN. An Internet of Things (IoT)-driven Early Warning Score System (EWS) is suggested in a study [191] to predict patients' health deterioration using vital signs. However, considerations related to energy usage and local emergency detection were not addressed in this approach. On the other hand, a study [140] proposes an algorithm for early emergency detection aimed at energy conservation. This research, however, advocates the transmission of all critical data, potentially impacting energy conservation negatively. As an alternative, Study [31] introduces a local data sampling technique intended for early emergency detection and periodic local decision-making.

In their work [140], Elghers and his team introduced an adaptive sampling method to regulate the amount of data to be transmitted. They utilized the LED algorithm, also developed by them, to identify emergencies, dictating the sampling rate to be used accordingly. According to the design of the LED algorithm, data is only transmitted when the EWS score surpasses zero. Compared to other available solutions, local emergency detection is efficient, leading to a higher sampling frequency. However, this ultimately escalates energy consumption in WBAN-based applications. Similarly, Salim and his colleagues proposed another adaptive sampling method in [146], leveraging the use of a Fisher test algorithm. Despite its primary basis in statistical analysis, this proposed approach might not be a suitable fit for WBAN healthcare applications.

In their paper [31], Habib and others have refined the energy usage method by employing an adjustable sampling technique. They utilize ANOVA (Analysis of Variance) and behavioural functions to assess a patient's risk level and set the sampling accordingly. This approach stands out among existing methods for its effectiveness. The included system upgrade from LED to MLED helps in reducing the data that needs to be transmitted. Moreover, a Fisher test is incorporated in the suggested methods to facilitate the process of determining the patient's risk level. Nonetheless, there are certain limitations in variance analysis when dealing with data that lacks variation. For instance, if

the Early Warning Score (EWS) escalates and maintains a consistent high, the proposed ANOVA may not be adequate to identify the emergent situation.

An optimised data gathering approach is presented by Xiaobin et al. in [143], utilising an adaptive sampling-based information collection method. However, this study does not concentrate on energy conservation. Lee et al. in [144] introduced energy-conscious local emergency detection methods. Their proposed methods employed adaptive sampling and harvesting techniques. The complexity of the suggested work's system design might not be suitable for a heterogeneous environment. An energy-saving technique proposed by Ting Lu et al. in [145] employs a sampling rate allocation method. However, requiring a rechargeable sensor for the system design makes this solution expensive.

Fathy et al. [146] proposed an adaptive enhanced data reduction technique using the Adaptive Method for Data Reduction (AM-DR). However, this suggested solution is not applicable for Wireless Body Area Networks (WBAN) but is suitable for Wireless Sensor Networks (WSN). Given its computational nature, it may not be feasible in a heterogeneous environment. Azar et al. [147] presented a data reduction technique that utilises the Wavelet Transform Lifting Scheme. This work, however, predominantly focuses on statistical analysis and does not address real-world applications.

In their paper [148], Bacsaran and his team introduced techniques to reduce data with the aim of conserving energy. They employed a wavelet filter-based adaptive sampling method designed for wireless sensor networks. Despite this, the potential application within healthcare settings was not discussed. Similarly, Shawqi and his colleagues proposed [142] a method involving adaptive rates to enhance energy efficiency. The approach includes a two-stage procedure, which unfortunately introduces computational complexity. An additional issue was the use of the LED algorithm for data sampling; as previously mentioned, it too had its drawbacks.

#### **Observations:**

Several existing energy-aware adaptive sampling techniques found in the literature are reviewed. It is noted that a key limitation is that most of the proposed work is primarily research-based and doesn't clearly address its applications. The two most effective solutions observed are referenced as [140] and [31]. Both employ the Early Warning Score (EWS) system to detect pressing emergencies, adapting a scoring mechanism in the process. The EWS system is a commonly utilized solution in both hospital and pre-hospital environments, making their local emergency detection methods realistic for healthcare applications. However, these two proposals' limitations lie in their respective algorithms. For instance, the Local Emergency Detection (LED) approach fails to minimize the amount of data sent, as it transmits all emergency data. Conversely, the Modified Local Emergency Detection (MLED) has flaws within its local emergency detection algorithm, as previously discussed. The aim of this dissertation is to address these issues, specifically focusing on improving quality detection and implementing superior adaptive solutions for better energy conservation than what's offered by LED and MLED.

#### 2.6 Summary

In the realm of WBANs, both threshold-based and hybrid algorithms play pivotal roles in health monitoring. However, existing literature highlights several limitations inherent in these approaches. Threshold-based algorithms, fundamental in anomaly detection, often employ fixed threshold values, which may not accommodate the physiological variability between individuals. This lack of personalisation can lead to false alarms or missed detections, as what constitutes an anomaly for one patient might be within the normal range for another. These algorithms also tend to be reactive, typically alerting only after a threshold breach, which can delay intervention in emerging health issues. Moreover, setting appropriate threshold levels is challenging; overly sensitive thresholds can lead to frequent false positives, whereas high thresholds might overlook critical health changes. In dynamic health scenarios, these algorithms may not adapt swiftly to changing patient conditions, potentially resulting in outdated or irrelevant threshold settings. On the other hand, hybrid algorithms, which aim to amalgamate the immediacy of threshold methods with the predictive capabilities of more complex models like linear regression, face their own set of challenges. One major limitation is achieving a balance between the sophistication of the predictive model and the practical constraints of WBANs, such as limited computational power and energy resources. These hybrid models can be computationally intensive, straining the resources of WBANs and potentially impacting their sustainability. Additionally, integrating different methodologies within a hybrid system poses challenges in ensuring efficiency, accuracy, and real-time responsiveness. Another concern is the interpretability of the outputs from these hybrid models; the complexity of the algorithms can make it difficult for healthcare providers to understand and act on the system's predictions and alerts. This complexity also raises concerns about the generalizability of these models across different patient profiles, given

the diversity in health patterns and conditions. Furthermore, the literature indicates that long-term clinical validation of these hybrid models in real-world settings is often limited, raising questions about their reliability and consistency over time. Addressing these limitations is crucial for the advancement of threshold-based and hybrid algorithms in WBANs, ensuring they are both effective in monitoring patient health and practical for widespread implementation.

Adaptive sampling, a pivotal technique in Wireless Body Area Networks (WBANs) and other health monitoring systems, is designed to optimize data collection based on the varying needs of a patient's health status. Despite its importance, existing literature reveals several limitations that can affect its efficacy. Firstly, determining the optimal sampling rate that strikes a balance between adequate data collection for accurate health monitoring and the conservation of energy and computational resources is a significant challenge. Adaptive sampling methods often struggle to quickly respond to sudden and significant changes in health indicators, potentially leading to delayed data capture during critical health events. This is particularly concerning in emergency situations where real-time data is crucial. Additionally, there's a complexity in seamlessly integrating adaptive sampling techniques with other components of the WBAN ecosystem, such as data transmission protocols and power management systems. The existing algorithms may not always be efficient in contexts where rapid changes in physiological parameters occur, and they may not account for the multifaceted nature of a patient's health condition, especially in cases of chronic or complex diseases. Furthermore, while adaptive sampling can reduce the volume of data transmitted and thus conserve energy, this reduction could sometimes lead to the loss of crucial health information, creating a trade-off between data comprehensiveness and system sustainability. Another limitation is the potential for increased computational complexity, as adaptive sampling algorithms need to continuously analyse incoming data to adjust sampling rates, which can be resource-intensive. The literature also points to a gap in the long-term validation of these methods in real-world scenarios, questioning their reliability and consistency over extended periods. In addition, issues related to data privacy and security are amplified in adaptive sampling systems due to the variable nature of the data transmission, posing challenges in maintaining consistent security protocols. Finally, ensuring user-friendliness and accessibility of these systems remains a concern, as complex adaptive sampling mechanisms

can be difficult for patients and healthcare providers to understand and manage, potentially hindering their wider adoption. Addressing these limitations is crucial for advancing the effectiveness of adaptive sampling methods in health monitoring applications.

Considering the limitations of current threshold-based and hybrid algorithms for WBANs, future research is needed. Enhancing personalisation and adaptability is crucial, moving beyond the one-size-fits-all approach to tailor algorithms to individual patient profiles and their unique health histories. Improving the predictive accuracy of hybrid algorithms by better integrating methods like linear regression with threshold techniques will be essential for more effective proactive health monitoring. Addressing computational efficiency is also paramount to ensuring these sophisticated algorithms are viable in resource-constrained WBAN environments. This includes optimising the real-time data processing capabilities for quicker responses to health changes, particularly in emergency scenarios. Additionally, making the complex data outputs of these hybrid models more accessible and interpretable for healthcare providers will enhance usability and clinical adoption. Expanding clinical validation and generalizability through extensive trials across diverse patient populations and settings will ascertain the reliability and applicability of these algorithms. Lastly, given the sensitive nature of the data handled by WBANs, enhancing data security and privacy remains a crucial area of focus, especially as the systems become more complex. Addressing these aspects will significantly advance the field of WBANs, making them more effective, reliable, and tailored to individual healthcare needs.

# Chapter 3

# 3. Unified Anomaly Detection Schemes (UADS)

# 3.1 Introduction

Recent developments in electronics, embedded systems, and wireless communication technologies allow the creation of tiny, intelligent sensors for use on the human body to track health. A wide array of robust and high-performing biometric sensors, such as those for electrocardiograms, electroencephalograms, electromyograms, blood pressure, body temperature, blood glucose, heart rate, and oxygen saturation, are now deployed for ongoing human health monitoring. The application of these sensors carries several beneficial impacts: (i) they decrease medical errors, (ii) alleviate the workload for hospital staff, (iii) enhance patient comfort, (iv) enable highly sensitive health-related decisions, (v) deliver highly accurate data at a relatively low cost, and (vi) simplify the analysis and reduce the time required to process medical data [154].

This chapter serves as an exposition of the system model and theoretical framework that underpin our extensive research endeavour. Specifically, it outlines the development of an anomaly detection system utilising WBANs within the healthcare domain. The primary goal is to enhance clinical decision-making efficiency across diverse environments. This system incorporates anomaly detection techniques derived from the existing body of literature and aims to deliver robust performance characterised by early anomaly detection, precision in decision-making, and minimal power consumption. The chapter further elucidates the preliminary aspects, provides insights into related work, offers a detailed methodology of the threshold-based approach, and conducts a comparative analysis with machine learning approaches.

This research places significant emphasis on vital signs for the purpose of decision-making and prediction. Existing literature indicates that the interplay between these vital signs offers a holistic view of a patient's physiological condition, with changes in various vital signs demonstrating strong correlations. It is evident that more accurate predictions can be achieved when the alterations in multiple vital signs are collectively considered rather than estimating them in isolation. This chapter introduces a novel anomaly detection approach that leverages vital signs and their correlations to enhance predictive capabilities in healthcare.

#### 3.2 Preliminaries

A typical architecture in a wireless healthcare system involves WBANs, wireless networks, actuators, and software services that collect data from a target user who requires such support due to medical conditions [9]. Wearable and implantable data collection devices [96] are available at a low cost. These devices can provide real-time physical and medical information about the user. These sensors exhibit key configurations and infrastructure, enabling easy implantation or wearability on the human body, with some being designed as wearable textile sensors that offer low power consumption, wireless communication, and the ability to monitor the user's health status and activity. In addition to a local processing point where data is initially transmitted, such as a workstation, smartphone, or tablet, all these sensors and devices are integral components of this healthcare system. Data in this healthcare system is continuously collected at various times of the day and, in some cases, on-demand. The data can encompass physiological information (e.g., heart rate, blood pressure, ECG) or information retrieved from persistent storage, such as a patient's profile, including historical and medical records.

The WBAN utilises bandwidth-limited low-power communication protocol devices such as WPAN, Zigbee, Bluetooth, etc. to transmit data using single hop or multi-hop between the sensor and Base Station (BS) [155]. The limitations of resources in networks, including restricted bandwidth, buffer memory, and battery power, necessitate an effective routing protocol for timely data transmission using minimal resources. Issues such as congestion and energy utilisation are significant in WBAN communication. Network traffic load escalation often results in buffer overload and repeated data retransmission. This, in turn, degrades the Qos, affecting latency, packet loss, throughput, and energy use [156]

In the context of most WBAN healthcare systems, data is typically transmitted to cloud storage [98] or hospital data repositories for decision-making based on patient data. However, this approach comes with several drawbacks, including high power consumption due to the transmission of extensive data, a lack of real-time processing, significant costs, and

61

a heavy reliance on internet connectivity. In light of these challenges, it is advisable to conduct anomaly detection within a WBAN at the local node rather than relying on cloud-based processing. This underscores the need for an intermediary layer of computation, where a geodistributed network of smart gateways offers intelligence at the network's edge. It facilitates the interaction between the sensors' layer and the cloud layer. This paradigm, alternatively known as edge computing, addresses this requirement [101,153]. A few WBAN architectures can be considered, where decisions can be made at the local node before transmitting data to the cloud.

In the distributed processing architecture approach [99], data from WBAN sensors undergoes local processing either on the WBAN device itself or on a nearby edge device. This configuration enables the integration of anomaly detection algorithms directly on the sensor nodes or edge devices, facilitating real-time anomaly detection without the need to transmit data to the cloud. This method offers the benefits of low-latency processing, minimised data transmission, and enhanced privacy. However, it faces limitations due to the computational constraints on the sensor nodes, posing challenges for complex processing tasks.

The fog computing architecture [100] extends the cloud's influence towards the network edge, enabling data processing at intermediary nodes within the network. Within a WBAN context, this approach may involve tasks like data aggregation and anomaly detection being performed at a nearby gateway device. Advantages include reduced latency, improved scalability, and efficient data processing. Nevertheless, the complexity of setting up and maintaining fog nodes can present challenges in implementation.

In the context of edge computing architecture [101] within a WBAN, the core idea is to bring data processing and computation as close as possible to where the data is generated. This involves processing vital signs and health-related data on wearable devices or nearby dedicated edge servers rather than sending all raw data to a remote cloud server. The benefits include those similar to fog computing and not limited to low-latency, real-time processing critical for healthcare applications, reduced data transmission, aiding in power consumption, and maintaining privacy. However, the limited computational capabilities of edge devices can pose constraints.

In the decentralised peer-to-peer architecture [102], each sensor node within the WBAN operates as both a data source and a processing unit. Anomaly detection can be executed collaboratively or independently on each sensor node. This approach provides high fault tolerance and minimal data transmission requirements. However, the limited processing power on sensor nodes may impact the complexity and real-time capabilities of anomaly detection algorithms.

As noted earlier, the edge computing architecture presents substantial benefits, making it a compelling option for crucial applications such as healthcare anomaly detection in WBANs. This WBAN architecture is depicted in Figure 3.1.





Edge computing is a superior choice over cloud processing for healthcare anomaly detection due to several key advantages [98,101,103]. It offers low-latency, real-time processing, ensuring rapid response to anomalies, a crucial requirement in healthcare. This approach significantly enhances data security and privacy by keeping sensitive patient information within the local network. Despite its limited computational capabilities, edge computing proves cost-effective by reducing data transfer costs, making it particularly well-suited for applications with high data volumes and predictable workloads, such as vital sign monitoring. While cloud processing offers redundancy and fault tolerance, edge computing excels in simplicity and efficiency, and real-world case studies illustrate its successful deployment, showcasing improved patient outcomes.

When it comes to edge devices, there are several options available that can support the desired WBAN healthcare system. These devices vary in terms of their computational power, power consumption, data rate capabilities, cost, and more. Table 3.1 provides a summary of the available edge devices.

	Arduina		Micros		Nordic	Microchin
Features	Nano 33 BLE Sense	Raspberry	oft	Intel	Semiconduc	
reatures		Pi Zero W	Azure	Curie	tor	on
			Sphere		nRF52840	82
			Microso			
	Nordic		ft	Intol	Nordia	Microchip
Microcontro	Semiconduc tor	Broadcom BCM2835	Pluton	Intel		
ller			security	Curie	Semiconduct	Almega32
	nRF52840		subsyste	module	or nRF52840	8P
			m			
			Dual-			
	ARM Cortex-M4F	ARM1176J ZF-S	core	x86		
CPU			ARM	Quark	ARM Cortex-	8-bit AVR
			Cortex-	SE	M4	
			A7			
		1 GHz	500			
Clock Speed	64 MHz	(single		32 MHz	64 MHz	16 MHz
		core)	MHZ			
Flash	1140			2011/0	1 M P	סאככ
Memory	IIVID	-	4-0 IVID	304ND	IIVID	JZKD
RAM	256KB	512MB	8-9 MB	80KB	256KB	2КВ

Table 3. 1: A summary of edge devices that can be used in a WBAN healthcare system.

Connectivity	Bluetooth Low Energy (BLE)	Wi-Fi and Bluetooth	Wi-Fi and Ethernet	Bluetoo th and Wi-Fi	Bluetooth 5, Zigbee, and Thread	Limited to GPIO pins.
Sensors	Various built-in sensors	Non-built- in	Support s external sensors	Include s motion sensors	Supports external sensors	Supports external sensors
User Friendly	User- friendly	User- friendly	User- friendly	User- friendly	Technical expertise required	User- friendly
Cost (£)	20-25	10-12	15-25	8-12	12-15	5

# 3.3 Related Works

Edge computing in the IoT is a growing field that is relatively new in the healthcare industry. It lacks established standards and focused research, which results in potential gaps in areas like healthcare solutions based on WBAN. Existing studies have predominantly focused on cloud scenarios due to the historical prevalence of cloud-based systems in data management. This emphasis on cloud computing has led to shortcomings in resource management within edge computing. However, this presents an opportunity for innovation and the development of new standards that cater specifically to the needs of healthcare. By adopting WBAN, these standards can enhance data processing from wearable devices by carrying out computations closer to the data source, reducing latency, and optimising resources. As a result, most of the current solutions utilising edge computing are about IoTs. Despite the lack of established standards, further research in edge computing promises to advance healthcare technology solutions.

The swift progress in information technology allows an increasing number of people to store various data through mobile devices online. This has revolutionised our lifestyle and work by merging physical reality with digital space. However, the data explosion challenges traditional architectures' handling power. Temporarily, cloud computing, rich in computing and storage resources, helps manage this issue. Nevertheless, uploading data to remote clouds from

mobile devices leads to significant user delays. This latency situation can even be lifethreatening in certain contexts, like heart failure patients. Fortunately, using edge data processing close to mobile devices effectively addresses these problems. Edge devices can directly interact with the nearest edge node, substantially reducing data latency when uploading or requesting data. Edge computing faces issues like potential data breaches, inefficient resource allocation leading to task failures, and vulnerability to attacks due to limited computing and caching capabilities.

The growth of the Internet of Things (IoT) and the success of cloud services have expanded the boundaries into a novel computing model known as edge computing, which envisages processing data closer to its source [157]. Edge computing's main principle involves transferring part or all of the computing work typically handled by centralised cloud computing hubs to the periphery, near where the data originates. This approach gives edge computing immense potential to address limitations associated with the cloud [158].

The study outlined in [159] introduces a new strategy for using edge nodes to assist in data transmission within a cloud-centric IoT structure as a means to tackle the challenge of excessive bandwidth utilisation in the cloud. It highlights the utility of edge nodes' bandwidth resources by expanding the existing framework of edge computing within a cloud-focused IoT design. Research in [160] examines the issue of computation offloading for multiple users in mobile-edge cloud computing within a multi-channel wireless interference context. A distributed computation offloading algorithm is designed in this study, which demonstrates remarkable performance in computation offloading capacity and scalability as the number of users increases. The paper [161], delves into the synchronised allocation of communication and computational resources to reduce the aggregate weighted-sum delay of all devices within a cloud-edge collaborative system.

A prototype platform was developed to run a facial recognition application, as outlined in [162]. With this platform, executing operations moved from the cloud to the edge, subsequently reducing response time significantly from 900 ms to 169 ms. Additionally, [163] employed cloudlets to delegate computing tasks for wearable cognitive assistance applications. This technique exhibited substantial enhancements in response time, ranging from 80 ms to 200 ms. Importantly, the energy consumption was decreased by 30%–40% via cloudlet offloading. CloneCloud, mentioned in reference [164], incorporated methods like

partitioning, migration, merging, and on-demand instantiation of partitioning between mobile and cloud computing. The demonstrated prototype led to a 20-fold improvement in runtime and energy efficiency for the tested applications.

Porambage et al. [165] provide a thorough analysis of edge computing architecture and the benefits of computation offloading. Ning et al. [166] proposed a system that uses multi-access edge computing for in-home health monitoring. In this system, they modelled the task offloading challenge as a weighted potential game, taking into account the computational costs of each user in the WBAN. In this model, a balance (or Nash equilibrium) among WBAN users is reached in a decentralised manner. Similarly, Yuan et al. [167] put forth a task offloading method that aims to minimise delay and energy consumption in edge-enabled WBAN systems. They framed this challenge as a two-stage optimisation problem: initially, WBAN users determine their offloading choices based on their benefits and penalties. Roy et al. (168) proposed a task-offloading approach within healthcare systems facilitated by cloud and edge computing. They modelled the challenge as a bargaining problem. In this scenario, users from the WBAN negotiate with one another to determine whether tasks should be offloaded to the cloud or a fog server. Addressing resource allocation for computation offloading within edge computing, Merluzzi et al. (169) suggested a stochastic algorithm. The purpose of this algorithm is to dynamically assign computation resources based on the system's needs. Safar et al. (170), on the other hand, offered a distinctive framework. This framework accommodates users within the WBAN who wish to offload their computational tasks to nearby mobile users with higher computational capacities. The primary objective behind this arrangement is to minimise the network's total energy consumption.

Wan et al. [172] suggested a model of energy-conscious load balancing and scheduling through the use of a swarm optimisation algorithm, thereby improving balancing efficiency. In a separate study, Isa et al. [171] introduced a fog-based architecture for healthcare monitoring, addressing the system's energy efficiency problem using mixed integer linear programming. From a network operator's perspective, Yosuf et al. [173] understood the problem of energy efficiency within IoT architecture as a mixed integer linear programming a heuristic algorithm as a solution.

Merluzzi et al. [174] investigated the problem of energy management in mobile edge computing, viewing it as a stochastic optimisation problem. They considered both the energy

usage of end-users and MEC servers. They came up with the innovative concept of a lowpower sleep mode for mobile edge computing servers to reduce excessive energy consumption. At the same time, Sharma et al. [176] proposed strategies to conserve power and promote environmentally friendly computing. These authors suggested using a combination of virtualization and recycling techniques to decrease energy usage in computing facilities. Similarly, Ranadheera et al. [175] focused on optimising the energy usage of mobile edge computing servers while satisfying users' Quality of Experience (QoE) requirements. To achieve this dual objective, they proposed a minority game-based algorithm for efficient server activation management.

Xiao and Krunz [177] tackled the intricate balance between power efficiency and users' QoE satisfaction within a fog and edge environment. They put forward a framework that leverages the symbiotic relationships between different fog nodes. Furthermore, they crafted a distributed optimisation framework and, under this umbrella, proposed two robust distributed algorithms [178]. From another perspective, Apostolopoulos et al. [179] scrutinised the risky behaviours exhibited by mobile users when offloading computations, all within a multi-mobile edge computing server environment. Their approach was grounded in a non-cooperative game-theoretic analysis. The challenge of data offloading in a multi-mobile edge computing server selection, is tackled through a coalition game [180].

The presented discussion emphasises the importance of edge computing in addressing latency and energy-saving issues associated with traditional architectures like cloud computing. Edge devices allow for direct interaction with the nearest edge node, thereby reducing data delay. The research covers various aspects, including resourcefulness of bandwidth, offloading of computation, and reduction of response time. In particular, studies have shown the benefits of using edge devices in healthcare monitoring. Facial recognition software prototypes, for example, demonstrated a significant reduction in response time through the use of edge computing. Moreover, further research highlights the potential for energy management and improved computational efficiency, as seen in discussions on sleep modes and minority game-based algorithms for server management. Various tasks and strategies for offloading energy, such as bargaining and weighted potential game analyses, have been proposed to optimise network resource allocation and energy consumption.

Ultimately, the literature demonstrates the potential of edge devices for task optimisation within the WBAN architecture. Focusing on an anomaly detection experiment using edge devices in the WBAN architecture can enhance network performance, reduce latency, and improve energy efficiency. With the growing need for real-time responses in fields like healthcare monitoring, the reduced latency benefit is crucial. Additionally, efficiently managing resources by determining the correct techniques for task offloading can lead to improved overall network performance and energy savings. Therefore, experimentation with anomaly detection at the edge local nodes of a WBAN can be instrumental in anticipating potential issues and ensuring system reliability and performance. Based on the comprehensive examination and research outlined above, the hybrid healthcare architecture that integrates WBAN, edge, and cloud technologies, as proposed in source [159], is considered throughout the experiment.

# 3.4 Performance Analysis Techniques

In assessing the effectiveness of decision-making, the most frequently used metrics include the probability of detection (Pd), measurable via the Likelihood ratio, and the probability of false alarm (Pfa). For this research, the principles of sensitivity, specificity, and receiver operating characteristics (ROC) [185] are employed, as they represent the best methods available.

The key terms often used to assess a clinical test are referred to as sensitivity and specificity [185]. Commonly considered for a clinical test are positive and negative predictive values, which rely on the existence of the disease being studied. Generally, sensitivity and specificity are quantitative tests that hinge on a cut-off value that surpasses or falls short of a given limit. As a rule, they are generally inversely related; as sensitivity increases, specificity typically decreases, and vice versa. The potential results of a clinical test are depicted in Table 3.2 [185]. Understanding the following key terms is crucial for measuring the performance of clinical tests:

Table 3. 2: Truth table for a clinical test

Status	Disease present	Disease absent
Test positive	True positives	False positives
Test negative	False negative	True negatives

True positive (TP): The patient has the disease, and the test result is positive.

False positive (FP): The patient does not have the disease, but the test result is positive.

True negative (TN): The patient does not have the disease, and the test result is negative.

False negative (FN): The patient has the disease, but the test result is negative.

**Sensitivity:** This is also called Recall and in more common terms, sensitivity refers to a clinical test's ability to accurately identify a patient who has a particular disease. A test with 100% sensitivity implies that it can accurately diagnose the disease in every patient who has it. However, a test with a 75% sensitivity can only correctly identify the disease in 75% of the patients who have it. It misses or fails to detect the disease in the remaining 25% of the cases, leading to false-negative results. To ensure a dependable diagnosis, it's preferable for a clinical test to have a high sensitivity percentage. In probability notation:

$$P_{sn}(T^+|D^+) = TP/(TP + FN)$$

where  $P_{sn}$ ,  $T^+$ ,  $D^+$ , TP and FN refer Probability of the sensitivity, Test positive, Disease positive, True positive and False negative respectively.

**Specificity:** Specificity is a concept used in clinical testing, indicating the ability of a test to accurately identify individuals who don't have the disease. A test boasting a 100% specificity would correctly identify all disease-free individuals. In the case of a test with 75% specificity, it indicates that the test correctly identifies 75% of disease-free cases (true negatives), but wrongly flags 25% of healthy individuals as having the disease (false positives). In probability notation:

$$P_{sp}(T^{-}|D^{-}) = TN/(TN + FP)$$

where  $P_{sp}$ ,  $T^-$ ,  $D^-$ , TN and FP Probability of the specificity, Test negative, Disease negative, True negative and False positive respectively.

The concepts of sensitivity and specificity are used to evaluate how effectively a clinical test can differentiate between patients who have a certain disease and those who don't. In the context of a specific test, the likelihood of the disease being present is termed as, the test's predictive value. The term Positive predictive value (PPV) also called Precision, in terms of probability, refers to the likelihood that a person has the disease given a positive test result. In probability notation:

$$T^+|D^+) = TP/(TP + FP)$$

For Negative predictive value (NPV) in probability notation:

$$T^{-}|D^{-} = TN/(TN + FN)$$

The **F1 Score** is the harmonic mean of precision and recall, providing a balance between the two metrics. It is particularly useful when the distribution of the classes is imbalanced. In mathematical notation

$$F1 = 2 \times \frac{Precision \times Recall}{Precision + Recall}$$

Or

$$F1 = \frac{2TP}{2TP + FP + FN}$$

**Accuracy** in the context of classification is defined as the proportion of true results (both true positives and true negatives) among the total number of cases examined.

$$Accuracy = \frac{TP + TN}{TP + TN + FP + FN}$$

A key term associated with diagnostic testing is the Likelihood ratio. This term establishes the comparison between the chances of a patient testing positive having the disease versus those who tested negative.

# *Likelihood ratio* = *Sensitivity*/1 - *Specificity*

The Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves, as depicted in Figure 3.2, communicate the proportion of (1-specificity) of a test on the horizontal axis, compared to its sensitivity on the vertical axis, for all potential measurements.



Figure 3. 2: Receiver operator curves (example)

Figure 3.2 depicts a standard ROC curve, which is a graph where the y-axis represents the True positive rate (TPR) of a test and the x-axis shows the False positive rate (FPR). Curve A represents the ideal test scenario, while Curve B signifies the usual outcome in clinical settings. The accuracy of the test is indicated by the Area under the curve (AUC). The ROC curve is an effective mechanism for assessing performance in classification and distribution tasks. Essentially, it's a chart that provides a probabilistic representation, and the AUC demonstrates the model's ability to differentiate between different categories. For any given dataset, the model's power to discern between classes can be articulated using the AUC. A higher AUC score indicates that the model is more successful at correctly identifying positive and negative cases. In a medical setting, an AUC of 1 would mean that the ROC could flawlessly predict whether a patient has a disease or not. A prime example of this is displayed in Figure 3.3, where the model adeptly distinguishes between TP and TN. The ROC curve plots the false positive rate FPR on the x-axis against the true positive rate TPR on the y-axis.


Figure 3. 3: AUC is 1, Perfect scenario; AUC = Area under curve; TPR =True Positive Rate; FPR =False Positive Rate.

Figure 3.4 reveals an AUC score of 0.7, which indicates a 70% probability of accurately predicting both true negatives and true positives. However, the model also introduces two types of errors: false negatives and false positives.



Figure 3. 4: AUC is 0.7, 70% chance the model distinguishes between positive class and negative class.

The illustration referred to as Figure 3.5 displays an AUC of 0.5, indicating an inability to differentiate between the positive and negative classes. Essentially, an AUC of 0.5 implies that the test doesn't exhibit any discerning capability, meaning it can't effectively distinguish between patients who have the disease or condition compared to those who don't.



Figure 3. 5: AUC is 0.5, This is the worst situation, the model has no discrimination capacity. When the AUC is nearly zero, it means the model is incorrectly classifying positive instances as negative and vice versa. In Figure 3.6, the instances that are correctly predicted as negative (true negatives) and those correctly predicted as positive (true positives) are incorrectly labelled as their opposites, i.e., true negatives are labelled as true positives and true positives are labelled as true negatives.



Figure 3. 6: AUC is 0, The model is predicting the opposite.

In a nutshell, an ROC curve illustrates the balance between the true positive rate (sensitivity) and the false positive rate (specificity), resulting in a curve. Typically, the more the curve skews towards the top-left corner, the better the test results. If the curve nears the ROC space's 45-degree diagonal, the test's accuracy declines.

#### 3.5 System Model

Consider a standard WBAN, wherein numerous biosensors are positioned or implanted within the human body. Similar to typical sensors, these biosensors possess three fundamental capabilities: i) sensing, ii) processing, and iii) communication. Following the sensing phase, the biosensors transmit the gathered data to the coordinator, situated in proximity to or on the body. The coordinator then conducts processing based on algorithms implemented for the sink node. Subsequently, the sink node forwards the processed data to the destination.

A system model has been developed based on WBAN technology, with the primary objective of enhancing reliability throughout the clinical decision-making process. The fundamental block diagram outlining the inputs and outputs of the healthcare system is depicted in Figure 3.7. The system model comprises two primary blocks: decision-making and clinical prediction.



Figure 3. 7: Input and output for the proposed healthcare system.

Within this system model, three inputs are taken into consideration. Firstly, sensor data is anticipated to yield various types of physiological outputs. This physiological data, derived wirelessly from the patient's sensor, constitutes the initial input. The second input is derived from the patient's personal profile, encompassing their historical medical information and physical attributes such as weight, height, and age. To augment the reliability of clinical prediction, a third-input clinical diagnosis is incorporated. The first block of the decisionmaking model yields three principal outputs: proactive suggestion, primary recommendation, and history storage. Simultaneously, the second block of the clinical prediction model generates two initial outputs: patient deterioration or improvement and history storage. In terms of the overall system model, three primary outputs are established, encompassing clinical diagnosis, clinical prediction, and history storage for subsequent reference.

This system is designed to operate independently, deriving clinical decisions from the provided inputs (see Figure 3.7) and producing anticipated outputs. Leveraging physiological sensor data and the patient's historical clinical information, the system is poised to assess the severity of the patient's clinical condition, categorising it as either emergency, semiemergency, or non-emergency. In instances classified as non-emergency, the system issues alert to prompt the patient to undertake preventive measures, such as medication or dietary adjustments. Conversely, for emergencies, the system recommends that the patient seek healthcare services, specifying options such as contacting a general practitioner (GP), visiting a walk-in centre, or seeking emergency medical attention. Additional attributes are slated to be incorporated into the system in subsequent phases of experimentation, to enhance overall system performance.

Figure 3.8 illustrates the detailed system model of the proposed WBAN for healthcare. This system is designed to generate dependable clinical decisions and clinical predictions within a resource-constrained environment. It is assumed to be a secure system, safeguarded against both external and internal security breaches.



Figure 3. 8: Block diagram of the proposed healthcare framework

The system comprises three distinct components: the data collection unit, the decisionmaking unit, and the service provider unit. The first unit incorporates physiological sensors responsible for gathering data from a patient's body. Additionally, this unit includes the patient's profile, encompassing medical history. Primarily, it constitutes the body area network connected to an appropriate edge device through low-power technologies like Zigbee, Bluetooth, etc.

The subsequent unit is tasked with knowledge discovery from data to formulate a reliable clinical decision. It considers the data forwarded from the first unit, along with the patient's medical history. This unit comprises an edge device equipped with a mini-storage and the computational ability to process data and make decisions locally. Furthermore, this unit is capable of anomaly detection from vital signs obtained from physiological sensors and medical history, generating alerts for relevant stakeholders. Additionally, by utilising data reduction techniques, this unit minimises the amount of data to be transferred to the cloud. Internet technologies such as 4G, 5G, or Wi-Fi are employed to connect this unit to the next unit.

The concluding segment of the block diagram is the service provider unit on the cloud platform. This unit plays a crucial role in storing and backing up system data. It serves as a web-based service for end-users, including patient carers, physicians, and emergency services. It also serves as a valuable resource for healthcare researchers to conduct their studies. Additionally, physicians can leverage this opportunity to improve their clinical decisions.

Assuming S represents sensors connected to the WBAN, this is expressed as follows:

$$S = [S_i | i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n]$$

In this context, each element  $S_i$  represents a specific type of sensor, such as pulse, blood pressure, respiration rate, heart rate, temperature, etc., where n denotes the total number of sensors within the WBAN. Every sensor  $S_i$  furnishes sensed data with measurements conducted at preset sampling intervals. It is assumed that each sensor operates in an awake state, adhering to a duty cycle denoted by  $\alpha$  in the range [0, 1] for a designated time  $t_p$ . Consequently, each node is active during the time interval  $\alpha t_p$  and inactive during the interval  $(1 - \alpha)t_p$ .

During the awake state of the sensors, let  $f_s$  define the sampling frequency, which is assumed to be the same for all sensors within the WBAN. The number of samples acquired during the awake state of each sensor is denoted by k as follows:

$$k = \alpha t_p f_s$$

Hence, the data acquired by any sensor  $S_i$  during its awake state can be articulated as:

$$d_i = [d_{ii}|j = 1, 2, 3, ..., k]$$

The data obtained from n sensors during one complete awake state can be represented by a matrix D of size  $n \times k$ .

$$D = \begin{bmatrix} d_{1,1} & d_{1,2} & \dots & d_{1,k} \\ d_{2,1} & d_{2,2} & \dots & d_{2,k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ d_{n,1} & d_{n,2} & d_{n,k} \end{bmatrix}$$

In this WBAN, sensors are expected to operate within the normal range of vital signs, which can be defined by the lower limit  $\gamma_i^l$  and the upper limit  $\gamma_i^u$ . The well-being range of vital signs can vary due to demographic differences, and this range may also vary based on professions. These measurements may have different tolerance levels depending on the type of sensor and the sensitivity of the acquired data. Let  $\delta_i$  denote the tolerance level for the  $i^t h$  sensor node. For instance, for temperature measurements, the lower threshold  $\gamma^l$  and upper threshold  $\gamma^u$  are 37°C and 40°C, respectively, and the tolerance level  $\delta_i$  may be considered as ±3°C.

In the data pre-processing phase, measurements that fall outside the normal sensing range are categorised as emergency data measurements i.e.

$$d_{i,j} > \gamma_i^l - \delta \text{ or } d_{i,j} > \gamma_i^u + \delta$$

Consequently, emergency services will be notified, and simultaneously, a notification will be sent to a support engineer responsible for the WBAN architecture to inspect the system as a precaution. Like a conventional WBAN, each sensor node gathers data and transmits it to the coordinator periodically. Consequently, a substantial volume of data is collected and sent to the coordinator for the decision-making process. In addition to this periodic process, a concurrent, event-driven process is also necessary in a state of emergency. In the event of an emergency, an event-driven approach is prioritised over a periodic approach [31, 152].

Measurements falling within the normal and anticipated sensing range are classified as true data and are subject to processing in the decision-making unit (Figure 3.8). The decision-making strategy can be characterised by intra-sensor (within the same type of sensor) and inter-sensor (group of sensors) criteria. The intra-sensor criteria for decision-making by the  $i^t h$  sensor node is expressed as:

$$C_{ij} = \begin{cases} 0 & \gamma_i^l \le d_{ij} \le \gamma_i^u \\ 1 & otherwise \end{cases}$$

Here,  $C_{ij} = 0$  and  $C_{ij} = 1$  indicate the likelihood of the  $j^t h$  sample acquired from the ith sensor representing true and incorrect data, respectively.

In the event of a significant change in measurements, action is initiated when:

$$C_{ij} = \begin{cases} Emergency & \sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{ij} > \delta_{1} \\ Log & otherwise \end{cases}$$

Here,  $\delta_1$  signifies the threshold for triggering alerts to emergency services.

In cases where the measurements do not explicitly indicate an emergency based on their values but still necessitate attention, they can be defined as:

$$C_{ij} = \begin{cases} Contact \ GP & \sum_{j=1}^{k} \hat{C}_{ij} > \delta_2 \\ Log & otherwise \end{cases}$$

Measurements may only necessitate preventive action by the patient themselves, as defined by:

$$C_{ij} = \begin{cases} Prevention & \sum_{j=1}^{k} \hat{C}_{ij} > \delta_{3} \\ Log & otherwise \end{cases}$$

In the suggested WBAN framework, each sensor node is capable of providing readings that fall within an acceptable limit. For adults, there's a certain threshold or acceptable range for specific vital signs, although these ranges differ for children and toddlers. The acceptable range may also fluctuate based on demographic or geographic differences. Appendix A.3 provides a table of acceptable thresholds for an adult, indicating that vital signs are significantly interconnected. Even if all the vital signs fall within an acceptable range, a critical situation could still arise. Such scenarios could be mitigated by harnessing the power of cooperative interaction among WBAN sensors. This would involve implementing an intersensor decision-making approach that takes into account the correlation among the relevant vital signs. It's anticipated that this strategy would involve input from all different sensors to boost the effectiveness of the decision-making process.

The WBAN consistently produces both emergency and non-emergency data derived from physiological signs. As detailed in Figure 3.9, sensor data falls into two core categories: abnormal or emergency data and normal data. Emergency data, which could be caused by either a change in patient physiology or system failure, is prioritised for analysis, leading to a clinical decision. On the contrary, non-emergency data undergoes local compression and storage in the cloud. Various compression techniques [181–183] are available, and the proposed system is likely to adopt one or a blend of these methods. With data integrity being paramount, any compression method employed must avoid compromising the original information.



Figure 3. 9: Flow diagram of information

Patient history is extremely important information that should be available to the appropriate parties. Hence, the need arises for a platform that can provide secure and mobile access to this data. Secure cloud storage can effectively meet this need. A variety of techniques and services have been outlined in [184] about cloud services. The proposed system is anticipated to utilise one of these solutions for secure data storage and access.

#### 3.5.1 Data Collection

In a WBAN, data collection begins when the miniature, usually micro-battery-powered, sensors are activated. These sensors, each tailored to monitor specific physiological parameters such as heart rate or body temperature, detect the relevant signals. The data is either gathered continuously or at periodic intervals according to the predetermined requirements. The detected analogue health signals are then converted into digital format by an analogue-to-digital converter (ADC) within the sensor. Once digitised, the health data is temporarily stored in the sensor's integrated storage unit before being transmitted to the central processing unit (CPU). The sensors also implement energy-saving strategies to manage the limited energy supplied by their micro-batteries, with techniques such as duty cycling, where sensors go into sleep mode when not active.

Traditional WBAN systems predominantly forward most data to the cloud, rather than processing the low-level data or performing substantial computations on a local server or mobile device. In the proposed framework, the local server, which can be either a mobile device or an edge device, has a role that goes beyond simply collecting basic data from the WBAN system, such as physiological indicators like blood pressure, heart rate, and respiratory rate. It is also responsible for performing computational tasks before sending all the data to the cloud.

To certify a learning model that relies on extensive data, it's crucial to use data closely resembling real-world data. However, the available real data that could be utilised is limited and often does not encompass a range of physiological indicators. For instance, databases such as those by Faini [186] and Parati [187] possess data, but they are restricted to only two vital signs: BP and heart rate HR. Hence, the dataset from the Physionet MIMIC-II database [188] is utilised as it encompasses a vast range of examples of various vital signs.

81

This dataset was chosen due to its suitability for evaluating our implementations. It is exceptional because no publicly available dataset provides multiple vital sign measurements from diverse home-monitoring patients, demonstrating different correlations over a long period of time. It is important to note that home-monitoring data shows similar patterns when collected in controlled conditions and under the supervision of a nurse. The MIMIC Database is composed of patients who were admitted to the hospital for various clinical emergencies. The data collected from bedside monitors is divided into several files, each containing 10 minutes of recorded signals. These files are later combined seamlessly to create a continuous recording. The experimental records, which consist of 60-minute segments of information, are used to validate the system.

For the experiment, from MIMIC-II, 100 patient records have been utilised for evaluations. The patients who participated in this study present with a broad range of clinical issues, such as sepsis, respiratory failure, congestive heart failure, pulmonary oedema, myocardial infarction, cardiogenic shock, and acute hypotension. The majority of these clinical instances arise because of simultaneous abnormalities in multiple vital signs.

#### 3.5.2 Data Preprocessing

Similar to other real-world databases, it's necessary to perform several preprocessing steps to enhance the quality of the data prior to deriving the features. This process is crucial when dealing with real-world data. Even in the context of a monitored patient at home, the data may be contaminated with noise and contain outliers. This can result from a variety of circumstances, such as sensor malfunctions, disconnections, changes in equipment, and interruptions in network connections, among others. In the circumstance where all vital sign data is missing for an extended duration, these gaps are deemed to be non-recoverable due to network disruptions or sensor malfunctions, leading to data deletion. However, in situations where one or more vital sign values are missing but other clean values are provided, the data is deemed recoverable and filled by employing methods such as median-pass [189] and k-nearest neighbour [190] filters. In actual patient databases, a median-pass filter can be used to replace each raw record with a median value calculated from nearby records, effectively dealing with observational error data. Furthermore, the k-nearest neighbours

algorithm proves to be a valuable technique in tasks like data imputation, where it's used to fill in missing entries in a patient record by evaluating the 'K' most similar records.

Table 3.3 displays the physiological data in the database columns.

SL #	SYSTOLICBP	SpO2	HR	PULSE	RESP	TEMP
1	151	97	133	132	32	36.8
2	153	97	133	132	32	36.7
3	154	97	133	132	32	36.6
4	152	97	133	132	29	36.9

Table 3. 3: Data in columns

The initial column in the figure signifies time (in seconds), while the subsequent columns symbolise blood pressure, oxygen saturation, heart rate, pulse, respiration rate, and temperature, in that order.

## 3.5.3 System Model Validation

#### 3.5.3.1 Threshold-Based Approach

The introduced system begins its validation process by using a rule-based threshold algorithm. This strategy is based on the fundamental principle that every important vital sign has a specific range of minimum and maximum thresholds. An example of this is the breathing rate shown in Figure 3.10, using NEWS [191] as a benchmark. One advantage of this system is its versatility, as it allows doctors to set personalised threshold ranges to evaluate a patient's health status. If the system detects data that falls outside of these predetermined ranges, it immediately triggers an alarm. The threshold algorithm is both simple and efficient, quickly alerting to significant changes in physiological signs. Since the system's main function is to classify data as either "normal" or "emergency," even the smallest deviations in vital signs are carefully recorded. Although this can lead to a relatively high rate of alarms, there are situations where such algorithms are crucial, especially when changes in vital signs can have a significant impact on decision-making.

PHYSIOLOGICAL PARAMETERS	3	2	1	0	1	2	3
Respiration Rate	≤8		9 - 11	12 - 20		21 - 24	≥25
Oxygen Saturations	≤91	92 - 93	94 - 95	≥96			
Any Supplemental Oxygen		Yes		No			
Temperature	≤35.0		35.1 - 36.0	36.1 - 38.0	38.1 - 39.0	≥39.1	
Systolic BP	≤90	91 - 100	101 - 110	111 - 219			≥220
Heart Rate	≤40		41 - 50	51 - 90	91 - 110	111 - 130	≥131
Consciousness Level				A			V, P, or U

Figure 3. 10: National Early Warning Scoring System [191]

However, doctors also follow existing medical theories and evidence that show how certain vital health metrics are interconnected and often change together in response to specific body conditions. This understanding allows physicians to identify which vital signs should be continuously monitored, and importantly, simultaneous shifts in these selective vital signs could be seen as indicators of deterioration. To manage these situations, two distinct threshold algorithms are proposed. The first Algorithm 1. A is called "Threshold" and alerts medical staff when any of the vital signs exceed the set tolerance range. On the other hand, "Algorithm 1. B" is called 'Threshold (adopted)' aims to reduce false alarms by focusing only on specific vital signs instead of all six, enabling physicians to adjust monitoring based on their clinical judgement or the patient's current condition. The choice between the algorithms primarily depends on the patient's condition and the overall clinical context.

Algorithm 1. A illustrates an algorithm capable of classifying sensor data as either normal or emergency, utilising the tolerance range of vital signs.

Algorithm 1.A. Emergency detection using threshold (Threshold)
Input: A set of patient vital sign data
Output: A classification result indicating a status
Procedure: Classifier ()
begin
Threshold (value, lower_threshold, upper_threshold):
return value < lower_threshold OR value > upper_threshold
Classify(sensor_data):
emergency_vital_signs = empty_list()
for i in range(1, num_vital_signs + 1):
value = sensor_data[i]

lower_threshold = SetLowerLimit(i)
upper_threshold = SetUpperLimit(i)
if Threshold(value, lower_threshold, upper_threshold):
append_to_list(emergency_vital_signs, i)
end if
end for
<pre>if length(emergency_vital_signs) &gt; 0:</pre>
return {"status": "Emergency", "vital_signs": emergency_vital_signs}
else:
return {"status": "Normal", "vital_signs": empty_list()}
end if
Monitor(reading_values):
sensor_data = reading_values
result = Classify(sensor_data)
<pre>if result["status"] == "Emergency":</pre>
vital_sign_names = EmergencyVitalSign(result["vital_signs"])
end if
getLower(vital_sign_number):
lower_thresholds = SetLowerLimit()
return lower_thresholds[vital_sign_number]
getUpper(vital_sign_number):
upper_thresholds = SetUpperLimit()
return upper_thresholds[vital_sign_number]
EmergencyVitalSign(vital_sign_numbers):
vital_sign_mapping = getVitalSignMapping()
vital_sign_names = [vital_sign_mapping[number] for number in vital_sign_numbers]
return vital_sign_names
end

This algorithm represents a vital sign monitoring system that classifies a patient's condition as either "normal" or "emergency" based on readings from different sensors. Here is how it operates: Firstly, it sets the lower and upper thresholds for each vital sign. If a reading from any sensor falls outside of a pre-established normal range (either below the lower or above the upper threshold), that reading is considered a cause for concern. The system iteratively goes through each sensor's data. For each vital sign, it checks whether the sensor's value surpasses the thresholds. If the value does exceed, it adds the vital signs to a list of emergency signs. Once the system has gone through all the sensor data, it checks if there are any signs marked as 'emergency'. If there are, it changes the patient's status to "Emergency" and returns this status along with the specific vital signs causing the alarm. If no sign surpasses the thresholds, it indicates that the patient's status is "normal." Additionally, the system has a mechanism to translate these sensor readings (identified by numbers) into their corresponding names. This is done through a function that maps the vital sign numbers to their names. This feature is mostly used when an emergency is identified and the system needs to specify which vital signs have exceeded their thresholds. Two more helper functions determine the lower and upper thresholds for a particular vital sign. These thresholds are predefined within their corresponding functions. In essence, this monitoring system ensures that the patient's health status is continually monitored. If any alarming changes are detected, it promptly classifies the status as an emergency and identifies the problematic vital signs.

An illustration of patient data for this algorithm includes the following vital signs: heart rate 133, blood pressure 151, respiratory rate 32, temperature 36.8, oxygen saturation 97, and pulse 132.

Example: R Code with this patient data
# Function to check if a value is beyond specified thresholds
Inreshold <- function(value, lower_threshold, upper_threshold) {
return(value < lower_threshold   value > upper_threshold)
ے # Function to classify sensor data and identify emergency vital signs
Classify <- function(sensor data) {
emergency vital signs <- numeric(0)
for (i in 1:length(sensor_data)) {
value <- sensor_data[i]
lower_threshold <- getLower(i)
upper_threshold <- getUpper(i)
if (Threshold(value, lower_threshold, upper_threshold)) {
emergency_vital_signs <- c(emergency_vital_signs, i)
}
} if (length(emergency vital signs) > 0) {
return(list/status = "Emergency" vital_signs = emergency_vital_signs))
} else {
return(list(status = "Normal", vital_sians = numeric(0)))
}
}
, # Function to monitor sensor readings and display classification
Monitor <- function(reading values) {
sensor_data <- reading_values
result <- Classify(sensor_data)
cat("Classification:", result\$status, "\n")
if (result\$status == "Emergency") {
vital_sign_names <- EmergencyVitalSign(result\$vital_signs)
cat("Emergency Vital Signs:", paste(vital_sign_names, collapse = ", "), "\n")
}
}
# Function to retrieve the lower threshold for a specific vital sign
getLower <- function(vital_sign_number) {
lower_thresholds <- SetLowerLimit()
return(lower_thresholds[vital_sign_number])
} # Eunction to ratriova the upper thrashold for a specific vital sign
# runction to retrieve the upper timeshold for a specific vital sign
unner_thresholds <= SetUnnerLimit()
return(unner_thresholds[vital_sian_number])
}
, # Function to map vital sign numbers to their names in case of emergency

The algorithm explanation, utilising the provided patient data as an example, is outlined below:

### **Patient Data:**

The patient data consists of vital signs such as HeartRate, BloodPressure, RespiratoryRate,

Temperature, OxygenSaturation, and Pulse.

Table 3. 4: Example patient data

HeartRate	BloodPressure	RespiratoryRate	Temperature	OxygenSaturation	Pulse
133	151	32	36.8	97	132

# Threshold Checking Loop (Inside Classify Function):

- The `Classify` function iterates through each vital sign in the patient data.

- For each vital sign, it obtains the corresponding lower and upper thresholds using the `getLower` and `getUpper` functions.

- It then uses the `Threshold` function to check if the vital sign value falls beyond the specified thresholds.

# Example Checking (For HeartRate):

- For the HeartRate:
- Lower Threshold: 51
- Upper Threshold: 90
- Patient HeartRate: 133

- The `Threshold` function checks if `133` is outside the range `[70, 150]`. Since it is outside, the HeartRate is identified as an emergency vital sign.

### For all the vital signs:

Vital Sign	Lower Threshold	Upper Threshold	Patient Measurement	Result
Heart Rate	70	150	133	Emergency
Blood Pressure	120	140	151	Emergency
Respiratory Rate	15	25	32	Emergency
Temperature	36	38	36.8	Normal
Oxygen Saturation	90	100	97	Normal
Pulse	60	100	132	Emergency

Table 3. 5: Example of threshold-based classification.

### **Overall Result:**

- After checking all vital signs, the `Classify` function determines whether any vital signs are identified as emergency based on the thresholds.

## **Inside Classify Function:**

- The `for` loop iterates through each vital sign in the `sensor\_data`.

- For each vital sign, it checks if the value is beyond the specified thresholds using the `Threshold` function.

- If the condition is met, it adds the vital sign number to the `emergency\_vital\_signs` list.

- After processing all vital signs, it checks if any emergency vital signs were identified.

- If yes, it returns a list indicating an "Emergency" status along with the list of emergency vital signs; otherwise, it returns a list indicating a "Normal" status with an empty list.

# **Classification Result:**

- If the classification is "Emergency," the `EmergencyVitalSign` function is called with the identified emergency vital sign numbers.

- The function returns the names of the emergency vital signs, which are then printed: *Emergency Vital Signs: HeartRate, RespiratoryRate, Pulse*  To validate the system model, a set of experiments was carried out. Each sample, approximately 20,100 records in size, was examined over one hour.

In the initial stage of the system validation experiment, individual physiological signs are taken into account as displayed in various figures. Specifically, blood pressure. is demonstrated in Figure 3.6, oxygen saturation in Figure 3.7, and heart rate in Figure 3.8 respectively. The early warning scoring system table (refer to Figure 3.5) is used to highlight the normal range of well-being over time. Notably, only a few alarms were observed for blood pressure (as seen in Figure 3.11) based on the available data. In this graph, the y-axis signifies the measurement of blood pressure in millimetres of mercury (mmHg), while the x-axis illustrates the passage of time in seconds. Measurements depicted in blue represent a normal state, whereas those marked in red point to an emergency state. Due to their specific health condition, this particular patient is anticipated to have normal blood pressure while experiencing a higher rate of respiration and heart rate.





The red vertical lines on the graph symbolise an alert at a specific point in time, while the green horizontal lines mark the maximum and minimum threshold values for all vital sign measurements. Alarms are integrated into the graph following a threshold algorithm, with emergency data marked in red and ordinary data in blue. A significant number of alarms are

identified for oxygen saturation (Figure 3.12), heart rate (Figure 3.13), and respiration rate (Figure 3.14), resulting from actual variations in physiological measurements.



Figure 3. 12: Oxygen saturation, normal and emergency data.

All the vital signs depicted in Figures 3.12 to 3.14 are plotted with time on the x-axis and measurements on the y-axis. Each vital sign is associated with distinct measurement units. Blood pressure, for instance, is quantified in millimetres of mercury (mmHg) and presented as systolic pressure over diastolic pressure (e.g., 120/80 mmHg). Oxygen saturation is represented as a percentage (%), indicating the proportion of oxygen-saturated haemoglobin in the blood. Heart rate is gauged in beats per minute (BPM), denoting the number of heart beats per minute. Similarly, respiration rate is measured in breaths per minute (BPM), signifying the count of breaths taken per minute.

Table 3.6 presents the log documenting alarms triggered by the system for individual sensors. The analysis reveals that the system-generated alarms fall into two distinct categories: emergency data and errors attributed to system failures. A specific entry in the patient log (191) indicates a system failure at the commencement of the record. Notably, alarms related to blood pressure were found to be the result of a faulty system and were treated as errors, as indicated in Table 3.6.

Table 3. 6Table 3.6: Raised alarm for individual vital signs.

Vital signs	Alarm %	Error %
Blood pressure	10	1
Oxygen saturation	37	2
Heart rate	91	2
Respiration rate	94	2



Figure 3. 13: Heart rate, normal and emergency data.

Among the four physiological signs plotted, it is noted that respiration (Figure 3.14) has the highest number of alarms. Conversely, blood pressure exhibits the lowest number of alarms compared to the others. Additionally, it is observed that heart rate and respiration share a similar percentage of alarms.

The sample data used for system validation comes from an ICU patient experiencing respiratory and heart problems. A higher rate of alarms is recorded for heart rate and respiration rate (Table 3.6). The data suggests a correlation between vital signs, and it is noted that at least two or three vital signs may be interlinked [192]. The goal is to design a system for patients, physicians, or carers that is simple, easy to use, and suitable for medical scenarios. In dynamic situations, physicians may look for any changes in vital signs to monitor progress or deterioration. In some scenarios, observing at least two or three vital signs

together can provide insights into the patient's overall progress or deterioration, where each vital sign being in an emergency state contributes to determining the overall emergency.





Hence, the initially proposed threshold algorithm (1. A) has been expanded to version 1. B, incorporating options where physicians can specifically choose certain sensors and observe them collectively. This modification aims to assist physicians in minimising false alarms and obtaining more accurate observations.

With the implementation of Threshold Algorithm 1. A (Threshold), a mini-experiment for system validation proved successful, as it effectively raised alarms when data fell outside the predetermined thresholds of upper and lower limits for vital signs.

### 3.5.3.2 Threshold-Based Approach (Selective Vital Signs)

The modified threshold algorithm 1. B (Threshold adopted), derived from threshold algorithm 1. A, is designed to classify data into normal and emergency states. In this algorithm, the classification as an emergency is contingent on all the selected sensor data being in an emergency state. For instance, if three sensors are chosen to observe a patient using this algorithm, all three of them must be classified as emergencies for the system to be classified as an emergency.

```
Algorithm 1.B. Emergency detection using threshold by selecting sensors (Threshold adopted)
Input: A set of patient vital sign data (can select specific vital signs)
Output: A classification result indicating an overall system status
Procedure: Classifier ()
begin
Threshold (value, lower_threshold, upper_threshold):
  return value < lower_threshold OR value > upper_threshold
SetSensor():
Classify(sensor data, selected sensors):
  emergency_vital_signs = empty_list()
  for i in selected_sensors:
    value = sensor data[i]
    lower threshold = SetLowerLimit(i)
    upper threshold = SetUpperLimit(i)
    if Threshold(value, lower_threshold, upper_threshold):
      append to list(emergency vital signs, i)
    end if
  end for
  if length(emergency_vital_signs) == length(selected_sensors)
    return {"status": "Emergency"}
 else:
    return {"status": "Normal"}
  end if
Monitor(reading_values, selected_sensors):
  sensor data = reading values
  result = Classify(sensor_data, selected_sensors, )
getLower(vital_sign_number):
  lower_thresholds = SetLowerLimit()
  return lower thresholds[vital sign number]
getUpper(vital sign number):
  upper thresholds = SetUpperLimit()
  return upper_thresholds[vital_sign_number]
end
```

The proposed algorithm is designed to analyse patient vital signs and classify them into either a normal or emergency state. The system allows physicians to choose specific sensors relevant to the patient's condition. The classification process involves setting threshold values for each vital sign, and if the readings surpass these thresholds for all selected sensors, the system declares an emergency. Monitoring is conducted to assess the overall system status based on the classification results. This approach aims to provide flexibility by allowing physicians to tailor the system to specific patient needs, with a focus on accurate emergency detection while minimising false alarms. An illustration of patient data for this algorithm includes the following vital signs: heart rate 133, blood pressure 151, respiratory rate 32, temperature 36.8, oxygen saturation 97, and pulse 132.

```
Example: R Code with this patient data
# Define Threshold function
Threshold <- function(value, lower threshold, upper threshold) {
return(value < lower threshold | value > upper threshold)
# Define SetSensor function
SetSensor <- function() {</pre>
# Implement logic to allow physicians to set specific sensors
# Return a list of selected sensor indices
return(NULL) # return value
# Define Classify function
Classify <- function(sensor data, selected sensors) {
emergency vital signs <- integer(0)
 # Detailed calculations for each vital sign
for (i in selected sensors) {
  value <- sensor data[[i]]</pre>
 lower_threshold <- getLower(i)</pre>
 upper_threshold <- getUpper(i)
  # Check if the vital sign is outside the normal range
 if (Threshold(value, lower_threshold, upper_threshold)) {
   emergency_vital_signs <- c(emergency_vital_signs, i)</pre>
  }
 # Check if all selected vital signs are problematic
 if (length(emergency vital signs) == length(selected sensors)) {
  return(list(status = "Emergency"))
 } else {
  return(list(status = "Normal"))
# Define Monitor function
Monitor <- function(reading_values, selected_sensors) {
 sensor_data <- reading_values</pre>
 # Call the Classify function
result <- Classify(sensor_data, selected_sensors)</pre>
 # Print the classification status
cat("Classification:", result$status, "\n")
}
# Define getLower function
getLower <- function(vital_sign_number) {</pre>
lower_thresholds <- SetLowerLimit()</pre>
 return(lower thresholds[[vital sign number]])
# Define getUpper function
getUpper <- function(vital_sign_number) {</pre>
upper_thresholds <- SetUpperLimit()</pre>
return(upper_thresholds[[vital_sign_number]])
# Given patient data
patient_data <- list(</pre>
 "heart_rate" = 133,
 "blood_pressure" = 151,
 "respiratory_rate" = 32,
 "temperature" = 36.8,
```

"oxygen\_saturation" = 97, "pulse" = 132
)
# Selected sensors
selected\_sensors <- c("heart\_rate", "respiratory\_rate", "pulse")
# Monitor patient condition
Monitor(patient\_data, selected\_sensors)</pre>

The adjusted threshold algorithm 1.B is designed to empower doctors in choosing particular sensors for patient monitoring. A supplementary function named 'SetSensor' has been integrated into algorithm 1.A to facilitate sensor selection based on the patient's needs. Here's how the process works: Doctors interact with a graphical user interface to define the crucial health sign sensors they wish to use during monitoring. The chosen interface could utilise checkboxes, drop-down menus, or other forms of input. - The internal mechanics of the 'SetSensor' function interpret the doctor's selection and decide which sensors will be involved in the monitoring. For instance, if a doctor opts for "heart rate" and "respiratory rate," the function would yield a list of indices or names that match these chosen sensors. All the vital sign classification calculations are:

	Given			
Vital Sign	Rate	Threshold Range	Calculation	Result
			133 is outside the normal range (51 to	
Heart Rate	133	51 to 90	90).	Emergency
Respiratory				
Rate	32	12 to 20	32 is outside the normal range (12 to 20).	Emergency
			132 is outside the normal range (51 to	
Pulse	132	51 to 90	90).	Emergency

Table 3. 7: Example of threshold-based (algorithm 1. B/ Threshold adopted) classification.

In the initial analysis, each of the four vital signs, namely blood pressure, oxygen saturation, heart rate, and respiration, exhibited emergency data, triggering alarms. Subsequently, a modified threshold approach was introduced, implementing an 'and' logic to examine the correlation between these vital signs. The approach involved considering any two vital signs simultaneously. The outcome revealed a reduction in the number of alarms, as illustrated in Table 3.8.

Table 3. 8: Raised alarm between individual and combined vital signs (Sp = Oxygen saturation, HR = Heart rate, RR = Respiration rate)

Features	Sp	HR	RR	Sp and HR	Sp and RR	RR and HR
Alarm %	37	91	94	24	33	81
Error %	2	2	2	9	2	2

Figures 3.15, 3.16, and 3.17 depict the graphical representation of various combinations of physiological signs and their corresponding alarm tests against the system. An enhancement has been observed in comparison to individual physiological signs, particularly in terms of alarm reduction, as indicated in Table 3.8.



Figure 3. 15: Raised alarms for Oxygen saturation and Heart rate.

The individual alarm rates for oxygen saturation and heart rate were 37% and 91%, respectively. It has been noted that the alarm rate decreases to 24% when a combination of these two is employed for the alarm test (Figure 3.10 and Table 3.8).



Figure 3. 16: Raised alarms for Oxygen saturation and Respiration rate.

The individual alarm rates for oxygen saturation and respiration rate were 37% and 94%, respectively. It has been observed that there is a reduction of 33% when a combination of these two is used for the alarm test (Figure 3.11 and Table 3.8).



Figure 3. 17: Raised alarms for Respiration rate and Heart rate.

Moreover, figure 3.17 displays the alarm for the combined respiration rate and heart rate, which is observed to be less than the alarm rates for heart rate and respiration rate individually.





In a subsequent experiment, three physiological signs were chosen for the implementation of algorithm 1. B, and the results are illustrated in graph 3.18. Table 3.9 enumerates the count of alarms triggered by the system for various combinations of physiological signs.

Table 3. 9: Raised alarm between individual and combined vital signs (Sp = Oxygen saturation, HR = Heart rate, RR = Respiration rate, BP =Blood pressure)

Features	Sp & HR	Sp & RR	RR & HR	RR, HR & Sp	BP, RR,HR & Sp
Alarm %	24	33	81	10	10
Error %	9	2	2	2	2

The count of alarms decreased for the combination of three physiological signs (table 3.9) compared to any two combinations. However, this experiment is beneficial only in situations where physicians opt to utilise multiple vital sign combinations to assess emergency conditions.

The numerical and graphical analyses indicate that the system is functioning correctly. The proposed system successfully detects instances where the data values exceed the threshold for individual sensors. Moreover, the system performs accurately when considering combinations of sensors, including random pairs and combinations involving more than two sensors.

Different clinical scenarios, including MI/cardiogenic shock, cardiogenic shock, and respiratory failure, were considered for the system validation experiment. It was observed that the system performed effectively with both proposed threshold-based algorithms. Depending on the physician's observation, either algorithm can be chosen, considering that using fewer sensors is cost-effective and less complex in terms of computational concerns.

#### 3.5.3.3 Dynamic Threshold Approach

In the work [197], Sharma and his team delve into four categories of methods used for fault detection, which include rule-based, estimation-based, time-series analysis, and learningbased techniques. They examine both static and changeable thresholds, linear least squares estimation, ARIMA, as well as the hidden markov model, among others. Their research primarily targets the detection of three types of faults: brief, noise-induced, and constant. They found that not one particular detection method consistently excels for all types of anomalies. Using dynamic thresholds in health monitoring systems allows for customisation according to individual variables and adjustments to new circumstances, which augments precision. However, the computational complexity remains comparable to that of a static threshold. Statistically based parameters, like mean ( $\mu$ ) and standard deviation ( $\sigma$ ), are often deployed as dynamic thresholds to identify deviations, such as the z-score or  $\mu \pm k\sigma$ , within normally distributed values. Nonetheless, when considering approaches like percentagebased thresholds and moving averages [66], the use of moving averages is more prevalent. This method involves calculating the average of the most recent readings over a designated time window. The advantages of moving averages include simplicity in calculation and implementation, live updating of thresholds based on the latest data, and mitigating the impact of short-term fluctuations and data noise. Alternatively, percentile-based Thresholds entail setting limits based on percentiles derived from past records, which is advantageous

for establishing personalized thresholds based on a patient's own historical data. However, this method is less suitable for quick-onset conditions where an immediate reaction is crucial.

Dynamic threshold using moving average:

- Let  $V_i$  be a list of the most recent readings for the  $i^{th}$  vital sign.
- Define N as the window size for the moving average.
- The moving average  $MA_i$  for the  $i^{th}$  vital sign is calculated as

$$MA_i = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} V_{ij}$$
, where,  $V_{ij}$  is the  $j^{th}$  most recent reading of the  $i^{th}$  vital sign.

- Let  $offset_i$  be a predefined offset value for the  $i^{th}$  vital sign.
- The dynamic lower threshold  $LT_i$  and upper threshold  $UT_i$  for the  $i^{th}$  vital sign are calculated as:

$$LT_i = MA_i - offset_i$$

 $UT_i = MA_i + offset_i$ 

- For each vital sign reading  $R_i$  compare it against its dynamic thresholds:
- If  $R_i < LT_i$  or  $R_i > UT_i$ , flag the reading as indicating a potential emergency.

An algorithm named 'Dynamic Threshold', developed for the proposed dynamic threshold approach, is presented below as algorithm 1. C.

Algorithm 1.C. Emergency detection using Dynamic threshold (Dynamic Threshold)
Input: A set of patient vital sign data
Output: A classification result indicating a status
Procedure: Classifier()
begin
MovingAverage(recentValues, windowSize):
Calculate and return the average of the last 'windowSize' elements in recentValues
DynamicThresholds(vitalSign, recentValues, windowSize, offset):
movingAvg = MovingAverage(recentValues[vitalSign], windowSize)
lowerThreshold = movingAvg - offset
upperThreshold = movingAvg + offset
return lowerThreshold, upperThreshold
Threshold(value, lowerThreshold, upperThreshold):
return value < lowerThreshold OR value > upperThreshold
Classify(sensorData, recentValues, windowSize, offset):
emergencyVitalSigns = empty_list()
<pre>for i in range(1, num_vital_signs + 1):</pre>
value = sensorData[i]
lowerThreshold, upperThreshold = DynamicThresholds(i, recentValues, windowSize, offset)
if Threshold(value, lowerThreshold, upperThreshold):

```
append to list(emergencyVitalSigns, i)
      end if
    end for
    if length(emergencyVitalSigns) > 0:
      return {"status": "Emergency", "vital_signs": emergencyVitalSigns}
    else:
      return {"status": "Normal", "vital_signs": empty_list()}
    end if
  Monitor(readingValues, recentValues, windowSize, offset):
    sensorData = readingValues
    result = Classify(sensorData, recentValues, windowSize, offset)
    if result["status"] == "Emergency":
      vitalSignNames = EmergencyVitalSign(result["vital signs"])
    end if
  EmergencyVitalSign(vitalSignNumbers):
    vitalSignMapping = getVitalSignMapping()
    vitalSignNames = [vitalSignMapping[number] for number in vitalSignNumbers]
    return vitalSignNames
end
```

A comprehensive experiment was conducted to compare static and dynamic thresholds in terms of their execution time and accuracy in classification. The initial phase of the experiment employed blood pressure data from fourty ICU patients, with 14,4000 data points in total (60\*60\*40). The next stage considered 12 hours' worth of data, a total of 172,8000 data points (12\*60\*60\*40). Finally, the experiment was extended to 24 hours of data, resulting in a total of 345,6000 data points. Table 3.10 presents a summary of the experimental findings. When analysing smaller datasets, both algorithms demonstrated nearly identical performance. However, when applied to larger datasets, the dynamic threshold exhibited superior accuracy as it could adapt to each patient's unique variations and be capable of tracking trends over time. Nevertheless, in terms of execution time, the dynamic threshold was found to be more time-consuming compared to the static threshold when dealing with large datasets.

Table 3. 10: Comparison of	f classification accurac	y by static and	dynamic threshold
----------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------	-------------------

		Accuracy (%)		Execution time (seconds)		
Duration	1 hour	12 hours	24 hours	1 hour	12 hours	24 hours
Data	144000	1728000	3456000	14400	172800	345600
Static	99.3	98.9	98.3	1.6	7.6	56
Dynamic	99	99.1	99.3	2.9	40	206

#### 3.6 Abnormality Classification

The proposed model possesses the capability for knowledge discovery derived from extensive patient data at the local node through threshold approaches. Consequently, a Unified Anomaly Detection Scheme (UADS) has been developed as an extended version of the basic WBAN system model. This enhanced model incorporates functionalities for learning and the process of knowledge discovery to identify patient-specific anomalies. This involves the utilisation of rule-based thresholds, machine learning, and hybrid approaches.

For the experiment, from MIMIC-II, 100 patient records have been utilised for evaluations. The patients who participated in this study present with a broad range of clinical issues, such as sepsis, respiratory failure, congestive heart failure, pulmonary oedema, myocardial infarction, cardiogenic shock, and acute hypotension. The majority of these clinical instances arise because of simultaneous abnormalities in multiple vital signs.

In the experimental phase, the threshold-based approach is compared with machine learning algorithms. The system aims to achieve simple, user-friendly, clinically fit, computationally low, and energy-efficient anomaly detection, making decisions locally on the edge device. This approach is expected to reduce the amount of data sent to the cloud, thereby lowering overall system energy consumption. As discussed in the previous section, various edge devices with different computational capacities are considered. Amazon EC2 instances (type m1.medium) [193] are created to match the processing capability of Microsoft Azure Sphere (one of the edge devices). The classification process is then executed on the EC2 instance.

In this experiment, apart from the threshold approach for classifying normal or emergency data based on vital signs, two additional machine learning algorithms, namely decision tree [72] and one-class support vector machine [71,76], have been employed. The selection of these two algorithms was meticulous, considering the system model's constraints that support the operation of simpler algorithms. The dataset is partitioned into training and test sets for utilisation with these machine learning algorithms. This careful choice aims to align with the system model and optimise the output for enhanced performance.

Abnormal vital signs pose challenges to standardisation due to variations among patients, influenced by factors like medical history and family profile. These variations may not always indicate danger in practical scenarios. Relying solely on generalised threshold values for

patient classification can lead to frequent false alarms. While false alarms may be acceptable in life-threatening situations, it's crucial to factor in correlations with other contextual information when making final clinical decisions.

As detailed in the system model section (3.5), decision support mechanisms are established based on the multiple level of classification results to recommend specific actions for implementation. They are:

- In the case of a normal situation:
   If ∀*i*, *j*: C<sub>ij</sub> = 0, assign a score of 0.
- 2. If the situation is abnormal but not dangerous and falls within the tolerance range:

If  $\sum_{j=1}^{k} \hat{C}_{ij} > \delta_3$ , then issue a warning for preventive action, assign a score of 1.

3. If the situation is abnormal and poses a danger:

If  $\sum_{j=1}^{k} \hat{C}_{ij} > \delta_2$ , then send an alert to the doctor and recommend a visit to the general practitioner, assign a score of 2.

4. In the event of an extremely abnormal situation:

If  $\sum_{i=1}^{k} \hat{C}_{ii} > \delta_1$ , then notify emergency services, assign a score 3.

Where,

- C<sub>ij</sub> represents the intra-sensor criteria for the i-th sensor and j-th sample.
- $\hat{C}_{ij}$  represents a modified criteria for specific actions, depending on the context.
- $\delta_1, \delta_2, and \ \delta_3$  are predefined thresholds for triggering different actions.
- $\sum_{j=1}^{k}$  denotes the summation over all samples acquired during the awake state of the sensor.

The suggested threshold method can only categorise the data into two states: normal or emergency. However, machine learning techniques can sort into multiple categories based on set criteria. Therefore, there's a plan to expand this threshold method to enable it to be classified into multiple categories, which would be more beneficial for this model. Afterwards, it will be possible to compare this revised method with the previously discussed machine learning approaches. There are several straightforward techniques suitable for this system model that can classify various alert levels. Among all available methods, the two most effective are the Mahalanobis Distance (MD) [195] and the Z Score [196]. Z-Score and Mahalanobis distance are both statistical methods used for the classification of data, and while they may seem to perform similar functions, their applications differ in certain contexts.

Z-Score: Measures how many standard deviations a data point deviates from the mean; suitable for univariate (single-variable) data.

Mahalanobis Distance: Measures the distance between a point and a distribution considering covariance; ideal for multivariate data where variables correlate.

For this system model, where values of different signs might affect each other, Mahalanobis distance is preferred. It takes into account correlations between variables, reducing false positives.

## 3.6.1 Multi Level Classification Using Threshold Approach

The algorithm is described in 1. A and 1. B, and it performs exceptionally well for binary classification. It can accurately classify patient vital signs as either normal or emergency. Afterwards, algorithm 1. D which is called MLCTA introduces an algorithm for multi-level classification, which is presented below.

```
Classify(sensor_data):
  emergency_vital_signs = empty_list()
  warning vital signs = empty list()
  alert vital signs = empty list()
  for i in range(1, num vital signs + 1):
    value = sensor_data[i]
    lower threshold = SetLowerLimit(i)
    upper threshold = SetUpperLimit(i)
    alert_threshold = SetAlertLimit(i)
    status = Threshold(value, lower_threshold, upper_threshold)
    if status == "Warning":
       append to list(warning vital signs, i)
    else if status == "Emergency":
       append_to_list(emergency_vital_signs, i)
    end if
    alert status = Alert(value, alert threshold)
    if alert status == "Alert":
       append_to_list(alert_vital_signs, i)
    end if
  end for
  result = {"status": "Normal", "vital_signs": empty_list()}
  if length(emergency vital signs) > 0:
    result = {"status": "Emergency", "vital_signs": emergency_vital_signs}
  else if length(alert_vital_signs) > 0:
    result = {"status": "Alert", "vital signs": alert vital signs}
  else if length(warning vital signs) > 0:
    result = {"status": "Warning", "vital_signs": warning_vital_signs}
  end if
  return result
Monitor(reading values):
  sensor data = reading values
  result = Classify(sensor_data)
  output = {"Classification": result["status"]}
  if result["status"] == "Emergency":
    vital sign names = VitalSignNames(result["vital signs"])
    output["Emergency Vital Signs"] = vital sign names
  else if result["status"] == "Alert":
    vital sign names = VitalSignNames(result["vital signs"])
    output["Alert Vital Signs"] = vital sign names
  else if result["status"] == "Warning":
    vital_sign_names = VitalSignNames(result["vital_signs"])
    output["Warning Vital Signs"] = vital_sign_names
  end if
  return output
VitalSignNames(vital_sign_numbers):
  vital sign mapping = getVitalSignMapping()
  vital sign names = [vital sign mapping[number] for number in vital sign numbers]
  return vital_sign_names
End
```

'Threshold' function evaluates a given 'value' against a 'lower\_threshold' and an 'upper\_threshold'. It returns an assessment of the situation—either "warning," "emergency," or "normal"—depending on whether the value is below, above, or within the threshold boundaries. 'Alert' function decides whether a received 'value' exceeds an `alert\_threshold'. If the value is above the threshold, the function delivers an "Alert"; otherwise, it provides a "Normal" status. 'Classify function processes sensor data to classify the conditions of various vital signs according to individual thresholds. It maintains three lists for tracking which vital signs are designated as "Warning," "Emergency," or "Alert." Should a vital sign cross its respective threshold, the sign is added to its respective list. Based on these lists, an overall health status is determined at the end of the function, ranging from "normal" to "emergency." The function then returns a dictionary detailing this status and the trigger elements for that status.

'Monitor function collects sensor'reading\_values', conducts a data classification through the `Classify` function, and maps the associated vital signs to their descriptors with the `VitalSignNames` function. If specific conditions ("Emergency", "Alert", or "Warning") are met, it records the related vital sign names within an output dictionary. 5. `VitalSignNames(vital\_sign\_numbers)`: This function accepts a series of vital sign numbers and translates them into vital sign descriptors based on the `vital\_sign\_mapping` dictionary, which is assumedly provided by the `getVitalSignMapping()` function.

This study used data from four patients to contrast the traditional threshold classification rule with the UADS scheme, a system designed to offer multi-tiered classifications based on threshold values. Table 3.11 showed a comparison between the typical binary threshold rule (using Threshold algorithm) and the suggested model, which seeks to achieve a multi-level classification stemming from the MLCTA method.

Patient	Total	Threshold approach		UADS model MLCTA			
	Data	Normal	Abnormal	Normal	Warning	Alert	Emergency
Patient 1	36001	3563	32438	12320	17853	5523	305
Patient 2	36492	4012	32480	10153	18997	6952	390
Patient 3	35245	3692	31553	10586	17556	6802	301

Table 3. 11: Comparison Threshold vs proposed MLCTA.

	-						
Patient 4	34256	1899	32357	10207	19214	4523	312

The results of this experiment demonstrate that multi-level classification performs effectively. Nevertheless, additional testing is needed to compare these findings. The objective of the research is to implement the simplest possible method, ensuring that straightforward techniques are thoroughly examined. Figure 3.19 illustrates a comparative analysis between binary classification and multi-tiered classification, employing two threshold approaches for this system model. The classification categories—warning, alert, and emergency—are broadly grouped under the term 'abnormal' for the sake of maintaining a binary-like classification structure. An observation derived from the chart reveals that proposed MLCTA multi-level classification techniques yield superior results.



Figure 3. 19: Threshold vs MLCTA classification approach

Observations indicate that the adjusted threshold offers improved classification results in distinguishing between normal and emergency data. In binary classification, an average normal data representation of 9% was observed across four patients, which then escalated to an average of 30%. Similarly, the trend was mirrored for abnormal classification, evident in the reduction from 91% to 70%. As depicted in Figure 3.20, the classification of abnormal data seemingly diminishes linearly when using the multilevel classification method as compared to the binary threshold (Threshold) classification method.



Figure 3. 20Figure 3.15: Comparison for abnormal data tendency (Threshold vs MLCTA)

#### 3.6.2 Mahalanobis Distance Calculation:

There are several simple steps to calculate Mahalanobis distance. First, gather data and ensure that it is in a multivariate format, with observations in rows and variables in columns. Next, calculate the mean value of the dataset, which will serve as the reference point for distance calculation. After that, obtain the covariance matrix of the variables to take into account their variation and correlation. Then, subtract the mean from each variable's value for each observation to centralise the data around the mean. Finally, compute the Mahalanobis distance using the inverted covariance matrix and the centralised data. The distance can be found by taking the square root of the transposed centralised value, then multiplying by the inverted covariance matrix, and then multiplying again by the centralised value itself.

- For each sensor  $S_i$ , calculated the mean vector  $\mu_i$  and covariance matrix  $C_i$  from dataset.

$$\mu_i = \frac{1}{k} \sum_{j=1}^k d_{ij}$$

$$C_i = \frac{1}{k-1} \sum_{j=1}^{k} (d_{ij} - \mu_i) (d_{ij} - \mu_i)^T$$

- Calculated the inverse of the covariance matrix  $C_i^{-1}$  for each sensor  $S_i$
- For each sensor  $S_{i}$ , mahalanobis distance  $MD_i$  calculated using the below formula.
$$MD_i = \sqrt{(d_i - \mu_i)^T C_i^{-1} (d_i - \mu_i)}$$

Where,

 $d_i$  is the vector measurements for sensor  $S_i$ 

 $\mu_i$  is the mean vector for sensor  $S_i$ 

 $C_i$  is the covariance matrix for sensor  $S_i$ 

- It is defined four threshold  $\delta_1, \delta_2, \delta_3$  and  $\delta_4$  for the mahalanobis distance corresponding to four alert levels
  - Level 1 (normal):  $MD \leq \delta_3$
  - Level 2 (warning):  $\delta_3 < MD \le \delta_2$
  - $\circ \quad \text{Level 3 (alert): } \delta_2 \ < MD \le \ \delta_1$
  - Level 4 (emergency):  $MD > \delta_1$

This experiment made use of data from 4 patients to compare the conventional threshold classification rule and the UADS scheme, which includes MD is called MDTA (Mahalanobis distance Threshold approach). If the classifiers solely sort situations into normal and emergency categories, the physician must personally review the data before making any decisions. The proposed model, which incorporates MD, yields improved outcomes when determining the severity of data criticality. Table 3.12 illustrates the comparison between the general threshold rule and the proposed model that has incorporated the MD.

Patient	Total	Threshold approach		UADS model (MDTA)			
	Data	Normal	Abnormal	Normal	Warning	Alert	Emergency
Patient 1	36001	3563	32438	13356	17123	5156	366
Patient 2	36492	4012	32480	11473	18212	6432	375
Patient 3	35245	3692	31553	11681	17235	5978	351
Patient 4	34256	1899	32357	10834	18124	4994	304

Table 3. 12Table 3.12: Comparison Threshold vs proposed MDTA

This finding suggests that the system can decrease the incidence of false alerts at the receiver's end. Our results haven't found a comparable study in the existing literature, so they

are compared with generalised medical observations. In certain healthcare systems, doctors personally calibrate the threshold values in an attempt to mitigate false alerts. However, in the proposed system, there's no need for any manual adjustments. Figure 3.21 illustrates that the proposed threshold method combined with MD delivers superior results for classifying normal and emergency data distributions. The assumption underpinning the use of the MDTA is that, aside from the normal data, all other pieces of data are treated as abnormal. This encompasses warning, alert, and emergency data.



Figure 3. 21: Threshold vs MDTA normal and abnormal classification

Figure 3.22 demonstrates how the combination of threshold and MD leads to an increase in the number of normal data classified, compared to the binary threshold method proposed earlier.



## Figure 3. 22: Comparison for normal data tendency Threshold vs MDTA

In the binary threshold classification, it was noted that an average of 91% abnormal data was observed across four patients. This average then decreased to around 67%. In the same manner, the pattern was reflected in the normal classification, as seen by the increase from 9% to 33%.





It has been noted that the proposed MLCTA and MDTA methods are utilised for multi-level classification of normal and emergency data. Furthermore, the data suggests that MDTA is more effective in detecting normal data compared to MLCTA in figure 3.23. Alternatively, figure 3.24 indicates that MLCTA outperforms MDTA in detecting abnormal data.



Figure 3. 24: Comparison between MLCTA and MDTA for abnormal data classification

### 3.6.3 Machine Learning Algorithms for Classification

In the proposed WBAN system, decision-making is conducted on edge devices, and the employment of both one-class SVM [71, 76, 116] and decision trees (C5.0) [72, 198] serves to provide a comprehensive basis for comparison with other classification methodologies like static and dynamic thresholds. The OCSVM is particularly proficient in anomaly detection within the high-dimensional data from WBAN sensors, offering efficient real-time processing crucial for edge computing. Its capability to discern health anomalies in complex data streams is a significant advantage. In contrast, decision trees present a transparent, rule-based classification approach, granting interpretability essential for healthcare decision-making.

### 3.6.3.1 One Class Support Vector Machine

OCSVM serves as an optimal anomaly detection solution within WBAN systems, aptly designed to highlight deviations signalling potential health risks. This is particularly pertinent in WBAN systems where the objective is identifying atypical readings among known vital sign parameters. OCSVM leverages a hyperplane approach to create a distinct separation between 'normal' sensor readings and outliers, effectively marking a border in the voluminous data retrieved from WBAN sensors. This differentiation expedites the identification and response to variations in vital signs. The hyperplane model is notably adept at managing the high-

dimensional WBAN data, making it a clear choice for system implementation. The hyperplane approach, being less computationally intensive, is more suitable for the real-time data processing required in continuous health monitoring. Additionally, the hyperplane model offers a balance between simplicity and effectiveness, which is important considering the high-dimensional nature of WBAN data. This model is not only easier to implement and maintain on edge devices but also aligns well with the data distribution characteristics typically observed in WBAN systems. While the hypersphere model might provide a more nuanced fit for tightly clustered data, the hyperplane approach adequately meets our system's needs, effectively distinguishing between normal operation and anomalies, and ensuring efficient operation within the constraints of edge computing in WBAN environments.

The goal of the OCSVM is to identify a hyperplane within the feature space that maintains the greatest possible distance from the origin. This ensures that there's a noticeable distinction between usual operational data and potential outliers. The mathematical expression for the OCSVM is as follows:

$$min_{\omega,\delta,\rho}\left(\frac{1}{2}||\omega||^2 + \frac{1}{\nu nk}\sum_{i=1}^n\sum_{j=1}^k\xi_{ij}\right)$$

Where  $\omega$  represents the weight vector of the hyperplane, and  $\xi_{ij}$  are slack variables associated with each data point  $d_{ij}$ . The term  $\rho$  denotes the bias of the hyperplane in the feature space. v is a regularisation parameter that controls the trade-off between maximising the margin and minimising misclassification.

The model is subject to the following constraints:

$$(\omega. \emptyset(d_{ij})) \ge \rho - \xi_{ij}, \xi_{ij} \ge 0$$

In these constraints,  $\phi(d_{ij})$  signifies a mapping function that transforms the WBAN data into a higher-dimensional feature space, facilitating the linear separation of data points.

#### 3.6.3.2 Decision Tree (C5.0)

The C5.0 decision tree algorithm is utilised for the effective classification and interpretation of data. This algorithm is recognised for its interpretability and its ability to handle complex,

non-linear relationships in data. The C5.0 algorithm forms a decision tree, where every node denotes a decision based on vital sign features, and branches represent the decision outcomes. The operation starts from the tree's root, which includes all the data from the WBAN system. To construct the tree, the first step involves the selection of a feature that differentiates the data into distinct categories most effectively. This selection is based on the principle of information gain, which quantifies how well a feature divides data into groups determined by the target variable. In this scenario, the target variable might consist of categories such as 'normal', 'alert', 'warning', and 'critical'.

Define the Information Gain (IG) for a feature A as:

$$IG(S,A) = H(S) - \sum_{v \in Values(A)} \frac{|s_v|}{|s|} H(S_v)$$

Where entropy H(S) is calculated as

$$H(S) = -\sum_{c \in Values(A)} p(c) log_2 p(c)$$

Where p(c) is the proportion of elements in class c within the set S.

At each node of the tree, select the feature A that maximise IG(S, A) to split the dataset. This process is recursively applied to each subset until specific stopping criteria, such as maximum tree depth or minimum node size, are satisfied. To classify a new observation  $d_{new}$ , traverse the tree from the root to a leaf node based on the feature values of  $d_{new}$  with the leaf node providing the predicted classification.

As previously stated, a considerable volume of patient data is being used for this experiment. Initially, it is used 100 patient data sets, spanning over 24 hours each, for the trials. But now, it is expanded this duration to 40 hours to extract more insights from the machine learning algorithm. This extended time frame will also help us test the proposed threshold algorithms. Table 3.13 displays the results of the classifications obtained from the experiments. Five performance criteria were utilized to evaluate their effectiveness. These include accuracy, sensitivity or recall, specificity, precision, and the F1 score. The algorithms assessed included the Multi-Level Classification Threshold Algorithm (MLCTA), Decision Tree (C5.0), Dynamic Threshold, One-Class Support Vector Machine (OCSVM), and Mahalanobis Distance Threshold Approach (MDTA).

Algorithms	Accuracy	Sensitivity	Specificity	Precision	F1 score
MLCTA	96.19%	96.50%	91.00%	99.29%	97.87%
Decision Tree	91.91%	92.00%	87.50%	99.04%	95.39%
Dynamic threshold	90.55%	90.50%	91.00%	99.03%	94.57%
OCSVM	87.96%	88.00%	93.00%	98.61%	93.01%
MDTA	86.19%	86.50%	83.00%	98.09%	91.93%

Table 3. 13Table 3.13: Evaluating different approaches through performance metrics.

The results revealed that MLCTA exhibited superior performance with an accuracy of 96.19%, sensitivity of 96.50%, and an F1 score of 97.87%. These high metrics are indicative of MLCTA's robustness in handling multi-level classifications and its rule-based nature, which allows for granular and tailored analysis.

The Decision Tree algorithm followed with competitive precision (99.04%) and a commendable F1 score of 95.39%, underscoring its capacity to manage complex relationships in the data effectively. However, it showed lower sensitivity and specificity, which might be attributed to potential overfitting or the lack of handling noisy data.

The Dynamic Threshold method demonstrated balanced performance, notably matching the MLCTA in specificity (91.00%). This balance underscores its potential to adapt well to patient data trends, though it may not capture acute anomalies as effectively as MLCTA.

OCSVM specialised in outlier detection; however, it scored lower in sensitivity and accuracy, reflecting a potential trade-off in detecting normal behaviour versus outliers. Its higher specificity (93.00%) suggests a strong ability to identify true negatives.

Lastly, MDTA showed the lowest scores across most metrics but maintained high precision (98.09%). This might be due to its reliance on the assumption of a multivariate normal distribution, which may not always align with real-world medical data characteristics.

The bar chart in Figure 3.25 highlights varying algorithm performances on key metrics. Accuracy spans a wide range, with MLCTA outperforming others, suggesting its robustness in correctly identifying true positives and negatives. In contrast, precision is comparably uniform across algorithms, indicating a consensus on the true positive rate. Sensitivity varies, with MLCTA and the Decision Tree demonstrating heightened ability to detect true positives. Specificity sees OCSVM excel, pointing to its strength in confirming true negatives. The F1 score consolidates these insights, with MLCTA leading, exemplifying its balanced precision and sensitivity.



Figure 3. 25: Evaluation of performance by all algorithms.

The experimental output is derived from the data listed in Table 3.13 and illustrated in Bar Chart 3.25. The overarching aim here is to use this data to make informed decisions concerning edge devices. Keep in mind that this scenario requires consideration of additional variables, primarily computational complexity. Computational complexity [199, 200] can substantially dictate the efficiency of the system model in an edge device environment, which is typically resource-limited and where efficiency is vitally important. Dealing with such complexities calls for the use of theory and presumptions. A matrix simplifies comprehension of the system model's behaviour under various conditions. The elements of this matrix receive rankings according to their potential impact on the system's overall performance. The ranking offers a clear hierarchy of factors, each graphically demonstrating their influence, supporting effective strategic tailoring to optimise system performance.

Let's assume there are *n* data points (patients), each with *m* features (vital signs), and the focus is on evaluating the complexity of classifying a new data point using each algorithm. Two primary measures to evaluate computational complexity are time complexity (Big O notation) and space complexity (Big O notation). Table 3.14 provides an overview of the computational complexity. Let's presume an order for time and space complexity, along with the rationale for it.

				Executi	Space	
Ra	Algorith	Classification	Training	on	Comple	
nk	m	Complexity	Complexity	Time	xity	Reasoning
1	MLCTA	0 <sub>(n)</sub>	Not Applicable	Fastest	Least	No training phase; simple rule application; and minimal space for rules.
2	Dynamic Threshol d	0 <sub>(n)</sub>	Not Applicable	Faster	Modera te	No training phase; quick due to incremental updates; moderate space for thresholds.
3	Decision Tree	0(m.n.log(n)	0(m.n.log(r	Modera te to Fast	Modera te	Requires construction of the tree; balanced trees offer better execution efficiency.
4	OCSVM	0(m.sv)	$O_{(n^2)}$ to $O_{(n^3)}$	Modera te	Modera te to Most	Training involves complex quadratic programming; and storage for support vectors.
5	MDTA	0 <sub>(m<sup>3</sup>)</sub>	0 <sub>(m<sup>3</sup>)</sub>	Longest	Most	Intensive matrix operations both in training and classification; substantial space is needed.

It's clear now that MLCTA is the most efficient with respect to both execution time and space complexity. It delivers the quickest execution, making it a prime choice for real-time processing in systems with limited resources, such as WBANs. The dynamic threshold is a close second, providing a good compromise between efficiency and performance. Although the decision tree, OCSVM, and MDTA are indeed effective, they show relatively higher computational complexities. This makes them more appropriate in situations where there is less concern about computational resource constraints.

#### 3.7 Hybrid Approach for Anomaly Detection

In the context of WBANs, where resources such as processing power and energy are constrained, the integration of multiple techniques, such as threshold-based algorithms, machine learning models, and statistical methods, offers a comprehensive solution. These hybrid approaches allow for real-time processing of vital sign data directly at the edge devices, minimising the need for data transmission to central servers and reducing latency. Moreover, they enhance the system's adaptability to varying patient conditions, accommodating both routine monitoring and early detection of anomalies. By combining the strengths of different algorithms, hybrid approaches deliver accurate and context-aware results, ensuring that critical health events are promptly identified while conserving computational resources. This approach optimises the trade-off between computational complexity and accuracy, making it well-suited for the resource-constrained environment of WBANs, ultimately improving the quality of healthcare services and patient outcomes.

The incorporation of linear regression [201] into the healthcare monitoring system represents a strategic enhancement designed to elevate the system's performance and decision-making capabilities. By leveraging linear regression, the system gains the capacity to detect subtle yet crucial trends and deviations in patient vital sign data, thereby significantly improving sensitivity. This enhancement allows for risk stratification, enabling the system to differentiate between low-risk and high-risk patients based on their unique vital sign profiles. Personalised care becomes attainable through patient-specific models and optimising healthcare interventions and treatment plans. Moreover, the inclusion of linear regression contributes to a reduction in false alarms by considering the context and trends in vital sign data, leading to more precise alerts. This precision, in turn, facilitates the efficient allocation of healthcare resources, ensuring that interventions are directed toward patients in need. Lastly, linear regression offers valuable decision support by quantifying the impact of vital sign changes on patient outcomes, empowering clinicians with data-driven insights to enhance patient care decisions. In summary, the integration of linear regression enhances the healthcare monitoring system's ability to detect and respond to vital sign variations, ultimately yielding improved patient outcomes and resource utilisation. Figure 3.26 presents our proposed system model composed of five sensors that measure vital signs such as oxygen saturation (SpO2), body temperature, blood pressure, respiration rate, and heart rate/pulse. This system primarily employs various methods, particularly threshold methods, to identify emergency events in the incoming sensor data. Upon detection of an emergency, we use a continuously updated regression prediction model to analyse the abnormal instance and determine whether the patient is nearing a critical state or if a sensor is presenting incorrect data. For this experiment, we utilised similar data.



Figure 3. 26: Block diagram of the proposed hybrid system

Given the array of sensors  $S = [S_i | i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n]$  the proposed WBAN system, each sensor  $S_i$  records a series of data points  $d_{ij}$  over time. It aims to predict the current value of a specific sensor reading using a linear regression model that exploits the spatial correlation among different sensor readings. The model for predicting the value of a particular attribute (sensor reading) at the  $j^t h$  instance for the  $i^t h$  sensor is formulated as:

$$\hat{d}_{ij} = a_0 + a_1 d_{1j} + a_2 d_{2j} + \dots + a_n d_{nj}$$

where,

- $\hat{d}_{ij}$  is the predicted value for sensor  $S_i$  at instance j
- a<sub>0</sub>, a<sub>1</sub>, a<sub>2</sub> ... ... a<sub>n</sub> are the coefficients of the regression model (weights), representing the influence of each sensor's readings.
- The coefficients a<sub>k</sub> for each sensor S<sub>k</sub> are obtained during the training phase and are calculated as:

$$a_k = \frac{\sum (d_{ki} - \bar{A}_k)(d_{ij} - \bar{A}_l)}{\sum (d_{ki} - \overline{A}_k)^2}$$

Where,

- $\bar{A}_k$  and  $\bar{A}_i$  are the average values of the attributes for sensors  $S_k$  and  $S_i$  respectively.
- The numerator is the covariance of sensor readings S<sub>k</sub> and S<sub>i</sub> and the denominator is the variance of sensor S<sub>k</sub>

Once the model is computed from the training data, it is used to predict the value of each attribute  $\hat{d}_{ij}$  at instance *j*. Afterward, the predicted value  $\hat{d}_{ij}$  is compared with the actual value  $d_{ij}$  to determine if it falls within a small margin of error. This comparison helps classify the readings as normal or abnormal, which is crucial for monitoring health status and detecting anomalies in the WBAN system.

The run times for the threshold method and linear regression are less than those of other algorithms [202]. Threshold algorithms are employed to identify abnormalities, while linear regression is used to estimate current values, which can then be compared to the real values. The proposed system that utilises linear regression for detecting anomalies is represented in Algorithm 2.

Algorithm 2 Emergency detection using Hybrid approach (Hybrid) Input: A set of patient vital sign data Output: A classification result indicating a status Procedure: Predictor () begin Threshold(value, lower\_threshold, upper\_threshold): return value < lower threshold OR value > upper threshold Classify(sensor data): emergency vital signs = empty list() for i in range(1, num\_vital\_signs + 1): value = sensor data[i] lower threshold = getLower(i) upper threshold = getUpper(i) if Threshold(value, lower\_threshold, upper\_threshold): append\_to\_list(emergency\_vital\_signs, i) end if end for if length(emergency\_vital\_signs) > 0: return {"status": "Emergency", "vital\_signs": emergency\_vital\_signs} else: return {"status": "Normal", "vital\_signs": empty\_list()} end if LinearR(sensor data, coefficients, intercept): selected sensors = [sensor data[i] for i in range(1, num selected sensors + 1)] predicted value = 0 for i in range(1, num\_selected\_sensors + 1): predicted\_value += coefficients[i] \* selected\_sensors[i] end for predicted value += intercept return predicted\_value Monitor(patient data): sensor data = patient data threshold result = Classify(sensor data) if threshold result["status"] == "Emergency": coefficients = [0, coefficient heart rate, coefficient blood pressure, coefficient\_respiratory\_rate, coefficient\_temperature, coefficient\_oxygen\_saturation, coefficient\_pulse] intercept = trained intercept linear\_regression\_result = LinearR(sensor\_data, coefficients, intercept) linear\_regression\_threshold = 0.0 if linear\_regression\_result >= linear\_regression\_threshold: # Perform actions for Emergency (Using Linear Regression) else: # Perform actions for Normal (Using Linear Regression) end if else: # Perform actions for Normal (Threshold Algorithm) end if end

Figure 3.27 displays the alarms as red vertical lines, with various vital signs each represented in a distinct colour. A legend for these colours is placed in the top corner.



Figure 3. 27: Raised alarms for proposed Threshold approach (all physiological signs) Salem et al. [104] improved the detection rate by employing SVM and logistic regression. They used almost identical physiological parameters for their study as those used in the proposed optimised early detection algorithm. The authors referred to their methodology as the 'Detection algorithm,' which is the term used for their approach throughout the remaining sections of the paper. The Salem algorithm, demonstrated in the system model, was tested and found to perform almost similarly to the threshold algorithm, as shown in Figure 3.28.



Figure 3. 28: Raised alarms for proposed Detection algorithm [104]

Kumar et al. [114] introduced a method of anomaly detection that makes use of all physiological signs to better identify abnormal data. This method was named the 'Anomaly Detection Algorithm' and is mentioned consistently throughout the remainder of the section. In addition to the algorithms proposed, Salem's [104] and Kumar's [118] methods are also analysed through experimental evaluation of classification.

Table 3.15 presents a comprehensive comparison of various algorithms in terms of their performance metrics in the proposed model. The MLCTA using the threshold rule-based algorithm demonstrates superior performance with an accuracy of 96.19%, a high sensitivity of 96.50%, and an impressive precision rate of 99.29%, leading to an F1 score of 97.87%.

Despite its relatively higher false positive rate (FPR) of 9.00%, it outperforms other algorithms in accuracy and sensitivity. The decision tree algorithm shows commendable results with an accuracy of 91.91% and a slightly higher FPR of 12.50%, suggesting a trade-off between specificity and sensitivity. The dynamic threshold approach that used a moving average method with an accuracy of 90.55% and an FPR equal to MLCTA offers balanced sensitivity and specificity, both at 90.50% and 91.00%, respectively, indicating its effectiveness in distinguishing between normal and abnormal readings. The OCSVM algorithm, while having the lowest accuracy at 87.96%, exhibits the best specificity of 93.00% and the lowest FPR of 7.00%, making it particularly useful in reducing false alarms. Lastly, the MDTA shows the least favourable performance with an accuracy of 86.19% and the highest FPR of 17.00%, which might limit its applicability in scenarios where false positives are a critical concern. This comparative analysis underscores the importance of selecting the appropriate algorithm for WBAN systems based on the specific requirements of accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, and the acceptable level of false positive rates.

Method	Accuracy	Sensitivity	Specificity	Precision	F1 score	FPR
MLCTA	96.19%	96.50%	91.00%	99.29%	97.87%	9.00%
Dynamic Threshold	90.55%	90.50%	91.00%	99.03%	94.57%	9.00%
Decision Tree	91.91%	92.00%	87.50%	99.04%	95.39%	12.50%
OCSVM	87.96%	88.00%	93.00%	98.61%	93.01%	7.00%
Hybrid (linear)	91.15%	92.45%	90.05%	99.56%	95.60%	8.00%
Detection [104]	89.64%	91.30%	90.10%	96.50%	94.60%	10.60%
Anomaly [114]	89.90%	90.80%	89.60%	97.80%	94.20%	11.50%

Table 3. 15: Performance comparison for all algorithms

Based on the provided performance metrics, every technique is ranked from 1 to 7, where 1 indicates the best score and 7 signifies the least favourable one. Marks are given out, with 7 points handed to the top scorer and 1 point to the one with the lowest score, and then these points are combined to establish the overall ranking. Here's how the adjusted calculation looks. For every metric, marks will be distributed according to rank (7 points for the leader, 6 points for the second position, and so on). After this, the points for each technique get

accumulated to provide the ultimate score. Since a lower FPR is considered superior, the ranking for FPR will be reversed.

Figure 3.29 presents a bar chart illustrating the classification accuracy of several anomaly detection methods. The vertical axis represents the accuracy as a percentage, clearly quantifying the effectiveness of each method in correctly classifying instances.

The 'MLCTA' method outperforms others with an impressive accuracy of 96.19%, indicating its superior capability in this context. Following are the 'dynamic threshold' and 'decision tree' methods with accuracies of 90.55% and 91.91%, respectively, showcasing robust performances. The 'OCSVM' method exhibits a slightly lower accuracy of 87.96%, which could suggest a need for further optimisation when applied to the same dataset.



Figure 3. 29: Accuracy comparison by all methods

The 'hybrid (linear)' method, which likely combines linear regression with other classification techniques, achieves an accuracy of 91.15%, signifying a competitive and effective approach. Lastly, the methods labelled 'Detection [104]' and 'Anomaly [114]' have accuracies of 89.64% and 89.90%, respectively. These may refer to specific models or techniques referenced in the study and demonstrate commendable accuracy, albeit slightly lower than the leading methods.





Figure 3.30 displays a concise comparison of the precision achieved by various classification methods. Hybrid (linear) leads with the highest precision at 99.56%, followed closely by MLCTA at 99.29%. The methods exhibit high precision across the board, indicating a strong positive predictive value in their respective classifications.

Figure 3.31 shows the FPR for each method, where lower values are indicative of fewer false alarms. OCSVM has the lowest FPR at 7.00%, suggesting it is the most conservative in terms of incorrectly labelling negative instances as positive. Decision Tree has the highest FPR at 12.50%, pointing to a higher rate of false positives in its classification process.



Figure 3. 31: Figure 3.26: False Positive Rate (FPR) Across Methods

Based on the provided performance metrics, every technique is ranked from 1 to 7, where 1 indicates the best score and 7 signifies the least favourable one. Marks are given out, with 7 points handed to the top scorer and 1 point to the one with the lowest score. These points are then combined to establish the overall ranking. Here's how the adjusted calculation looks. For every metric, marks will be distributed according to rank (7 points for the leader, 6 points for the second position, and so on). After this, the points for each technique get accumulated to provide the ultimate score. Since a lower FPR is considered superior, the ranking for FPR will be reversed.

Based on the performance metrics analysed on table 3.16, the MLCTA has demonstrated the most robust performance, leading the table with the highest total score. This reflects its superior accuracy and sensitivity, as well as excellent F1 scores, indicating its effectiveness in a WBAN context. The hybrid (linear) model also shows strong performance, particularly excelling in precision, which suggests its potential for delivering highly accurate predictions when it comes to continuous monitoring.

							Total
Method	Accuracy	Sensitivity	Specificity	Precision	F1 Score	FPR	Score
MLCTA	7	7	4	6	7	3	34
Hybrid (Linear)	4	4	3	7	5	5	28
Dynamic Threshold	5	5	5	5	3	4	27
Decision Tree	6	6	1	4	4	1	22
OCSVM	1	1	7	2	1	6	18
Anomaly [114]	3	2	2	3	6	1	17
Detection [104]	2	3	6	1	2	2	16

Table 3. 16: Comparative Performance Analysis of Predictive Models

The dynamic threshold method presents a balanced performance across the board, indicating its reliability and adaptability in various scenarios within the WBAN framework. On the other hand, the Decision Tree method, while demonstrating good accuracy and sensitivity, falls short in specificity, which may limit its application in environments where false positives are a concern.

OCSVM, although it ranks lowest in accuracy and sensitivity, stands out in specificity, suggesting its utility in scenarios where the correct rejection of non-events is crucial. The anomaly [114] and detection [104] methods follow closely, with moderate scores across the

metrics. However, they seem to struggle in certain areas, such as precision and the F1 score for detection [104] and sensitivity for anomaly [114].

The ranking methodology, which inversely correlates the FPR to the scoring, highlights the importance of not only correctly identifying true health events but also minimising false alarms, which is critical in patient monitoring systems.

Figure 3.32 displays the ROC curve for MLCTA. The ROC curve is depicted to illustrate the correlation between TPR, or sensitivity, and FPR, with TPR plotted along the Y-axis and FPR represented on the X-axis.



ROC MLCTA

The AUC is a measure of the algorithm's ability to correctly classify the health states as 'normal' or 'critical'. With an AUC of 97%, the MLCTA model demonstrates outstanding performance, indicating a high degree of separability between the health states.

Figure 3. 32: ROC curve for MLCTA

This high AUC value suggests that the MLCTA has a high likelihood of correctly distinguishing between different health conditions, making it an excellent tool for predictive analysis in WBAN systems. The ROC curve's steep ascent and plateau near the top-left corner of the graph signify that the MLCTA achieves high sensitivity without a correspondingly high rate of false positives, which is crucial in medical applications where the cost of a false alarm can be high.

#### 3.8 Summary

The exploration of predictive models within WBANs has culminated in pivotal findings. The performance analysis of a suite of algorithms—including the novel Multi-Level Classification Threshold Algorithm (MLCTA), Dynamic Threshold, Decision Tree, OCSVM, and a novel hybrid linear regression model—has illuminated their respective capabilities and limitations in the nuanced domain of health monitoring.

The MLCTA emerges as a standout with its innovative approach to multi-level classification, showcasing an impressive amalgamation of accuracy and precision. However, its rigidity and a one-size-fits-all thresholding strategy may not fully capture the dynamic and individual variability present in physiological data streams. The novel hybrid model, which synergizes linear regression with threshold-based classification, boasts commendable precision, yet its reliance on linear relationships may curtail its predictive fidelity amidst the complex physiological interplays.

While decision trees and OCSVM each offer distinctive advantages in contending with nonlinearities and enhancing specificity, there is an explicit and critical need for more adaptive and patient-centric models. The compatibility of these models with the computational restrictions of edge devices in WBANs also warrants meticulous attention.

The aspiration to refine the MLCTA is propelled by the intent to evolve this robust framework into a more adaptable and personalised health monitoring tool. The forthcoming chapter introduces a novel iteration of the MLCTA, integrated with an innovative pain assessment and escalation mechanism. This advancement seeks to transcend the MLCTA's current constraints by embedding individualised thresholds and real-time adaptability into its structure.

The integration of such a groundbreaking tool aims to elevate the WBAN's acuity in detecting and responding to acute pain manifestations, thereby augmenting patient care and outcomes. By tailoring the MLCTA to encompass subjective pain assessments, the model is poised to transform into a more empathic and precise conduit for patient care, echoing the ethos of personalised medicine.

Energy consumption plays a crucial role in such a WBAN environment, particularly at the edge, where the choice of algorithms is keenly scrutinised for their appropriateness. The subsequent chapter delves further into the appropriation of real clinical scenarios, incorporating a pain assessment and escalation tool to enhance its integration into the clinical setting. Additionally, the chapter investigates adaptive sampling methodologies for data reduction. This approach aims to diminish the volume of data transmitted to the cloud, thereby conserving more energy and enhancing the longevity of the system.

## Chapter 4

# 4. Local Emergency Detections Enhancement

## 4.1 Introduction

In WBANs, a critical concern for most healthcare applications is managing power consumption to keep the system operational. The primary purpose of these systems is to safeguard patient health, making energy conservation indispensable for maintaining system longevity as much as possible. Concurrently, it's vitally important that the proposed solutions are clinically justified. Various strategies to conserve energy for WBANs in healthcare applications have been discussed in the academic literature. The core strategies identified include optimising radio utilisation, reducing data, implementing sleep/wake routines, utilising energy-efficient routing, and managing battery depletion. Adaptive sampling [31, 140–148] is highlighted as one of the most viable data reduction techniques for preserving energy. Numerous related works featuring these strategies have been reviewed. In WBAN healthcare applications, the sampling rate is a crucial element to manipulate based on the severity of a patient's condition. Since a patient's health can fluctuate rapidly, the sampling rate needs to be adjusted accordingly to respond to potential changes efficiently. Patient vital signs can shift from normal to emergency conditions. The speed of these changes can be either very fast or slow, depending on the specific circumstances of the patient's condition.

In practical medicine, there is a standard range for physiological signs, which can vary due to various factors, including demographic and geographic differences. Utilising these established ranges, a widely used scoring system in medical practice, known as the EWS [191], has been developed. Leveraging this scoring system and its associated ranges, there is a proposal to develop a pain assessment tool and an escalation process. These are intended to be incorporated into the MLCTA (algorithm 1.D from chapter 3.6) for modification to better adapt it to clinical condition

Vigilant patient monitoring is essential for healthcare professionals to evaluate the health status of patients, particularly in areas like the intensive care unit where individuals are battling potentially life-threatening conditions. In such settings, continuous and detailed observation of physiological signs using a variety of medical instruments, coupled with professional expertise, allows an immediate response to any changes in a patient's health. However, a significant reduction in this thorough monitoring is observed when patients are transferred from these high-intensity areas, such as intensive care or operating theatres, to a more conventional ward. In this setting, the monitoring of health parameters is less frequent and covers fewer aspects due to an increased ratio of patients to healthcare professionals. Key health evaluations, like those carried out by a nurse every six hours, may not detect deterioration that occurs between these checks. Diseases such as sepsis, which remains a leading cause of death in hospitals and can progress unpredictably, concealing early signs, require rapid detection. Swift diagnosis and effective management of these conditions greatly improve the chances of favourable patient outcomes. A global research project was carried out in 2011 to analyse postoperative death rates among patients who had non-cardiac surgery. The research gathered information from around 500 hospitals in 30 European countries. A total of 46,000+ patients participated in this study. The findings indicated that out of these 1864, around 4% of patients died during their hospital stay. Interestingly, it was found that around 70%+ patients who died never received critical care at any point postsurgery." Moreover, around 44% of patients who died after being admitted to critical care passed away after being relocated from the critical care unit to a regular ward [210].

#### 4.2 Related Works

Churpek et al. (210) carried out a research project in which they analysed the effectiveness of various machine learning techniques against a modified early warning score (MEWS) to forecast possible patient decline within hospital medical-surgical units. They found that the respiratory rate and heart rate were the most crucial predictive factors for the random forest model.

In the context of diminished direct supervision during the night, medical trainees are necessary to accurately judge patients potentially facing clinical instability and bring matters to the attention of supervising practitioners. Negligence in escalating such situations contributes to unfavourable patient safety occurrences [205]. The paper discovered that the implementation of the EoC protocol standardised resident escalation during unsupervised periods, enhancing the perception of patient safety from the residents' perspective and

increasing confidence among interns to escalate. Faye et al. [203] Faye and her team conducted a study using a method to assess heart rate variability in infants experiencing chronic pain. They separated these infants into groups of low and high pain. This study explored the correlation between chronic pain and various cardiovascular data using average heart rate, respiration rate, and blood oxygen saturation, as well as the high-frequency variability index. The investigation highlighted notable differences in heart rate variability between the two groups, while other vital signs remained steady. The study suggested that the high-frequency variability index could be a reliable tool to measure pain, demonstrating a high level of sensitivity and specificity. Though correlations between changes in vital signs and pain have been reported, fluctuations in these signs can also be linked to non-pain emotions (like hunger or fear) or an underlying illness [204]. Clinical escalation protocols and rapid response systems (RRS) are designed to mitigate the "failure to rescue" rates in deteriorating hospitalized patients, either due to their medical condition or a treatment complication. The objective is to discern physiological anomalies (the afferent arm) and activate an effective response (the efferent arm), which could include the patient's primary carers, nurse practitioners, or a specialised rapid response team. Escalation protocols use electronic observation systems to implement a specific healthcare strategy. This mechanism prompts automatic escalations for less experienced doctors and certain medical teams based on a predetermined scale. The introduction of this health strategy led to an increase in escalations, significantly adding to the time needed for review and management monthly. The volume of patients escalated within a day has doubled per month, with a noticeable rise in patients escalated multiple times in a single day. [206]. Lastly, Hugo et al.'s [209] study exhibits a limitation, as the moving average filter-based algorithm might fail to identify an emergency if the time-monitoring window does not capture a variation.

'Neill et. al. [213] identified a range of obstacles and enablers to the increase in care according to the EWS protocols. The primary challenges consist of inconsistencies, shortage of resources, absence of responsibility, behaviours of the Rapid Response Team (RRT), apprehension, organisational hierarchy, heightened conflict, overconfidence, lack of confidence, and patient variability. The key drivers, on the other hand, encompass responsibility, uniformity, availability of resources, behaviours of RRT, expertise, supplemental assistance, permission to escalate care, ability to cross barriers, and clinical experience.

133

In the context of the obstacles and enablers to care escalation as delineated by Neill et al. [213], the development of a WBAN system with an integrated predictive model has the potential to significantly mitigate many of the identified challenges within healthcare settings. By providing consistent and accurate monitoring of patient vitals, such a system addresses the inconsistency issue and optimises the use of scarce healthcare resources.

The predictive nature of the WBAN model is designed to reinforce responsibility across healthcare teams by offering clear indicators for patient status, which can reduce ambiguity and foster decisive action. This is particularly beneficial in scenarios that involve the Rapid Response Team (RRT), where the timely and precise data provided by the WBAN system can inform and expedite appropriate interventions.

Moreover, the predictive model within the WBAN system can contribute to reducing apprehension among healthcare providers by offering objective data that supports clinical decisions, thus helping to navigate the complexities of organisational hierarchies and interprofessional dynamics. It can also diminish conflict and the paradox of overconfidence or lack of confidence by providing a reliable basis for escalating care.

The WBAN model's utility extends to facilitating the escalation of care by empowering clinicians with real-time data and trend analysis, which are critical in high-stakes environments where the ability to act swiftly can have profound implications for patient outcomes. The system's design allows it to integrate seamlessly into the workflow, aiding in overcoming barriers to care and enhancing the overall capacity for clinical response.

By capitalising on these strengths, the WBAN system, with its predictive analytics capability, emerges as a key driver in healthcare, aligning with the enablers of care escalation. It underscores the importance of leveraging technology to augment clinical expertise, streamline the escalation process, and ultimately contribute to the delivery of high-quality, responsive patient care.

## 4.3 Early Emergency Detection

The same WBAN model is examined, wherein a Modified Adaptive Local Emergency Detection (MALED) algorithm is proposed to enhance the precision of local emergency detection and inform clinical decisions. The recommended model, as demonstrated in Figure 4.1, consists of five sensors to measure key vital signs: oxygen saturation, body temperature, blood pressure, respiration rate, and heart rate. It is composed of three units: a data processing unit, an early warning scoring unit, and a decision-making unit.



#### Figure 4. 1: Block diagram of proposed system model for MALED

The sensors begin recording at their maximum sampling rates, which eventually adapt to system dynamics. An initial emergency is expected to be detected through sensor samples based on predefined healthy vital sign ranges. Various local emergency detection methods have been adopted to provide early alarms in this system model.

Information is sent to the scoring unit once an emergency is detected. This unit then forwards the data to the decision-making unit for further analysis. An adaptive sampling request is sent to customise the sampling rate based on the assessment situation. The decision-making unit then analyses the emergency details, carrying out fault isolation before deciding between the states of severe, moderate, and normal. The proposed methods aim to assist, not replace, immediate human clinical attention.

It should be noted that a standard WBAN gathers sizable data amounts and sends them periodically to the coordinator. This period adjusts based on the patient's medical condition. However, concerns arise due to the volume of the data and the potential for an event to occur between samples. The main goal is to identify emergency data from routinely collected data, incorporating any additional emergency data from intervening periods. An 'emergency event' is defined by data differing from expected ranges, and it's vital to identify this 'emergency data' to determine patient risk levels and aid in clinical decision-making. There are multiple methods to detect these deviations, which is the focus of the experiments in this section. This approach not only aids emergency identification but also conserves power. Figure 4.2 presents a flow diagram illustrating the proposed system model for this experiment.



Figure 4. 2: Process flow of the work

## 4.3.1 Clinical Consideration- News and Pain Assessment Tool

To medically evaluate this experiment, the number of suggested studies was examined, and several complexities, including processing time, computational complexity, and cost, were

taken into account. Despite these considerations, the perspective of medical practitioners remains the most critical. In this regard, the NEWS [191], a standard for evaluating the severity of acute illness in the NHS proposed by the Royal College of Physicians, plays a crucial role in many parts of this chapter.

The proposed Early Warning System (EWS), also known as NEWS, represents a practical approach frequently used in hospitals and pre-hospital care. It has four trigger levels, indicating the need for a clinical alert and necessitating a clinician's assessment based on the NEWS [191] scoring system:

- LOW score: a total score of 1-4
- A single red score: a score of 3 for any individual physiological parameters
- Medium score: a total score of 5-6
- High score: a total score of 7 or more

These trigger levels must be treated with urgency and require a clinical response, with expected actions as follows:

• A low NEWS score (1-4) necessitates a prompt assessment by medical staff, typically a registered nurse.

• A single red score (3 in a single parameter) is unusual and needs to be assessed by a doctor.

• A medium NEWS score (5–6) requires urgent assessment and a determination regarding the need for critical care.

• A high NEWS score (7 or above) necessitates immediate assessments and patient transfer to a high-dependency care area.

NEW score	Clinical risk	Response	
Aggregate score 0–4	Low	Ward-based response	
Red score Score of 3 in any individual parameter	Low-medium	Urgent ward-based response*	
Aggregate score 5–6	Medium	Key threshold for urgent response*	
Aggregate score 7 or more	High	Urgent or emergency response**	

Figure 4.3 depicts the thresholds and trigger system of NEWS.

\* Response by a clinician or team with competence in the assessment and treatment of acutely ill patients and in recognising when the escalation of care to a critical care team is appropriate.

\*\*The response team must also include staff with critical care skills, including airway management.

Pain Score – Record at rest & on movement							
Asleep A	0	1-3	4-6	7-10			
	No Pain	Mild Pain	Moderate Pain	Severe Pain			
Faces Scale Score	۲	۲	8				
Ladder Score	0	1-3	4-6	7-10			
Behaviour	* Normal activity * No ↓movement * Happy	<ul> <li>* Rubbing affected area</li> <li>* Decreased movement</li> <li>* Neutral expression</li> <li>* Able to play/talk normally</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>* Protective of affected area</li> <li>* ↓ movement/quiet</li> <li>* Complaining of pain</li> <li>* Consolable crying</li> <li>* Grimaces when affected part moved/touched</li> </ul>	* No movement or defensive of affected part * Looking frightened * Very quiet * Restless/unsettled * Complaining of lots of pain * Inconsolable crying			

Figure 4. 3: NEWS thresholds and triggers

Pain Assessment Tool adapted for use by The College of Emergency Medicine Best Practice Guideline Management of Pain in Children 2013

Figure 4. 4: Pain score [191]

### 4.3.2 Local Emergency Detection

Within this system, each sensor has a specified normal range, defined by a lower boundary  $\gamma_i^l$  and an upper boundary  $\gamma_i^u$ . If a sensor reading falls outside this normal range, it is identified as an urgent emergency signal. The system features an adjustable, event-driven sample time interval that regularly checks for any deterioration in a patient's condition. When such potential emergencies are indicated by vital sign readings, the NEWS algorithm is applied. The NEWS score, which is referred to as *SC*, sets its initial conditions at zero as  $SC = 0 = SC_a$ , otherwise known as  $SC_a$  (adaptive score). This adaptive score is designed to be particularly patient-specific, meaning it can dynamically adapt based on the patient's medical history and their current health status.

Let's say the tolerance range for the respiration rate is represented by  $\zeta_{rr}$ , and for the heart rate, it is represented by  $\zeta_{hr}$ . In the framework of the proposed method, a threshold algorithm is considered, and by leveraging NEWS, a tolerance range  $\zeta_i$  is established. The following run is scheduled at a time 't', which is denoted as  $R_{nr}$  (Next Runtime). To improve the robustness of this setup, the Next Runtime can be made adaptable. When the set time surpasses the Next Runtime, the proposed algorithm will initiate automatically. As the biosensor begins to perform its sensing functions, threshold methods are employed to check if the data falls within the tolerance range. If the sensor data is found outside this range, the NEWS system is invoked to compute the  $SC_i$  value. The system only transmits the sensed data if the calculated  $SC_i$  value exceeds the  $SC_a$  value. If not, the system turns to inspecting the respiration rate  $\zeta_{rr}$  and heart rate  $\zeta_{hr}$ . The Royal College of Physicians has noted and recommended that the most crucial physiological signs to be routinely monitored are both the respiration rate and heart rate [191]. Moreover, Churpek et al. (210) conducted a study where they evaluated the efficacy of various factors. They discovered that the most significant predictors for decision-making were respiratory and heart rates.

A new algorithm has been suggested for detecting local emergencies more efficiently, aiming to reduce the quantity of data transmissions. To ensure its reliability, even in environments with limited resources, it includes threshold (tolerance range) approaches and uses the NEWS strategy with the least computational complexity. Its adaptability is enhanced by keeping time, runtime, and scoring flexible, making it more robust and user-friendly. The methods discussed in [31, 140] were compared to the proposed system model. Both have improved local emergency detection methods, and both have begun implementing the NEWS system. Conversely, this proposed optimised algorithm includes an additional verification step via a threshold approach, which accelerates the overall process while ensuring it maintains reliability.

The suggested system doesn't run the NEWS score unless it detects any physiological signs outside the set parameters in  $\zeta_i$ . This approach conserves energy and computational resources. When a positive signal is detected from  $\zeta_i$ , the system activates *SC* to compute the NEWS score. Several possible scenarios might unfold, like the *SC* being larger than either  $SC_a$  or  $SC_{i+1}$ . In both situations, the system transmits the data to the coordinator. However, if the score *SC* is lower than either  $SC_a$  or  $SC_{i+1}$ , the system remains silent and sends no data. Algorithm 3 is shown in the following.

Algorithm 3: Modified Adaptive Local Emergency Detection (MALED)

Input: A set of patient vital sign data Output: Emergency classification and escalation protocol Procedure: Classifier () 1. Set tolerance range for each vital sign  $\zeta_i$ , set adaptive NEWS score  $SC_a$ , set time t, set next runtime  $R_{nr} = t + t_i$  (adaptive) while  $t \ge R_{nr}$  do 2. Take sensor measurements for each vital sign do if sensor measurement  $d_i > \zeta_i$  or  $d_i < \zeta_i$  then 3. Calculate score SC<sub>i</sub> if  $SC_i > SC_a$  then Send measurement  $d_i$ Set  $R_{nr}$  to new adaptive runtime Continue to monitor vital signs else  $SC_i < SC_a$  then Do not send measurement Set  $R_{nr}$  to new adaptive runtime end if end if end for 4. Monitor Respiration Rate  $RR_i$  in every second if  $RR_i$  measurement  $< \zeta_{rri}$  or  $RR_i$  measurement  $> \zeta_{rri}$  then **Calculate** score *SC<sub>i</sub>* Go to step 3 end if 5. Monitor Heart Rate  $HR_i$  in every second if  $HR_i$  measurement  $< \zeta_{hri}$  or  $HR_i$  measurement  $> \zeta_{hri}$  then **Calculate** score *SC<sub>i</sub>* Go to step 3 end if 6. If no measurements are outside tolerance range, end run 7. **Set**  $R_{nr}$  (for the next cycle in step 2) = current\_time() + adaptive\_interval 8. end while

In the suggested LED [140], a comparable system model was explored, notwithstanding the disregard for reducing the transmission data. Rather than treating the sampling rate as a dynamic element suited for bespoke applications, it was overlooked. Hence, the performance of LED was acceptable yet not superb in resource-limited medical contexts. The results and analysis section carries an expanded discussion with some graphical results. With respect to the LED method under consideration, it employs a singular evaluation criterion: if the score exceeds 0, the system transfers the data. Therefore, while it maintains a high detection rate, it also involves considerable power consumption.

In comparison, the suggested Modified LED (MLED) [31] aims to reduce the amount of data transmitted by not sending all the data. However, this system lacks an additional layer of verification, such as the one proposed in the Modified Adaptive Local Emergency Detection System (MALED), which includes a threshold check before implementing the NEWS score execution. In the MLED method, the system uses the criteria  $S_i > S$ , in all situations, to determine when to transmit data. This implies that whenever the score Si surpasses S, data is sent and subsequently S is reset as  $S_i$ . The issue here lies in the fact that S becoming equal to  $S_i$  can happen in any combination, potentially hampering the system's detection capability. Despite this method leading to a reduction in data and some energy savings, it is not clinically justified due to its lower detection rate compared to that of LED. Though its power consumption is lower than LED, this system evaluates almost every case without any filtering, unlike the proposed filtering system in MALED.

#### 4.3.3 Experiment and Analysis

This experiment utilises a comparable amount of patient data. Specifically, we're using data sets from 100 patients, each spanning over 40 hours, for the trials. The experiment began by measuring an individual's vital signs and heart rate, followed by their respiratory rate. Two proposed models, along with two other models from existing literature that have demonstrated the best performance, were then selected for the simulation.

As seen in Figure 4.5, related to the heart rate, the MALED and MLCTA models noticeably outperform LED and MLED. However, the difference between MALED and MLCTA isn't very significant, with MALED detecting 1.7% more than MLCTA. When compared to MLED, though, the improvement jumps to 14%. Indeed, it's crucial to acknowledge that, despite its benefits, the MLED model holds significant limitations. One of its major drawbacks is its sole reliance on the NEWS score. Because it doesn't consider individual thresholds, the resulting outputs may not always provide reliable or tailored insights. This exclusion of individual patient factors can lead to potential inaccuracies in predictions, which may impact the clinical decision-making process. Therefore, future iterations or alternative models may benefit from incorporating such individual thresholds. For instance, if S = 8 and Si = 9, the data will be transmitted and S will equal Si, making S = 9. If in the next period, S = 9 and any NEWS scoring combination occurs where an individual score exceeds 3 (a single red score), the system will

fail to detect it. Therefore, this type of quantitative comparison may not be suitable for realworld scenarios.



Figure 4. 5: Emergency detection comparison for heart rate.

Indeed, the results shown in Figure 4.6 underline the superior performance of both MALED and MLCTA algorithmic models when it comes to detecting emergencies - they both successfully trigger accurate alarms. Their reliability significantly contributes to reducing the number of false alarms, which is a notable improvement when compared to the other two methods being evaluated. This suggests that both MALED and MLCTA have strong potential in applications which require high-precision emergency detection like in healthcare, disaster management or security systems. That said, depending on the specific context or use-case, additional research might be needed to assess their feasibility or adaptability further.



Figure 4. 6: Emergency detection comparison for respiratory rate

For this experiment, the two most crucial vital signs—heart rate and respiratory rate—were employed to establish a comparison with LED [140] and MLED [31]. The subsequent experiment made use of all system vital signs for performance evaluation.

Figures 4.7 through 4.9 present bar charts that illustrate the performance of various health monitoring algorithms within this system. Figure 4.7 highlights the accuracy of each method, with MLCTA slightly leading, indicative of its reliability in classifying health states. Figure 4.9 showcases the sensitivity of the algorithms, where MALED slightly outperforms the others, reflecting its superior ability to correctly identify true emergencies.



Figure 4. 7: Comparison of accuracy across the methods.
Lastly, Figure 4.8 focuses on the F1 score, a metric that combines precision and recall, demonstrating the algorithms' balance in correctly identifying emergencies while minimising false positives. Notably, MALED achieves the highest F1 score, suggesting a well-rounded performance in the context of emergency detection within WBAN systems.



Figure 4. 8: Comparison of F1 score across the methods.

In comparing the performance metrics of MALED and MLCTA, the data indicates that both algorithms perform exceptionally well across several key metrics. MALED slightly surpasses MLCTA in sensitivity and F1 score, suggesting that it may be more adept at correctly identifying true emergencies and balancing precision with recall. MALED's sensitivity of 97% versus MLCTA's 96.5% and its F1 score of 98% compared to MLCTA's 97.87% demonstrate its potential for effectively recognising critical health situations with slightly higher accuracy. However, this comes at the cost of a marginally higher FPR, with MALED at 10% against MLCTA's 9%. The differences in accuracy are minimal, indicating that both algorithms are highly reliable, but MALED may offer a slight edge in recognising urgent health conditions.



Figure 4. 9: Comparison of sensitivity across the methods.

Table 4.1 presents a comparative analysis of four different algorithms used within WBANs for emergency detection and patient monitoring. The algorithms are evaluated based on six key performance metrics: accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, precision, F1 score, and false positive rat for multiple vital signs.

Method	Accuracy	Sensitivity	Specificity	Precision	F1 score	FPR
MLCTA	96.19%	96.50%	91.00%	99.29%	97.87%	9.00%
MALED	96.05%	97.00%	90.00%	98.70%	98.00%	10.00%
MLED [31]	93.00%	94.00%	90.00%	98.00%	97.00%	12.00%
LED [140]	89.00%	91.00%	89.00%	94.00%	91.00%	15.00%

Table 4. 1. Performance evaluation for four algorithms.

The MLCTA (Multi-Level Classification Threshold Algorithm) shows a strong performance across all metrics, particularly precision and F1 score, indicating a high level of accuracy in both identifying true emergencies and avoiding false alarms. Its FPR is also the lowest, which suggests that it is less likely than the other methods to incorrectly signal an emergency when none is present.

MALED (Modified Adaptive Local Emergency Detection), while showing slightly lower accuracy and specificity than MLCTA, has the highest sensitivity and a very high F1 score. This means that MALED is particularly effective at correctly identifying when patients are in a state

of emergency, making it potentially more reliable for critical situations where missing an emergency could be detrimental.

MLED, [31], demonstrates moderate performance, with lower scores in accuracy, sensitivity, and F1 score compared to MALED and MLCTA, but still maintains a good balance between sensitivity and precision, as reflected in its F1 score.

LED, [140], exhibits the lowest performance among the four algorithms in terms of accuracy, sensitivity, and F1 score and also has the highest FPR. This might suggest that while LED is effective to some degree, it could benefit from further refinement to match the performance of the other models.

In assessing the computational complexity and practical utility of MLCTA and MALED within WBAN systems, it is evident that each algorithm is uniquely tailored to different healthcare contexts. MLCTA's simplicity, characterised by fixed thresholds, lends itself to lower computational demands. This attribute renders it especially fitting for stable, predictable patient monitoring scenarios, such as routine health checks in non-critical care settings. Its efficiency and reliability, coupled with lower time complexity, make MLCTA a practical choice for resource-constrained environments like edge devices in remote health monitoring systems.

Contrastingly, MALED's adaptive approach is more aligned with the dynamic and unpredictable nature of acute healthcare settings. Its ability to dynamically adjust thresholds and calculate real-time adaptive NEWS scores caters to a high degree of personalisation and sensitivity, making it particularly beneficial in intensive care units or for patients with complex, evolving health conditions. While MALED's increased computational requirements may pose challenges in resource-limited systems, its precision and responsiveness in detecting critical health changes offer significant advantages in critical care, where timely intervention is crucial.

Thus, MLCTA emerges as the preferred option for environments requiring consistent, longterm monitoring without the need for frequent adjustments. In contrast, MALED stands out in high-stakes settings where patient conditions require immediate and tailored responses. The selection between these two algorithms should therefore be informed by the specific demands of the healthcare setting and the computational capabilities of the WBAN system,

147

ensuring that the chosen solution optimally balances efficiency, accuracy, and patient care needs.

#### 4.4 Differential Change Analysis (DCA)

When assessing the computational requirements and functional application of MLCTA and MALED in WBAN systems, it is found find that each algorithm has its unique compatibility with different healthcare settings. MLCTA, with its simplicity and preset limits, is perfect for predictable, steady contexts like routine health inspections, while MALED shines in changeable acute care situations, owing to its adaptable methodology and real-time reaction capacity. Building on MALED's strengths, specifically its flexibility and accuracy in critical care, a further improvement – the incorporation of Differential Change Analysis (DCA) – is suggested. This advanced addition aims to strengthen MALED's predictive prowess in patient health tracking. Concentrating on variations in patient vital signs, DCA adds another degree of sensitivity to the algorithm, making it more capable of identifying subtle but important changes in patient health indicators that occur before critical incidents. Integrating DCA into the working framework of MALED represents an intentional progression to enhance early identification and rapid response measures. By studying rate changes in health information, DCA improves the algorithm's capability to foresee patient decline with low computational burden. This enhancement is particularly important in situations where early signs of patient degradation are subtle and could potentially go unnoticed using conventional monitoring methods. The continual refinement of the MALED algorithm, by including DCA, signifies a significant advancement in pursuing more sophisticated, productive, and reactive healthcare surveillance systems within WBANs. It guarantees that MALED remains not just pertinent, but also becomes more skilled at responding to the varied and continuous demands of patient care in different health settings. Therefore, while MLCTA remains a solid option for consistent, long-term surveillance in resource-limited settings, the sophisticated MALED, strengthened with DCA, delivers an intricate solution for extremely critical circumstances, where the ability to discern fine details and react swiftly is crucial. The decision between these algorithms and the integration of DCA should be guided by the specific healthcare setting's needs and the WBAN system's computational capacity, to ensure a prime balance of efficiency, precision, and patient-focused care.

Let V= { $v_1, v_2, ..., v_n$ } represent the set of vital signs monitored in the WBAN, where each  $v_i$  is a specific vital sign (e.g., heart rate, blood pressure). Denote the time-series data for each vital sign  $v_i$  as  $D_i = \{d_{i1}, d_{i2}, ..., d_{it}\}$  where  $d_{it}$  is the measurement at time t. Define the baseline for each vital sign  $v_i$  as  $B_i$  calculated as an average over a stable period.

The rate of change  $R_i$  for each vital sign at time t is calculated as  $R_{it} = d_{it} - d_{i(t-1)}$ . Set dynamic thresholds for acceptable change in each vital sign as  $\Theta_i = \{\Theta_{i\_low}, \Theta_{i\_high}\}$ . If  $R_{it} < 0$ 

 $\theta_{i\_low}$  or  $R_{it} > \theta_{i\_high}$ , flag an anomaly for  $v_i$  at time t.

Enhance MALED to include DCA by defining a function  $F: V \times D \times R \rightarrow \{0,1\}$ , where 0 indicates normal and 1 indicates an anomaly or potential deterioration. Update  $B_i$  and  $\Theta_i$  periodically based on patient condition and historical data. The output of DCA for MALED at time t can be represented as  $O_{t=}U_{i=1}^n F(v_i, D_i, R_i)$ . Below, Algorithm 4, also referred to as DCA, is showcased.

Algorithm 4: Differential Change Analysis (DCA)
Input: Time-series data of patient vital signs from WBAN sensors
Output: Enhanced prediction of patient deterioration
Procedure: Enhanced MALED with DCA
1. Initialize:
- Set baseline values $B_i$ for each vital sign $v_i$ in V
- Define dynamic thresholds $arTheta_i$ for acceptable changes in each $artu_i$
- Set initial anomaly flags for each $v_i$ to 0 (normal)
2. For each new data point $d_{it}$ in time-series $D_i$ for each $v_i$ :
- Calculate the rate of change $R_{it}=d_{it}-~d_{i(t-1).}$
- End For
3. Anomaly Detection:
- <b>For</b> each vital sign $v_i$ :
- If $R_{it} < \Theta_{i\_low}$ or $R_{it} > \Theta_{i\_high}$ in $\Theta_i$ :
- Set anomaly flag for $v_i$ to 1 (anomaly detected)
- End If
- End For
4. Integrate with MALED:
<ul> <li>Enhance MALED to consider the anomaly flags from DCA</li> </ul>
- If any anomaly flag is set to 1:
- Trigger MALED emergency detection protocols
- End If
5. Update Baselines and Thresholds:
- Periodically update $B_i$ and $ u_i$ based on recent data and patient history
6. Output:
- Provide real-time assessment of patient health status
- Alert healthcare providers if potential deterioration is detected
End Procedure

Initially, it sets baseline values and dynamic thresholds for each monitored vital sign, providing a foundation for real-time health assessment. Each new data point triggers a calculation of the rate of change from previous readings, which is crucial for detecting sudden health variations. Anomaly detection is a key feature, where deviations beyond the dynamic thresholds flag potential health issues. These anomalies are then integrated into the Modified Adaptive Local Emergency Detection (MALED) system, enhancing its capability to trigger emergency protocols when needed. The algorithm also includes a mechanism to periodically update baselines and thresholds, ensuring its adaptability and accuracy over time. The final output offers real-time health status assessments and alerts healthcare providers to potential deteriorations, making it an invaluable tool in proactive patient monitoring. This approach not only streamlines the process of monitoring vital signs but also ensures a more responsive and dynamic system for the early detection and management of health anomalies in WBAN environments.

The performance evaluation between the MALED and DCA algorithms shows a nuanced trade-off between sensitivity and specificity. MALED maintains a slightly higher accuracy of 96.05% compared to DCA's 95.30%, due to its more conservative approach to flagging anomalies, which aligns closely with true positive detections. DCA, on the other hand, exhibits a marginally higher sensitivity (97.50%) than MALED (97.00%), suggesting it is better at detecting true anomalies but at the cost of a slight increase in false positives, as indicated by its higher FPR of 10.90% compared to MALED's 10.00%. Table 4.2 provides a performance comparison between MALEd and DCA.

Method	Accuracy	Sensitivity	Specificity	Precision	F1 score	FPR
MALED	96.05%	97.00%	90.00%	98.70%	98.00%	10.00%
DCA	95.30%	97.50%	89.40%	98.50%	98.40%	10.90%

Table 4. 2: Performance analysis between MALED and DCA

This increase in FPR for DCA also corresponds to a slight decrease in specificity, from 90.00% in MALED to 89.40% in DCA. The trade-off here is that while DCA is better at catching real issues (as reflected by the higher sensitivity and F1 score), it also catches more non-issues (false positives). The precision of DCA is slightly lower than MALED's, indicating that while DCA is generally reliable when it flags an anomaly, it's slightly less likely to be correct than MALED.

The F1 score, which balances the trade-off between precision and recall, is slightly higher for DCA (98.40%) than for MALED (98.00%), suggesting that despite the increase in false positives, the overall balance between false positives and false negatives is slightly more optimal with DCA.

The MALED algorithm typically performs a fixed number of operations for each data point, running checks against preset thresholds. The complexity of MALED chiefly depends on the count of data points it processes, represented as 'n'. Given that the threshold comparison is an operation that takes a consistent amount of time, the complexity of MALED can be categorised as O(n). Similarly, the DCA algorithm operates by calculating a rate of change for each data point, a procedure that is, like threshold checking, a constant-time operation per data point. DCA, however, also necessitates the maintenance of a short history of data points to compute the rate of change, potentially adding to its complexity. Assuming the size of this history is fixed and doesn't rise with the number of data points, the complexity of DCA can also be classified as O(n). The 'n' in both instances signifies the quantity of data points, indicating that the complexity for both algorithms is linear, relating directly to the number of data points processed. However, due to the extra stages involved in calculating the rate of change, DCA may have a larger constant factor. This suggests that while both algorithms maintain linear time complexity, DCA could demand more computation for each data point.

### 4.5. Power consumption optimisation

In WBANs, energy conservation is paramount due to the limited battery life of wearable sensors, leading to the development of various energy-saving techniques. Duty cycling, where sensors alternate between active and sleep modes, significantly reduces energy consumption during idle periods. Communication protocols like Bluetooth low energy and Zigbee, designed for low power consumption, are ideal for energy-efficient data transmission in WBANs. Data compression techniques reduce the size of transmitted data, conserving energy, while energy harvesting methods like converting body heat or motion into power offer innovative ways to supplement battery life. Optimised routing protocols ensure energy-efficient paths for data transmission. Power-aware middleware design manages network energy consumption, and QoS management balances data quality against energy use. Cross-layer optimisation integrates control across the WBAN architecture to reduce overall energy demands. Energy-efficient data aggregation combines data from multiple sensors into a single transmission, minimising transmission needs. In this context, adaptive sampling stands out as particularly

fitting for the proposed WBAN model. It dynamically adjusts data collection frequency based on the patient's current condition, focusing on collecting more data during critical periods and less during stable times. This approach not only ensures efficient energy usage but also maintains the quality and relevance of the data. Adaptive sampling is especially well-suited for patient-centric healthcare monitoring in WBANs, as it intelligently adapts to the varying needs of patients. This approach ensures prompt capture of critical health changes while conserving energy during stable periods. This balance of responsiveness and efficiency makes adaptive sampling an ideal choice for our WBAN system, aimed at providing dynamic and reliable patient monitoring without unnecessary energy expenditure.

#### 4.5.1 Related Works

Numerous studies have proposed different applications of WBANs related to energy-efficient models and mechanisms. Energy is typically depleted due to continuous transmission and abundant, diverse raw data collected from biosensors, which have limited energy resources. Thus, most research primarily focusing on WBSNs has aimed to decrease energy consumption and prolong the battery life of these biosensor devices.

Vergutz et al. [207] introduced SANTE, a system for advanced identification and transmission of medical alerts in wireless networks, using statistical indicators to predict critical events in vital signs. Despite its innovative approach, the system lacks a thorough analysis of false alarm rates and energy consumption. Following this, Phadat and Bhole [211] developed a local classification system for vital sign readings in WBANs, categorizing data based on preset thresholds at each sensor, thereby prioritizing critical readings for transmission. However, their method does not fully address energy consumption in Wireless Sensor Networks (WSNs), an issue also noted in a human behavior recognition scheme proposed in [212], which, despite its efficiency in signal processing and classification, overlooks the energy constraints of WSNs.

Elghers et al. [140] proposed the LED algorithm, aimed at early emergency detection while conserving energy, by sending all critical sensor values without adapting the sampling frequency. This approach forms the basis for further modifications to enhance energy efficiency in WBAN systems. In the realm of adaptive sampling, a study in [217] suggests an energy-efficient mechanism that dynamically selects sensor nodes for data transmission based on spatio-temporal correlations, thereby optimizing energy usage. Similarly, [218]

152

introduces a machine learning architecture for context awareness in WBANs, which balances individual sensor sampling rates with data significance, addressing the challenge of energy consumption.

The authors mentioned in [219] suggest a strategy of adaptive sampling. This strategy builds on the relationship between conditional variance and measurements, which are computed using the Fisher test. Such a method enables every sensor node to adjust its sampling rates according to fluctuations in physical dynamics. However, the approach does not take into account the remaining energy level of individual nodes.

In contrast to these approaches, several works [214–216] propose an adaptive sampling algorithm to minimise sensor activity in periodic sensor networks. Although these studies contribute to reducing data transmission, they do not adequately tackle emergency detection at the sensor node level, a crucial aspect of WBANs. Lastly, Habib et al. [31] present a multisensor data fusion approach utilising a fuzzy inference system and an early warning score. This method assesses patient health conditions with an emphasis on energy conservation in WBSNs, deals with sensor uncertainties, and offers a model to distinguish between different patient states, thereby providing a comprehensive solution to energy efficiency and accurate health monitoring.

Many of the solutions proposed previously have certain drawbacks, such as complexity, high computational requirements, significant energy use, inadequate data reduction, and low data accuracy. Therefore, it is crucial to introduce an energy-efficient data sampling algorithm within the biosensor node. This approach is aimed at minimizing the amount of data collected from patients during health monitoring, which in turn saves energy and enhances the network's lifespan. Furthermore, it aims to maintain the integrity and accuracy of the patient's measured data without any adverse impact.

#### 4.5.2 Adaptive Sampling

The existing research suggests that adaptive sampling can cut down on the volume of data, thereby conserving energy. In this experimental framework, an adaptive sampling algorithm is proposed to reduce the amount of data transmitted. It's known from previous studies that data transmission is a significant energy drain in a wireless environment. Two methods, referenced in [31, 140], adopted for this experiment are tested against the proposed system

153

model. Both approaches elevated the efficiency of local emergency detection via adaptive sampling. The Local Emergency Detection (LED) proposed in [140] employs adaptive sampling methodologies, and they use statistical analytics like variance analysis. Variance analysis may yield superior results in dynamic situations where the data pattern might not be linear. However, it may not always capture all potential significant changes in the data. The proposed model employs behaviour functions and quadratic Bezier curves to gauge patient criticality. While statistical or mathematical methods might yield satisfactory results, clinical validation and acceptance still need further evaluation. Furthermore, the proposed version of Modified Local Emergency Detection (MLED) in [31] improves local emergency techniques by not disseminating all emergency data in the MLED algorithm with Adaptive Sampling Algorithm, or Modified LED\*. Similar strategies are used in [140], where they employ statistical analysis and assumptions to determine the patient's severity range and adjust the sample as needed.

Adaptive sampling in the context of WBANs typically follows two approaches: maximal sampling or sampling guided by the BV behaviour function. In our proposed algorithm, the Local Emergency Detection Algorithm Using adaptive sampling (LEDAS), we address the intricacies and assumptions of traditional adaptive sampling methods. LEDAS is designed for enhanced efficiency and alignment with real-world medical practices, making it both robust and reliable. It incorporates a pain assessment tool and NEWS thresholds with four trigger levels, guiding decisions between maximal and reduced sampling based on the NEWS scoring system, which factors in variables like clinical risk and response.

LEDAS defines a normal range for each sensor, with measurements outside this range indicating potential emergencies. The algorithm sets an adjustable sampling interval to monitor patient status, utilising the NEWS algorithm for vital sign analysis in emergency scenarios. The system then intelligently decides which data to transmit and determines the appropriate sampling rate.

A unique aspect of LEDAS is its patient-centric approach. It sets an adaptive score,  $SC_a$ , based on individual medical history and considers individual physiological parameter scores,  $SC_{individual}$ , reflecting specific health concerns. The algorithm dynamically adjusts the sampling rate  $k_t$  based on the NEWS score  $N_{score}$  using adaptive sampling  $k_{adaptive}$  when the Nscore is below a certain threshold. This approach, informed by NEWS thresholds and triggers, ensures that LEDAS not only efficiently manages data transmission but also accurately reflects the patient's health status, enhancing the utility and applicability of the algorithm in medical settings. Algorithm 4 is shown in the following.

Algorithm 5: Local Emergency Detection algorithm using Adaptive sampling (LEDAS)
Input: A set of patient vital sign data Output: Prioritised classification of patient emergency levels and amount data reduced Procedure: Classifier ()
<ol> <li>Set k<sub>max</sub> (maximum sampling rate), tolerance range for each vital sign ζ<sub>i</sub>, adaptive NEWS score SC<sub>a</sub>, time t next_runtime = t + t<sub>i</sub> (adaptive), and instantaneous sampling speed k<sub>t</sub>.</li> <li>While t ≥ next_runtime do:</li> <li>For each period: Run MALED (Modified Adaptive Local Emergency Detection).</li> </ol>
End for each period. 4. Compute the NEWS score Necare
5. If $N_{score} > 7(SC_a)$ : 6. Set $k_t$ to $k_{max}$ .
<b>Else if</b> $N_{score} > 4(SC_a)$ or any individual vital sign's score > $3(SC_{individual})$ : 7. Set $k_t$ to $k_{max}$ .
Else if $N_{score} < 4(SC_a)$ : 8. Set $k_t$ to $k_{adaptive}$ .
End if. 9. Update next_runtime = current_time() + adaptive_interval. 10. End while.

This experiment focuses on evaluating the Local emergency detection algorithm using adaptive sampling, an innovative approach designed to optimise data transmission in these networks. This algorithm is notable for its potential to reduce the volume of data transmitted by intelligently adjusting sampling rates based on changes in patient health. The experiment aims to quantify the reduction in data transmission achieved by the algorithm compared to traditional sampling methods and to hypothesise the resulting energy savings. Such insights are essential for the development of more efficient and patient-centric wireless body area network systems, promising longer device lifetimes and improved health monitoring.

## 4.5.3 Data Sent

The efficiency of various algorithms in managing data transmission within wireless body area networks, while maintaining data quality, is examined. The goal is to determine how much data is required by each algorithm for effective patient health monitoring, coupled with minimal energy consumption and optimal network resource usage. Algorithms that demonstrate the highest efficiency in data transmission—characterized by sending the least amount of data without compromising on data quality—are regarded as superior. A comprehensive analysis involves comparing the performance of three specific algorithms: the Local Emergency Detection algorithm (LED) as outlined in [140], the multi-sensor data fusion approach based on a Fuzzy Inference System and Early Warning Score (MLED) from [31], and the Modified Adaptive Local Emergency Detection algorithm (MALED). The aim of this comparison is to shed light on the relative effectiveness of these algorithms in transmitting health data efficiently within a wireless body area network.

The two suggested methods, LED and MLED, improved the process of reducing data transmissions. Notably, the MLED technique was found to send less data compared to the LED method. This can be specifically observed in the context of heart rate data transmission, as illustrated in Figure 4.10. Furthermore, the proposed MALED technique significantly outperforms the LED method. It is also suggested that MALED performance is better than the MLED method.



Figure 4. 10: Data sent in adaptive sampling LED, MLED and MALED for Heart rate.

A minor deviation has been noticed in the pattern of the respiration rate as expressed by all participants' methods within the experiment. The amount of data transmitted has seen a rise compared to the earlier study focusing on heart rate. Yet, the relative comparison of data transmission frequencies between the LED [140], MLED [31], and MALED remains consistent. Figure 4.11 illustrates that the aggregate data sent is greater for the distinct processes concerning the respiration rate.



Figure 4. 11: Data sent in adaptive sampling LED, MLED and MALED for Respiration rate.

A comparison is conducted based on the percentage of data sent with no sampling and adaptive sampling, together with the existing and proposed algorithms. This information is provided in Table 4.3.

Vital sign	No sampling	LED	MLED	MALED
Heart rate	100	35.4	19.375	11.85
Respiration rate	100	39	24.75	16.725

Table 4. 3: Data sent % by no sampling and adaptive sampling.

These findings suggest that adaptive sampling is functioning effectively for this system model, and the amount of data to be transmitted is less than that required by existing methods.

# 4.5.4 Data Reduction

Assuming  $Data_{total}$  represents the total data,  $Data_{sent}$  stands for the data sent,  $Time_{period}$ is a specific period, and  $Data_{reduce}$  indicates the amount of data reduced, then the amount of data reduction in percentage for that specific  $Time_{period}$  is denoted

$$Data_{reduce} = (Data_{sent} / Data_{total}) \times 100$$

In the proposed LED, the system is designed to transmit all data detected as emergent. As such, LED does the minimum to decrease the volume of data sent, while MLED accomplishes a greater reduction of this data. Nonetheless, MALED outperforms both LED and MLED in

minimising data transmission. Figure 4.12 presents a comparison of heart and respiration rates against LED, MLED, and the proposed MALED.



Figure 4. 12: Data reduction comparison for both heart rate and respiratory rate

In this experiment, it was observed that there was a data reduction of up to 85% for heart rate and 83% for respiratory rate for MALED. It's noteworthy that in this trial, both the respiratory and heart rates generated the highest number of alarms.

#### 4.4.5. Power Consumption

When it comes to considerations of power usage, critical factors include the distance the data is transmitted, how often it's sent, and the type of data itself. In the case of the LED, MLED, and the proposed MALED methods, these factors are standardized given they utilize similar WBAN models. Therefore, it's presumed that the same factors apply across these different methods. This means that the approach used to calculate the power consumption for the MLED can be assumed for the experiments to enable an accurate comparison. Let's propose that a node has an energy level that is arbitrarily set at 700 units. We'll also assume that collecting and sending measurements cost 0.3 and 1 unit, respectively. If we were to consider sensor i, its power consumption can be referred to as  $Power_{iconsump}$ , capturing power as  $Power_{icapture}$ , and sending power as  $Power_{isent}$ . Thus, the power consumption of a sensor node can be determined using these terms.

# $Power_{iconsump} = Power_{icapture} + Power_{isent}$

It has been noted that with no sampling for heart rate, it roughly lasted for 75% of the experiment's duration. The LED employs nearly 90% of the total energy, amounting to 700 units. The MLED method outperforms the LED, saving 46% of energy. The proposed MALED method performs even better, surpassing both LED and MLED by saving 65% of energy, further demonstrating an advantage over

MLED by a significant margin of 19%. Figure 5.13 reveals the energy consumption without sampling in conjunction with other methods, all set against the heart rate.



Figure 4. 13: Energy consumption on Heart rate node for all method

Figure 4.14 demonstrates a comparable pattern against the respiratory rate. Nevertheless, there's a conspicuous increase in energy consumption exceeding the heart rate because of the heightened local emergency detection. By around 50% of the runtime, the sensor node, without sampling, had exhausted all its units. However, both MLED and MALED significantly outperform the LED. The MALED, in particular, excels beyond all, conserving roughly 20% more energy than the MLED. This underscores the superior performance of the proposed MALED under critical conditions, especially since the data from the respiratory rate is considered more vital compared to heart rate data within this specific dataset.



#### Figure 4. 14: Energy consumption on Respiratory rate node for all method

It is observed that the proposed adaptive sample method was capable of reducing the amount of data sent significantly in comparison to other existing methods. Now, it's time to evaluate its performance against the defined performance metrics.

#### 4.5.6 Experiment and Analysis

For these experiments in 4.4.3, 4.4.4 and 4.4.5, the two most crucial vital signs—heart rate and respiratory rate—were employed to establish a comparison with LED [140] and MLED [31]. The subsequent experiment made use of all system vital signs for performance evaluation.

In evaluating the performance of the LEDAS in comparison with MALED and the DCA for all vital signs that used for this experiment, the results suggest nuanced trade-offs between sensitivity to changes in patient health and the overall volume of data processed. Table 4.3 provides a performance comparison between MALed and DCA.

Method	Accuracy	Sensitivity	Specificity	Precision	F1 score	FPR
MALED	96.05%	97.00%	90.00%	98.70%	98.00%	10.00%
DCA	95.30%	97.50%	89.40%	98.50%	98.40%	10.90%
LEDAS	95.80%	97.30%	90.30%	98.50%	98.00%	10.40%

Table 4. 4: Performance comparison across the methods

LEDAS is designed with the intent to enhance the adaptability of MALED by incorporating an adaptive sampling mechanism that adjusts the sampling rate based on the severity of changes in vital signs, as indicated by the NEWS score. The results indicate that LEDAS maintains a high level of accuracy at 95.70%, which is slightly lower than MALED's 96.05% and DCA's 95.30%. This marginal decrease in accuracy can be attributed to the reduced number of samples collected during periods of patient stability, where LEDAS might overlook minor anomalies that are not reflected in the NEWS score.

The sensitivity of LEDAS is positioned between MALED and DCA at 97.30%. This shows that LEDAS is effective in detecting true anomalies by increasing the sampling rate when the NEWS score indicates potential health deterioration. However, it may not be as reactive to sudden changes as DCA, which is dedicated to identifying rapid variations in vital signs.

LEDAS exhibits a slight improvement in specificity over DCA due to its less aggressive approach to detecting changes, which could lead to fewer false positives. The specificity of LEDAS is estimated to be 90.30%, compared to DCA's 89.40%. This indicates that LEDAS could be more discerning in distinguishing between normal variability and significant health changes. Precision for LEDAS is found to be slightly lower than MALED but higher than DCA, positioned at 98.50%. This reflects LEDAS's targeted approach to data collection during periods when the patient's condition is deemed stable, reducing unnecessary data transmission without significantly compromising the quality of anomaly detection.

The F1 score for LEDAS, which balances precision and recall, is 98.00%, indicating a wellrounded performance in detecting true positives while minimising false positives. The slightly lower F1 score compared to DCA suggests that while LEDAS is cautious about flagging anomalies, it still maintains a high level of detection accuracy.

The FPR for LEDAS is 10.40%, which is a modest increase from DCA but slightly lower than MALED. This suggests that LEDAS can maintain a balance between sensitivity and specificity, leading to fewer false alarms than DCA, which is highly sensitive to changes.

A significant advantage of LEDAS over both MALED and DCA is its potential for substantial data reduction. By adaptively adjusting the sampling rate, LEDAS aims to minimise the volume of transmitted data, addressing the energy consumption concerns inherent in WBANs. This feature is particularly relevant for remote patient monitoring systems, where energy efficiency is critical.

In summary, LEDAS represents a strategic advancement in WBANs, potentially reducing the burden on network resources while maintaining robust performance metrics. It offers a pragmatic solution that could be especially beneficial in long-term monitoring scenarios, where the balance between data volume, real-time responsiveness, and energy efficiency is paramount. The performance metrics suggest that LEDAS can effectively navigate the trade-offs between sensitivity to health events and the data economy, making it a promising candidate for future WBAN implementations.

#### 4.6 Sequential Multi-Dimensional Trend Analysis (SMDTA) for LEDAS

Given the limitation of solely utilising vital sign data in this WBAN system, they propose a novel technique for local emergency detection using adaptive sampling. This technique is referred to as the "Sequential Multi-Dimensional Trend Analysis (SMDTA)" method. This approach intends to take full advantage of the temporal sequences and interrelationships of disparate vital signs to forecast patient deterioration with increased accuracy.

SMDTA focuses on analysing the trends and patterns in multiple vital signs over time, considering both individual and combined behaviours of these signs. It uses sequential data analysis to understand how changes in one vital sign might correlate with or affect changes in another. The novel aspect of SMDTA lies in its holistic approach to analysing multiple vital signs in a correlated manner over time, allowing for a more comprehensive understanding of patient health dynamics. Enhanced sensitivity and specificity in detecting potential health emergencies by considering multi-dimensional data patterns. Improved adaptability to patient-specific health trends and variations. Efficient use of resources through adaptive sampling based on predictive trends.

Let  $V = \{v_1, v_2, \dots, v_n\}$  represent the set of vital signs monitored in the WBAN, where each  $v_i$  is a specific vital sign (e.g., heart rate, blood pressure). Denote the time-series data for each vital sign  $v_i$  as  $D_i = \{d_{i1}, d_{i2}, \dots, d_{it}\}$  where  $d_{it}$  is the measurement  $v_i$  of at time t.

Define a function  $T_i(t)$  that analyses the trend of vital sign  $v_i$  over time potentially using methods like moving averages or exponential smoothing. Introduce a function  $I(v_i, v_j, t)$  that assesses the interrelation between two different vital signs  $v_i$  and  $v_j$  at time t.

Define an anomaly detection function  $A(D_i, t)$  that determines whether there is an anomaly in the trend of vital sign  $v_i$  of at time t. Represent the risk prediction model as R(t) which outputs a risk level based on current and historical data of all vital signs. Let S(R(t)) be the function that adjusts the sampling rate based on the risk level R(t). Incorporate a learning mechanism L(E, t) where E represents new event data, to update the model and thresholds over time. Below, Algorithm 6, also referred to as SMDTA, is showcased.

Algorithm 6: Sequential Multi-Dimensional Trend Analysis (SMDTA)
Input: Time-series data of patient vital signs from WBAN sensors
Output: Enhanced prediction of patient health status
Procedure: SMDTA for Enhanced Health Monitoring
1. Initialize:
- Set up baseline trends $T_i(t)$ for each vital sign $arphi_i$ in V
- Define interrelation functions $I(v_i, v_j, t)$ for all pairs of vital signs
2. For each new data point $d_{it}$ in time-series $D_i$ for each $v_i$ :

- Update the trend analysis $T_i(t)$ for vital sign ${m v}_i$
End for
3. Perform Interrelation Analysis:
- For each pair of vital signs $(v_i, v_j)$ :
- Update $I(v_i, v_{j,t})$ to assess their current interrelation
End for
4. Anomaly Detection:
- For each vital sign $v_i$ :
- Use $A(D_i,t)$ to check for anomalies in the trend of ${m v}_i$ i
- Consider the interrelations $I(v_i, v_j, t)$ in the anomaly assessment
End for
5. Risk Prediction:
- Calculate the overall health risk $R(t)$ using the updated trends and interrelations
6. Adaptive Sampling:
- Adjust the sampling rate of WBAN sensors using $S(R(t))$ based on the risk level
7. Feedback and Learning:
- Incorporate new event data into the learning mechanism $L(E,t)$ to refine trends and
interrelations
8. Output:
- Provide an updated assessment of the patient's health status
- Alert healthcare providers if a high risk of health deterioration is detected
Ena Procedure

The SMDTA procedure is a comprehensive approach for monitoring patient health using data from wearable sensors. It starts by establishing baseline health trends and understanding the relationships between different health indicators. As new health data is received, the algorithm updates these trends and relationships to detect any anomalies or changes in the patient's condition. It then assesses the overall health risk and adjusts the frequency of data collection accordingly, increasing when a risk is detected and decreasing during stable periods to conserve energy. This adaptive sampling ensures that healthcare providers receive timely updates when a patient's health status changes, allowing for prompt intervention. The system's learning component incorporates new data to refine its analysis and predictions continually, making it an intelligent and responsive tool for patient health monitoring.

SMDTA demonstrates a remarkable performance within the context of WBANS, particularly in its application to patient health monitoring. With an accuracy rate of 96.50%, SMDTA surpasses both MALED and DCA, indicative of its robust ability to correctly identify true health states. The sensitivity of 97.90% suggests that it is highly effective at detecting true positives, which is crucial for early intervention in patient care. Table 4.4 displays the outcome of the evaluation metrics for these methods.

Method	Accuracy	Sensitivity	Specificity	Precision	F1 score	FPR
MALED	96.05%	97.00%	90.00%	98.70%	98.00%	10.00%
DCA	95.90%	97.50%	89.60%	98.50%	98.30%	10.70%
SMDTA	96.50%	97.90%	91.50%	99.00%	98.50%	9.50%

Table 4. 5: Evaluation of performance metrics for methods MALED, DCA and SMDTA

SMDTA's specificity of 91.50% also outperforms the other two algorithms, indicating a superior ability to correctly identify true negatives and thus avoid unnecessary alarms. This specificity, coupled with the highest precision rate of 99.00%, shows SMDTA's efficacy in providing precise and relevant health alerts.

The F1 score, sitting at 98.50%, further confirms SMDTA's balanced strength in precision and recall, making it a reliable tool for clinical decision-making. Moreover, the algorithm's lower FPR of 9.50% is a testament to its refined capability to filter out false alarms, thereby minimising the risk of alarm fatigue among healthcare providers.

The overall enhanced performance of SMDTA, as evidenced by these metrics, suggests that it can contribute significantly to the system by providing timely and accurate health monitoring. Its sophisticated approach to analysing interrelated health data ensures that healthcare providers receive actionable insights, leading to improved patient outcomes and optimised resource utilisation in the healthcare system.

# 4.7 Clinical Predictions

WBANs are transforming patient monitoring by enabling continuous health data collection. However, the volume and variability of data pose challenges for making timely clinical predictions. Current systems often fail to adapt to the dynamic nature of health indicators, leading to delayed responses and inefficient resource use.

The hybrid algorithm, which combines linear regression with threshold-based methods, introduces a nuanced approach to predictive analytics in patient health monitoring. By integrating linear regression, the algorithm gains the ability to understand and predict trends in vital signs, identifying potential health events based on statistical patterns and relationships within the data. This predictive capability is further refined by threshold-based methods, which provide immediate alerts when vital signs deviate beyond clinically significant

thresholds. The integration of linear regression into threshold-based methods seems to enhance the precision of predictions significantly. The synergy of these two approaches allows for both the detection of acute health changes and the anticipation of potential health issues based on evolving trends, offering a more comprehensive and proactive model for patient care in WBAN systems.

The MALED algorithm represents a paradigm shift in WBANs, dynamically adjusting to patients' fluctuating vital signs. By qualitatively analysing patients' historical data, MALED customises threshold levels for each individual, enhancing the personalisation of care. The proposed DTA further refines this approach by examining the rate of change in health indicators. Clinically, this sensitivity to temporal variations aligns with the natural progression of many health conditions, promising earlier detection of potential emergencies.

Empirical results from a trial involving 100 patients demonstrate MALED's efficacy. Statistically, MALED showed a 5% increase in prediction accuracy over static methods. The DCA, when applied to the same dataset, indicated a 3% improvement in the early detection of adverse events, as evidenced by a lower FPR compared to traditional monitoring methods. LEDAS leverages the foundational work of MALED and DCA, optimising data acquisition rates to reflect the urgency of the patient's condition. The Sequential Multi-Dimensional Trend Analysis (SMDTA) builds on this foundation by incorporating a multi-faceted view of health trends. Qualitatively, SMDTA represents a nuanced approach to health monitoring, considering the interconnected nature of physiological signals. Quantitative findings suggest that the integration of LEDAS reduced data transmissions by up to 30%, while SMDTA's multi-dimensional analysis improved overall prediction sensitivity by 2%. These figures underscore the algorithms' potential to enhance clinical decision-making while conserving WBAN resources.

The clinical implications of the developed WBAN system are profound. MALED and DCA facilitate a responsive and personalised monitoring environment. SMDTA, with its sophisticated trend analysis, could become instrumental in predicting complex health events.

165

#### 4.8 Summary

In this pivotal chapter, the exploration of advanced algorithms within WBAN has been systematically undertaken, starting with the Modified Adaptive Local Emergency Detection (MALED) algorithm. This foundational algorithm sets the stage for further enhancements, with a focus on improving responsiveness to changes in patient health data.

The Differential Change Analysis (DCA) served as the initial enhancement to MALED, introducing a more nuanced approach to detecting variations in vital signs. By analysing the rate of change rather than relying on static thresholds, DCA provided a dynamic means to anticipate health issues, contributing to the proactive aspect of patient care in WBANs.

Building upon this foundation, the Local Emergency Detection Algorithm Using Adaptive Sampling (LEDAS) was proposed. LEDAS advanced the state of WBANs by optimising data collection processes, ensuring that data transmission was both efficient and timely. By intelligently adjusting sampling rates based on patient status, LEDAS enhanced the network's energy efficiency and responsiveness to emerging health concerns.

The sequential Multi-Dimensional Trend Analysis (SMDTA) represented the culmination of this progression. As the most sophisticated algorithm proposed, SMDTA expanded upon the capabilities of LEDAS by introducing multi-dimensional trend analysis. By examining the interdependencies between various vital signs, SMDTA offered an unprecedented level of insight into patient health, paving the way for enhanced predictive analytics in WBANs.

The chapter provided a comprehensive evaluation of these algorithms, scrutinising their performance through various lenses, including accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, precision, F1 score, and false positive rate. Each algorithm was rigorously compared to its predecessors, highlighting the iterative improvements and the increasing sophistication brought by each subsequent enhancement.

SMDTA emerged as the superior performer, demonstrating the highest accuracy and precision among the algorithms considered. Its ability to maintain a low false-positive rate while achieving a high F1 score underscored its potential to revolutionise patient monitoring and healthcare delivery.

In summary, the chapter presented a detailed and critical assessment of the progression from MALED to SMDTA, showcasing the evolution of anomaly detection and patient monitoring within WBANs. The algorithms developed and evaluated here represent significant advancements in the field, offering robust, efficient, and sophisticated tools for healthcare professionals to monitor and respond to patient health needs in real-time.

# Chapter 5

# 5. Conclusions and Future Directions

### 5.1 Conclusion

The development of technology offers several solutions for our day-to-day activities. Healthcare is one of the significant areas of our lives that increasingly depend on technology. With the technological revolution, healthcare has now developed beyond what it was previously. One of the blessings of technology is biosensors, and more specifically, wireless body area networks (WBAN). Many research papers have noted endeavours to create a robust solution using WBANs for healthcare applications. WBANs are primarily used for healthcare or healthcare-related applications to assist medical practitioners. As such, medical practitioners can gain confidence with the aid of technology. Several solutions have been proposed by researchers to address the ongoing problems in WBAN healthcare applications. A WBAN can be a potential solution for patient-assisted living. This is because most of the solutions offered for patient well-being require high reliability. A WBAN healthcare application is expected to perform quickly and accurately. Human health is the most dynamic area, and it is difficult to offer a one-stop solution with WBANs. Consequently, there is a tradeoff dilemma for the time and accuracy of these applications. The thesis, firstly, presents a comprehensive survey on anomaly or emergency detection and energy consumption.

The research set out with specific goals, including developing a robust decision-making framework, devising a user-friendly anomaly detection method, optimising local emergency detection, formulating a data reduction technique for low-power healthcare frameworks, and evaluating the performance of these systems against state-of-the-art techniques. - The research successfully integrated algorithms like MALED, DCA, and SMDTA into WBANs. These algorithms demonstrated a marked improvement in decision-making accuracy and responsiveness to patient health changes. For instance, MALED showed an accuracy of 96.05% and a sensitivity of 97.00%, highlighting its effectiveness. - The incorporation of DCA into the WBAN framework significantly enhanced the system's ability to detect anomalies early, with a 3% improvement in early detection of adverse events compared to traditional monitoring methods. This approach made anomaly detection more accessible and interpretable for healthcare practitioners. - The implementation of LEDAS, modified later with

SMDTA, optimised emergency detection by intelligently adjusting data acquisition rates. This optimisation was evident in the reduced data transmissions, conserving resources while maintaining effective patient monitoring. - The research effectively addressed the challenge of data volume in WBANs. For example, the integration of LEDAS reduced data transmissions by up to 30%, demonstrating the success of the data reduction techniques in minimising energy consumption without compromising the quality of health monitoring. - The performance of the proposed frameworks was rigorously evaluated and compared with existing techniques like OCSVM and decision trees. The results consistently indicated superior performance of the proposed models, both in terms of predictive accuracy and resource efficiency. It is found that the research has successfully met its stated objectives, making substantial contributions to the field of WBANs. The development and integration of advanced algorithms have not only enhanced the accuracy and efficiency of patient health monitoring but also ensured that these improvements are aligned with the practical constraints of WBANs, such as limited energy resources. The research outcomes demonstrate a significant advancement over traditional methods, indicating a promising future for WBAN technologies in healthcare. Through this work, WBANs have been shown to be capable of supporting more responsive, reliable, and patient-centered healthcare, paving the way for their broader adoption in various healthcare settings.

In Chapter 2, an extensive literature review is conducted. Several crucial factors condition the deployment of WBANS using edge devices in healthcare anomaly detection. These are shaped around key areas like threshold algorithms, decisions from vital signs, prediction accuracy, and personalised solutions, along with balancing energy efficiency and employing data reduction mechanisms like adaptive sampling. It has been found that the key to any WBAN system implementation is the detection algorithm, which is typically set around thresholds. However, threshold settings become significant limitations in this context. Due to individual physiological variations, one-size-fits-all threshold settings are challenging to implement. They can lead to false positives or negatives if they aren't adequately attuned to the individual user's typical vital sign patterns. Custom thresholds are an ideal solution but come with their own difficulties, such as the requirement for more complex computation and higher energy usage. Furthermore, the decision-making accuracy of the gathered vital signs is another significant limitation. It hinges on prediction issues such as the false prediction of anomalies

due to erratic but non-critical fluctuations in vital signs. This may lead to unnecessary panic and medical interventions, posing an issue for the reliability of this technology. Edge computing can be employed to improve the accuracy of decision-making quickly, but it introduces challenges about data privacy, latency, and energy consumption. Personalised solutions are key to addressing the above challenges, but they introduce their complexities. Personalising WBAN systems demands significant input from machine learning algorithms, which can tax the computational capabilities of edge devices. Furthermore, ensuring that these individualised solutions remain adaptable to changing user needs over time requires constant updates and recalibrations, significantly impacting the energy efficiency of the device. Energy efficiency itself is crucial to the functioning of edge devices in WBAN. The devices are often mobile and should work for extended periods without requiring frequent charging. Furthermore, ensuring that the devices can process and transmit data while consuming minimal energy is a considerable challenge in this application, and it is further accelerated by the demands of complex decision-making or adaptive algorithms. Lastly, data reduction techniques such as adaptive sampling can mitigate some of the issues presented by high data volumes, but they are not without their problems. While such methods can prevent unnecessary data transfer and computation, they also risk missing vital sign anomalies if the sampling isn't thorough enough. Balancing comprehensive data capture and computational efficiency is hence a significant limiting factor in using edge devices with WBAN for health anomaly detection. In conclusion, while considerable strides have been made in employing edge devices with WBAN in healthcare, there are still substantial limitations to be addressed. Balancing the accuracy of anomaly detection, responsive personalisation, and energy efficiency alongside appropriate data reduction poses a significant challenge. Resolving these concerns involves complex interplay between technological advances, algorithmic finetuning, and sensitive prioritisation of user needs.

Chapter 3 of the research presents an in-depth exploration of various algorithms and methods aimed at enhancing patient monitoring in WBANs. The chapter kicks off with the deployment of a simple threshold approach, acting as a basic method for detecting abnormalities in patient vital signs. While this approach is fundamental, it provides an essential framework for more refined enhancements. However, despite its effectiveness in certain circumstances, there are restrictions on its adaptability and sensitivity to individual patient variations. Acknowledging these restrictions, the research advances towards an enhanced model that incorporates input from physicians for the selection of sensors. This considerable step adds a layer of clinical relevance and expertise to the monitoring system. The system becomes more bespoke and patient-focused through the selection of specific sensors based on patients' needs by physicians. This focus could potentially lead to more accurate and clinically relevant monitoring outcomes. Nevertheless, the static nature of these thresholds still poses challenges in addressing the fluid nature of physiological data. The adoption of a dynamic threshold approach using moving averages introduces further advancements. This method is superior to the straightforward threshold technique as it allows the system to adapt to patients' condition changes over time, therefore providing a more reactive and accurate monitoring solution. While this was a significant progression, there was still potential for further enhancement since this only provides a binary outcome of normal or emergency. Threshold methods, while competent at simple anomaly detection, lacked the refinement needed for more complex and varied medical scenarios. A multi-level classification system bridges this gap by offering a layered approach to categorising patient health statuses. This system suggests multiple levels of health states, such as normal, warning, alert, and emergency, as opposed to a binary classification (normal or abnormal). This detail allows for a more nuanced understanding of a patient's health, enabling healthcare providers to make more informed decisions. For instance, a 'warning' status could indicate the need for heightened monitoring, while an 'emergency' status could prompt immediate medical intervention. This level of detail is vital in situations where patient conditions are intricate and require in-depth analysis. However, the inclusion of the Mahalanobis distance into the model—while it enhances predictive accuracy—brought its own set of challenges, especially concerning computational complexity. The Mahalanobis distance requires the computation of covariance matrices and their inverses, which can be computationally demanding, particularly as the number of monitored vital signs increases. This computation requires not only more processing power but also consumes more energy, a critical factor in resourcelimited WBAN environments. These complex calculations could potentially slow down the real-time processing capabilities of the system, a limitation significant in emergency contexts where swift response is imperative. Additionally, the chapter includes a comparative analysis of well-established algorithms such as the One-Class Support Vector Machine (OCSVM) and Decision Tree. These comparisons are essential in assessing the utility of the newly developed

methods against existing superior techniques. Known for their robustness in various applications, the OCSVM and Decision Tree methods provide a benchmark for evaluating the improvements made by the newly proposed methods. In this system model, the trial of machine learning algorithms like OCSVM and decision trees was a significant undertaking, intended for comparison with traditional methods. These algorithms were selected for their advanced capabilities in pattern recognition and data analysis, considered indispensable for enhancing the precision and reactivity of WBAN health monitoring systems. However, the findings obtained from these algorithms provided revealing insights about their applicability in WBAN scenarios. The OCSVM algorithm demonstrated potential in specificity but lagged in overall accuracy compared to other developed models. This discrepancy suggests limitations in its ability to comprehensively detect all relevant health emergencies. In contrast, the decision tree model performed better in both accuracy and sensitivity. It was more proficient at identifying true-positive cases but had a higher false-positive rate, suggesting premature flagging of normal scenarios as emergencies. These outcomes highlight the need to strike a critical balance between the sensitivity and specificity intrinsic to these models. From these outcomes, we could derive several key aspects. Firstly, both OCSVM and decision trees demanded significant computational complexity. This demand resulted in higher energy consumption, a crucial concern given WBAN environments' energy constraints. Secondly, the processing speed of these models posed a challenge, as patient monitoring requires real-time or near-real-time analysis. The time required to train and execute these models did not always align with the immediate response requirements of WBAN systems. Furthermore, while the decision trees were more sensitive to health changes, they were less specific, leading to unnecessary alerts. In contrast, while the OCSVM was more specific, it sometimes failed to detect vital health events, thus compromising sensitivity. Their general applicability across a diverse range of patient profiles and health conditions also raised concerns. This exploration led to the realisation that whilst OCSVM and Decision Trees brought valuable data analytics capabilities to WBAN health monitoring, they faced substantial limitations within the unique WBAN context. These included challenges related to computational demand, energy efficiency, real-time data processing, and achieving a balance between sensitivity and specificity. These insights were pivotal in guiding the research towards the development of more suitable models for WBANs. The subsequent creation of hybrid models, which combined the immediacy of threshold-based methods with the predictive accuracy of linear regression, aimed to strike a harmonious balance between computational efficiency, accuracy, and practical applicability. This approach sought to optimise patient health monitoring in WBANs, addressing the critical need for timely, accurate, and energy-efficient health data analysis. In Chapter 3, at the end we developed a hybrid approach that effectively amalgamated the immediacy of threshold-based methods with the predictive accuracy of linear regression, addressing the significant challenges of computational complexity and energy efficiency in WBANs. This innovative model was specifically designed to provide a more balanced, efficient, and accurate solution for patient health monitoring within the constraints of WBAN environments. The primary motivation for adopting this hybrid model was to overcome the limitations observed in previous approaches. Purely threshold-based methods, while excellent for quick anomaly detection, lacked the depth to predict health events based on evolving trends. On the other hand, linear regression excelled in trend analysis and predictions but often lagged in an immediate response to acute health changes. By integrating these two methodologies, the hybrid approach offered both rapid detection capabilities and insightful trend analysis. One of the most significant achievements of the hybrid model was its improved accuracy and sensitivity in monitoring patient health. It proved highly effective in detecting subtle yet critical changes in health data, which was a considerable advancement over the single-method models. Additionally, this approach achieved a reduction in false positives, a crucial aspect of avoiding unnecessary alarms and interventions in patient care. The adaptability of the hybrid model to individual patient data was another key advantage, enhancing its suitability for personalised healthcare monitoring. This adaptability is vital in tailoring care to the specific needs and conditions of individual patients, a growing trend in modern healthcare. Moreover, the hybrid model addressed the challenge of computational load, striking a balance between the simpler computations of threshold methods and the more intricate calculations of linear regression. This balance was crucial in making the model viable for WBANs, which typically operate with limited computational resources and energy constraints. In summary, the hybrid approach developed in our WBAN research represents a significant breakthrough, offering a practical and effective solution for real-time health monitoring. It combines the strengths of different analytical techniques to provide accurate, timely, and patient-specific health data analysis, setting a new standard for future developments in WBAN systems and highlighting the potential for innovative solutions in the field of health monitoring technology. The chapter also delves into

the computational complexity of each method. The simple threshold and physician-informed sensor selection methods are relatively less computationally intensive, making them suitable for real-time applications. However, the dynamic threshold and multi-level classification methods, along with the Mahalanobis distance approach, introduce increased complexity but offer higher accuracy and sensitivity. The hybrid algorithm, while being the most computationally demanding among the methods discussed, balances this complexity with significant improvements in prediction accuracy and system responsiveness. The chapter provides a detailed evaluation of various advancements in WBANs for patient monitoring, each contributing to a more accurate, responsive, and efficient system. The development of these methods, particularly the novel hybrid algorithm, marks a significant step forward in the field of healthcare technology, offering promising implications for future applications in patient monitoring and clinical decision-making. However, all the methods still do not provide a high standard of personalised, robust systems where energy can be saved while the system can detect early emergencies.

Chapter 4 of the research builds upon the advancements made in Chapter 3, where the exploration of predictive models in Wireless Body Area Networks (WBANs) transitioned from simpler algorithms to more complex ones. The progression from the Multi-Level Classification Threshold Algorithm (MLCTA) to the Modified Adaptive Local Emergency Detection (MALED) marked a significant change in approach, driven by the need for greater personalisation and adaptability in patient health monitoring. The shift to MALED was necessitated by certain limitations of MLCTA, particularly its rigid thresholding strategy, which couldn't adequately capture the dynamic and individual variability present in physiological data. While MLCTA excelled in offering a nuanced classification of patient health status, it lacked the adaptability to cater to the unique and evolving health patterns of individual patients. MALED addressed this gap by implementing a model that not only used threshold levels for emergency detection but also adapted these thresholds based on each patient's historical health data. This approach significantly enhanced the precision and personalisation of the WBAN system. Despite the advancements with MALED, there was a continual drive for improvement, particularly in terms of predictive capabilities and resource efficiency. The integration of Differential Change Analysis (DCA) into the MALED framework was a response to this challenge. DCA was proposed to address the need for a more proactive approach to predicting health events, enhancing the sensitivity of WBAN systems to subtle physiological changes that may not trigger conventional threshold-based alarms. By analysing the rate of change in health indicators, DCA provided an early warning system for potential health issues, offering deeper insights into patient health trends. This enhancement not only improved the predictive capabilities of WBAN systems but also refined patient monitoring by differentiating between normal fluctuations and signs of emerging health concerns, thereby reducing false alarms and enabling more targeted interventions. The integration of DCA thus represented a crucial step in evolving WBAN systems towards more accurate, reliable, and anticipatory health monitoring solutions. However, the application of MALED and DCA, while effective in anomaly detection and trend analysis, highlighted the need for optimising data acquisition rates. This led to the development of the local emergency detection algorithm using adaptive sampling (LEDAS). LEDAS was particularly focused on optimising the energy efficiency of the WBAN system. It dynamically adjusted the data collection frequency according to the urgency of the patient's condition, ensuring that resource consumption was aligned with the need for monitoring.

The final stage in the evolution presented in Chapter 4 was the incorporation of sequential multi-dimensional trend analysis (SMDTA) into the LEDAS framework. SMDTA marked a substantial enhancement by offering a multi-dimensional analysis of patient health. The SMDTA in this system was driven by the need to provide a more holistic and comprehensive analysis of patient health data. SMDTA was designed to go beyond single-parameter analysis, integrating multiple vital sign data to understand the complex interrelations and dependencies among various health indicators. This approach enabled the WBAN system to not just monitor individual health metrics in isolation but to interpret them in the context of a broader physiological landscape. The achievement of SMDTA lies in its ability to offer a nuanced view of patient health, improving the accuracy and sensitivity of health predictions. By considering the multi-dimensional nature of human physiology, SMDTA enhanced the predictive capabilities of the WBAN system, allowing for earlier and more precise detection of potential health issues. This comprehensive analysis also played a crucial role in minimising false positives and negatives, leading to more effective and efficient patient monitoring and care management. The integration of SMDTA thus marked a significant advancement in the field of WBANs, pushing the boundaries of what these systems can achieve in terms of patient health monitoring and predictive analytics. In a nutshell, Chapter 4 presents a continuous narrative of enhancing and refining WBAN predictive models, where each development phase, from MLCTA to SMDTA, was aimed at addressing specific limitations of the preceding models. This journey reflects a commitment to advancing WBAN technology to meet the complex demands of patient health monitoring, ultimately aiming to create a system that is both sophisticated and sensitive to the nuanced needs of healthcare.

#### 5.2 Future Direction

The thesis is centred around a variety of simulation-based experiments, with real clinical data serving as the backbone for these experiments. Despite proposing potential solutions, these have not yet been practically implemented or tested. One key future direction includes the establishment of an actual WBAN system to conduct this research in a real-world network environment. This would bolster the credibility and reliability of the results, enabling more straightforward data interpretation without the need for assumptions. In addition, it would offer the possibility of evaluating other variables like costs or comfort to the wearer.

Moreover, the synergy of WBANs with emerging technologies like Artificial Intelligence (AI), 5G, and the Internet of Things (IoT) have the potential to drastically enhance data transfer rates, analytic capacity, and the overall efficiency of the system. This combination could pave the way for real-time monitoring and predictive analytics of high precision, thereby enriching the standard of patient care. It is also intend to incorporate contextual analysis to make decision such as personal attributions and physical analysis such as motion, walking style, sleeping state, facial reaction etc.

Within the domain of healthcare applications utilising WBANs, time turns out to be the most crucial element. However, computing the processing time is no simple feat. A WBAN comprises a range of biosensors, each with its own unique computational capabilities, making the situation even more complex. Furthermore, a WBAN might be connected to several different networks, such as LAN, WiFi, and cellular networks. Given the diverse array of biosensors produced by various manufacturers, accurately calculating the processing time from an algorithm's runtime becomes a challenging task. For instance, while R is capable of calculating the processing time of an algorithm, the final output is subject to the system where R is deployed. In this research, we propose a hypothetical computational complexity using

both mathematical and practical approaches, which could extend to future studies. The concept of time complexity has sparked considerable interest among researchers. Big-O notation, a prevalent method for computing time complexity, signifies both the execution duration of a task and the steps it entails for completion. Calculating time complexity proves to be vital in evaluating the effectiveness of existing solutions regarding processing time reliability.

The sentiment shared is indeed an insightful one that touches on the very core of the challenges facing healthcare. The introduction of AI and machine learning systems in healthcare has undeniably offered a plethora of possibilities, but it also reveals the gaps that need to be addressed. In many of the systems currently researched or deployed, overemphasis on standard physiological data gathered by WBAN systems leaves out the rich tapestry of information that clinical carers often use to assess the condition of a patient. Surely, probing the heart rates, blood pressure levels, and body temperature offers useful information, but it is not the comprehensive range of criteria that medical practitioners deploy in framing a patient's health status. The key to actualizing an effective clinical prediction tool, therefore, lies in developing a model that considers a broad array of health indicators. A tool that incorporates past medical records, patient responses to prior treatments, and real-time physiological data can offer predictions that are more holistic, reliable, and actionable. Interdisciplinary collaboration comes into play here, which is extraordinarily significant. Medical professionals, AI experts, and data scientists need to pool their knowledge together to build these comprehensive systems. Rigorous clinical trials would ensure the predictions from such systems align with the real-world medical scenario and hold practical utility in healthcare settings. With the continuously growing focus on data in decision-making, considering the ethical aspects of data becomes increasingly significant. Ensuring data privacy and achieving informed consent from patients for their data usage sets an ethical standard for these AI-based tools and systems. In essence, the evolution of clinical prediction tools hinges on making full use of machine learning while staying tethered to realworld medical practices that are comprehensive and holistic. This can enhance the reliability of the systems and ensure the developed tools offer actionable insights to aid healthcare practitioners in patient care.

# References

[1] Howdon, D. and Rice, N., 2018. Health care expenditures, age, proximity to death and morbidity: Implications for an ageing population. Journal of health economics, 57, pp.60-74.

[2] Martin, A.B., Hartman, M., Benson, J., Catlin, A. and National Health Expenditure Accounts Team, 2023. National Health Care Spending In 2021: Decline In Federal Spending Outweighs Greater Use Of Health Care: Study examines national health care expenditures in 2021. Health Affairs, 42(1), pp.6-17.

[3] Keehan, S.P., Cuckler, G.A., Poisal, J.A., Sisko, A.M., Smith, S.D., Madison, A.J., Rennie, K.E., Fiore, J.A. and Hardesty, J.C., 2020. National Health Expenditure Projections, 2019–28: Expected Rebound In Prices Drives Rising Spending Growth: National health expenditure projections for the period 2019–2028. Health Affairs, 39(4), pp.704-714.

[4] www.nhsconfed.org. (n.d.). Key statistics on the NHS | NHS Confederation 2022. [online]
 Available at: https://www.nhsconfed.org/articles/key-statistics-nhs#:~:text=NHS%20
 [Accessed 22 Aug. 2023].

[5] J. C. Moskop, Ethics and Health Care: An Introduction. Cambridge Uni- versity Press, 2016.

[6] H. Alemdar and C. Ersoy, "Wireless sensor networks for healthcare: A sur-vey," Computer Networks, vol. 54, no. 15, pp. 2688–2710, 2010.

[7] R. Cavallari, F. Martelli, R. Rosini, C. Buratti, and R. Verdone, "A survey on wireless body area networks: technologies and design challenges," IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 1635–1657, 2014.

[8] Alderwick, H. and Dixon, J. (2019). The NHS long term plan. BMJ, 364(184), p.184.doi:https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.184.

[9] Vassli, L.T. and Farshchian, B.A., 2018. Acceptance of health-related ICT among elderly people living in the community: A systematic review of qualitative evidence. International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction, 34(2), pp.99-116.

[10] Portacolone, E., Rubinstein, R.L., Covinsky, K.E., Halpern, J. and Johnson, J.K., 2019. The precarity of older adults living alone with cognitive impairment. The Gerontologist, 59(2), pp.271-280.

[11] Scott, I.A. and Crock, C., 2020. Diagnostic error: incidence, impacts, causes and preventive strategies. Medical Journal of Australia, 213(7), pp.302-305.

[12] Pashayan, N. and Pharoah, P.D., 2020. The challenge of early detection in cancer. Science, 368(6491), pp.589-590.

[13] Chandola, V., Banerjee, A. and Kumar, V., 2009. Anomaly detection: A survey. ACM computing surveys (CSUR), 41(3), pp.1-58.

[14] Lopez, A., Lee, A., Guo, A., Konopka-Anstadt, J.L., Nisler, A., Rogers, S.L., Emery, B., Nix,
W.A., Oberste, S., Routh, J. and Patel, M., 2019. Vital Signs. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly
Report, 68(27), pp.608-614.

[15] S. Ullah et al., "A comprehensive survey of wireless body area networks," Journal of medical systems, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 1065–1094, 2012.

[16] Jordan, M.I. and Mitchell, T.M., 2015. Machine learning: Trends, perspectives, and prospects. Science, 349(6245), pp.255-260.

[17] Ott, R.L. and Longnecker, M.T., 2015. An introduction to statistical methods and data analysis. Cengage Learning.

[18] Javaid, M., Haleem, A., Singh, R.P., Suman, R. and Rab, S., 2022. Significance of machine learning in healthcare: Features, pillars and applications. International Journal of Intelligent Networks, 3, pp.58-73.

[19] Singh, K. and Upadhyaya, S., 2012. Outlier detection: applications and techniques. International Journal of Computer Science Issues (IJCSI), 9(1), p.307.

[20] D. Ramotsoela, A. Abu-Mahfouz, and G. Hancke, "A survey of anomaly detection in industrial wireless sensor networks with critical water system infrastructure as a case study," Sensors, vol. 18, no. 8, p. 2491, 2018.

[21] Ukil, A., Bandyoapdhyay, S., Puri, C. and Pal, A., 2016, March. IoT healthcare analytics: The importance of anomaly detection. In 2016 IEEE 30th international conference on advanced information networking and applications (AINA) (pp. 994-997). IEEE.

[22] Kamat, P. and Sugandhi, R., 2020. Anomaly detection for predictive maintenance in industry 4.0-A survey. In E3S web of conferences (Vol. 170, p. 02007). EDP Sciences.

179

[23] Ahmed, M., Mahmood, A.N. and Hu, J., 2016. A survey of network anomaly detection techniques. Journal of Network and Computer Applications, 60, pp.19-31.

[24] Liu, Q., Mkongwa, K.G. and Zhang, C., 2021. Performance issues in wireless body area networks for the healthcare application: a survey and future prospects. SN Applied Sciences, 3, pp.1-19.

[25] Chui, K.T., Alhalabi, W., Pang, S.S.H., Pablos, P.O.D., Liu, R.W. and Zhao, M., 2017. Disease diagnosis in smart healthcare: Innovation, technologies and applications. Sustainability, 9(12), p.2309.

[26] Rousseeuw, P.J. and Hubert, M., 2018. Anomaly detection by robust statistics. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery, 8(2), p.e1236.

[27] Kaur, H., Singh, G. and Minhas, J., 2013. A review of machine learning based anomaly detection techniques. arXiv preprint arXiv:1307.7286.

[28] Bao, Y., Tang, Z., Li, H. and Zhang, Y., 2019. Computer vision and deep learning–based data anomaly detection method for structural health monitoring. Structural Health Monitoring, 18(2), pp.401-421.

[29] Blázquez-García, A., Conde, A., Mori, U. and Lozano, J.A., 2021. A review on outlier/anomaly detection in time series data. ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR), 54(3), pp.1-33.

[30] Brooks, P., El-Gayar, O. and Sarnikar, S., 2015. A framework for developing a domain specific business intelligence maturity model: Application to healthcare. International Journal of Information Management, 35(3), pp.337-345.

[31] C. Habib, A. Makhoul, R. Darazi, and C. Salim, "Self-adaptive data collection and fusion for health monitoring based on body sensor networks," 2016.

[32] G. Elwyn et al., "Developing collaborate: a fast and frugal patient-reported measure of shared decision making in clinical encounters," Patient education and counseling, vol. 93, no. 1, pp. 102–107, 2013.
[33] N. Pombo, K. Bousson, P. Arau'jo, and J. Viana, "Medical decision-making inspired from aerospace multisensor data fusion concepts," Informatics for Health and Social Care, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 185–197, 2015.

[34] G. Fortino, S. Galzarano, R. Gravina, and W. Li, "A framework for collab- orative computing and multi-sensor data fusion in body sensor networks," Information Fusion, vol. 22, pp. 50–70, 2015.

[35] Y.-T. Bai et al., "A novel group decision-making method based on sensor data and fuzzy information," Sensors, vol. 16, no. 11, p. 1799, 2016.

[36] A. Soylemezoglu, S. Jagannathan, and C. Saygin, "Mahalanobis-taguchi sys- tem as a multi-sensor based decision making prognostics tool for centrifugal pump failures," IEEE Transactions on Reliability, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 864–878, 2011.

[37] J. Byers and G. Nasser, "Utility-based decision-making in wireless sensor networks," in Mobile and Ad Hoc Networking and Computing, 2000. Mobi- HOC. 2000 First Annual Workshop on. IEEE, 2000, pp. 143–144.

[38] Calvert, J.S., Price, D.A., Chettipally, U.K., Barton, C.W., Feldman, M.D., Hoffman, J.L., Jay, M. and Das, R., 2016. A computational approach to early sepsis detection. Computers in biology and medicine, 74, pp.69-73.

[39] Goueslard, K., Cottenet, J., Mariet, A.S., Giroud, M., Cottin, Y., Petit, J.M. and Quantin, C., 2016. Early cardiovascular events in women with a history of gestational diabetes mellitus. Cardiovascular diabetology, 15(1), pp.1-7.

[40] Matthay, M.A., Zemans, R.L., Zimmerman, G.A., Arabi, Y.M., Beitler, J.R., Mercat, A., Herridge, M., Randolph, A.G. and Calfee, C.S., 2019. Acute respiratory distress syndrome. Nature reviews Disease primers, 5(1), p.18.

[41] Hancock, A., Weeks, A.D. and Lavender, D.T., 2015. Is accurate and reliable blood loss estimation the crucial step in early detection of postpartum haemorrhage: an integrative review of the literature. BMC pregnancy and childbirth, 15, pp.1-9.

[42] Ahmed, A.M., Mohammed, A.T., Bastawy, S., Attalla, H.A., Yousef, A.A., Abdelrazek, M.S., Alkomos, M.F. and Ghareeb, A., 2019. Serum biomarkers for the early detection of the early-

onset neonatal sepsis: A single-center prospective study. Advances in Neonatal Care, 19(5), pp.E26-E32.

[43] Pashayan, N. and Pharoah, P.D., 2020. The challenge of early detection in cancer. Science, 368(6491), pp.589-590.

[44] Sun, G., Wen, Z., Ok, D., Doan, L., Wang, J. and Chen, Z.S., 2021. Detecting acute pain signals from human EEG. Journal of neuroscience methods, 347, p.108964.

[45] Lukmanto, R.B., Nugroho, A. and Akbar, H., 2019. Early detection of diabetes mellitus using feature selection and fuzzy support vector machine. Procedia Computer Science, 157, pp.46-54.

[46] Parthiban, N., Esterman, A., Mahajan, R., Twomey, D.J., Pathak, R.K., Lau, D.H., Roberts-Thomson, K.C., Young, G.D., Sanders, P. and Ganesan, A.N., 2015. Remote monitoring of implantable cardioverter-defibrillators: a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical outcomes. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 65(24), pp.2591-2600.

[47] Aslansefat, K., Gogani, M.B., Kabir, S., Shoorehdeli, M.A. and Yari, M., 2020. Performance evaluation and design for variable threshold alarm systems through semi-Markov process. ISA transactions, 97, pp.282-295.

[48] Bhuyan, M.H., Bhattacharyya, D.K. and Kalita, J.K., 2013. Network anomaly detection: methods, systems and tools. leee communications surveys & tutorials, 16(1), pp.303-336.

[49] Hilal, W., Gadsden, S.A. and Yawney, J., 2022. Financial fraud: a review of anomaly detection techniques and recent advances. Expert systems With applications, 193, p.116429.

[50] Chevtchenko, S.F., Rocha, E.D.S., Santos, M.C.M.D., Mota, R.L., Vieira, D.M., de Andrade, E.C. and de Araújo, D.R.B., 2023. Anomaly Detection in Industrial Machinery using IoT Devices and Machine Learning: a Systematic Mapping. arXiv preprint arXiv:2307.15807.

[51] Wasylewicz, A.T.M. and Scheepers-Hoeks, A.M.J.W., 2019. Clinical decision support systems. Fundamentals of clinical data science, pp.153-169.

[52] Fernandes, G., Rodrigues, J.J., Carvalho, L.F., Al-Muhtadi, J.F. and Proença, M.L., 2019. A comprehensive survey on network anomaly detection. Telecommunication Systems, 70, pp.447-489.

[53] Reddy, C.K. and Aggarwal, C.C. eds., 2015. Healthcare data analytics (Vol. 36). CRC Press.

[54] Dash, S., Shakyawar, S.K., Sharma, M. and Kaushik, S., 2019. Big data in healthcare: management, analysis and future prospects. Journal of big data, 6(1), pp.1-25.

[55] Mirsaeedi, G., Lackdizagi, S. and Ghoojazadeh, M., 2011. Demographic Factors Involved in Nurses' Clinical Decision Making. Iran Journal of Nursing (2008-5923), 24(72).

[56] Forrest, G.N., Van Schooneveld, T.C., Kullar, R., Schulz, L.T., Duong, P. and Postelnick, M., 2014. Use of electronic health records and clinical decision support systems for antimicrobial stewardship. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 59(suppl\_3), pp.S122-S133.

[57] Søreide, J.A. and Viste, A., 2011. Esophageal perforation: diagnostic work-up and clinical decision-making in the first 24 hours. Scandinavian journal of trauma, resuscitation and emergency medicine, 19(1), pp.1-7.

[58] Gultepe, E., Green, J.P., Nguyen, H., Adams, J., Albertson, T. and Tagkopoulos, I., 2014. From vital signs to clinical outcomes for patients with sepsis: a machine learning basis for a clinical decision support system. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association, 21(2), pp.315-325.

[59] Sikaris, K.A., 2017. Enhancing the clinical value of medical laboratory testing. The Clinical Biochemist Reviews, 38(3), p.107.

[60] Dambha-Miller, H., Everitt, H. and Little, P., 2020. Clinical scores in primary care. British Journal of General Practice, 70(693), pp.163-163.

[61] Rienstra, M., McManus, D.D. and Benjamin, E.J., 2012. Novel risk factors for atrial fibrillation: useful for risk prediction and clinical decision making?. Circulation, 125(20), pp.e941-e946.

[62] Elliott, M. and Coventry, A., 2012. Critical care: the eight vital signs of patient monitoring.British Journal of Nursing, 21(10), pp.621-625.

[63] Bickley, L. and Szilagyi, P.G., 2012. Bates' guide to physical examination and historytaking. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. [64] Habibzadeh, H., Dinesh, K., Shishvan, O.R., Boggio-Dandry, A., Sharma, G. and Soyata, T., 2019. A survey of healthcare Internet of Things (HIoT): A clinical perspective. IEEE Internet of Things Journal, 7(1), pp.53-71.

[65] Chikodili, N.B., Abdulmalik, M.D., Abisoye, O.A. and Bashir, S.A., 2020, November. Outlier detection in multivariate time series data using a fusion of K-medoid, standardized euclidean distance and Z-score. In International Conference on Information and Communication Technology and Applications (pp. 259-271). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

[66] Nakano, M., Takahashi, A. and Takahashi, S., 2017. Generalized exponential moving average (EMA) model with particle filtering and anomaly detection. Expert Systems with Applications, 73, pp.187-200.

[67] Liu, J., Tan, C.H., Badrick, T. and Loh, T.P., 2018. Moving standard deviation and moving sum of outliers as quality tools for monitoring analytical precision. Clinical Biochemistry, 52, pp.112-116.

[68] Ang, J.C., Mirzal, A., Haron, H. and Hamed, H.N.A., 2015. Supervised, unsupervised, and semi-supervised feature selection: a review on gene selection. IEEE/ACM transactions on computational biology and bioinformatics, 13(5), pp.971-989.

[69] Shailaja, K., Seetharamulu, B. and Jabbar, M.A., 2018, March. Machine learning in healthcare: A review. In 2018 Second international conference on electronics, communication and aerospace technology (ICECA) (pp. 910-914). IEEE.

[70] Burkart, N. and Huber, M.F., 2021. A survey on the explainability of supervised machine learning. Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research, 70, pp.245-317.

[71] Cervantes, J., Garcia-Lamont, F., Rodríguez-Mazahua, L. and Lopez, A., 2020. A comprehensive survey on support vector machine classification: Applications, challenges and trends. Neurocomputing, 408, pp.189-215.

[72] Madyatmadja, E.D., Rianto, A., Andry, J.F., Tannady, H. and Chakir, A., 2021, October. Analysis of big data in healthcare using decision tree algorithm. In 2021 1st International Conference on Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence (ICCSAI) (Vol. 1, pp. 313-317). IEEE.

[73] Qi, Y., 2012. Random forest for bioinformatics. Ensemble machine learning: Methods and applications, pp.307-323.

[74] Wang, Y., Zhao, Y., Therneau, T.M., Atkinson, E.J., Tafti, A.P., Zhang, N., Amin, S., Limper, A.H., Khosla, S. and Liu, H., 2020. Unsupervised machine learning for the discovery of latent disease clusters and patient subgroups using electronic health records. Journal of biomedical informatics, 102, p.103364.

[75] Sinaga, K.P. and Yang, M.S., 2020. Unsupervised K-means clustering algorithm. IEEE access, 8, pp.80716-80727.

[76] Thomas, R. and Judith, J.E., 2020, November. Hybrid Outlier Detection in Healthcare Datasets using DNN and One Class-SVM. In 2020 4th International Conference on Electronics, Communication and Aerospace Technology (ICECA) (pp. 1293-1298). IEEE.

[77] Ijaz, M.F., Alfian, G., Syafrudin, M. and Rhee, J., 2018. Hybrid prediction model for type 2 diabetes and hypertension using DBSCAN-based outlier detection, synthetic minority over sampling technique (SMOTE), and random forest. Applied sciences, 8(8), p.1325.

[78] Van Engelen, J.E. and Hoos, H.H., 2020. A survey on semi-supervised learning. Machine learning, 109(2), pp.373-440.

[79] Faust, O., Hagiwara, Y., Hong, T.J., Lih, O.S. and Acharya, U.R., 2018. Deep learning for healthcare applications based on physiological signals: A review. Computer methods and programs in biomedicine, 161, pp.1-13.

[80] Sherstinsky, A., 2020. Fundamentals of recurrent neural network (RNN) and long shortterm memory (LSTM) network. Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena, 404, p.132306.

[81] Gu, J., Wang, Z., Kuen, J., Ma, L., Shahroudy, A., Shuai, B., Liu, T., Wang, X., Wang, G., Cai,
J. and Chen, T., 2018. Recent advances in convolutional neural networks. Pattern recognition,
77, pp.354-377.

[82] Krishnan, S., Magalingam, P. and Ibrahim, R., 2021. Hybrid deep learning model using recurrent neural network and gated recurrent unit for heart disease prediction. International Journal of Electrical & Computer Engineering (2088-8708), 11(6).

[83] Che, Z., Cheng, Y., Zhai, S., Sun, Z. and Liu, Y., 2017, November. Boosting deep learning risk prediction with generative adversarial networks for electronic health records. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Data Mining (ICDM) (pp. 787-792). IEEE.

[84] Lee, Y.S. and Tong, L.I., 2011. Forecasting time series using a methodology based on autoregressive integrated moving average and genetic programming. Knowledge-Based Systems, 24(1), pp.66-72.

[85] Ouyang, Z., Ravier, P. and Jabloun, M., 2021. STL decomposition of time series can benefit forecasting done by statistical methods but not by machine learning ones. Engineering Proceedings, 5(1), p.42.

[86] Yadav, M. and Alam, M.A., 2018. Dynamic time warping (dtw) algorithm in speech: a review. International Journal of Research in Electronics and Computer Engineering, 6(1), pp.524-528.

[87] Taunk, K., De, S., Verma, S. and Swetapadma, A., 2019, May. A brief review of nearest neighbor algorithm for learning and classification. In 2019 international conference on intelligent computing and control systems (ICCS) (pp. 1255-1260). IEEE.

[88] Madakam, S., Lake, V., Lake, V. and Lake, V., 2015. Internet of Things (IoT): A literature review. Journal of Computer and Communications, 3(05), p.164.

[89] Herridge, M.S., Moss, M., Hough, C.L., Hopkins, R.O., Rice, T.W., Bienvenu, O.J. and Azoulay, E., 2016. Recovery and outcomes after the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) in patients and their family caregivers. Intensive care medicine, 42, pp.725-738.

[90] Shaukat, K., Alam, T.M., Luo, S., Shabbir, S., Hameed, I.A., Li, J., Abbas, S.K. and Javed, U., 2021. A review of time-series anomaly detection techniques: A step to future perspectives. In Advances in Information and Communication: Proceedings of the 2021 Future of Information and Communication Conference (FICC), Volume 1 (pp. 865-877). Springer International Publishing.

[91] Zhu, W., Zeng, N. and Wang, N., 2010. Sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, associated confidence interval and ROC analysis with practical SAS implementations. NESUG proceedings: health care and life sciences, Baltimore, Maryland, 19, p.67.

[92] Boyd, K., Eng, K.H. and Page, C.D., 2013. Area under the precision-recall curve: point estimates and confidence intervals. In Machine Learning and Knowledge Discovery in Databases: European Conference, ECML PKDD 2013, Prague, Czech Republic, September 23-27, 2013, Proceedings, Part III 13 (pp. 451-466). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

[93] Chicco, D. and Jurman, G., 2020. The advantages of the Matthews correlation coefficient (MCC) over F1 score and accuracy in binary classification evaluation. BMC genomics, 21(1), pp.1-13.

[94] Khan, S.A. and Rana, Z.A., 2019, February. Evaluating performance of software defect prediction models using area under precision-Recall curve (AUC-PR). In 2019 2nd International Conference on Advancements in Computational Sciences (ICACS) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.

[95] Sharma, R., Singla, R.K. and Guleria, A., 2018. A new labeled flow-based DNS dataset for anomaly detection: PUF dataset. Procedia computer science, 132, pp.1458-1466.

[96] Darwish, A. and Hassanien, A.E., 2011. Wearable and implantable wireless sensor network solutions for healthcare monitoring. Sensors, 11(6), pp.5561-5595.

[97] Hauskrecht, M., Batal, I., Valko, M., Visweswaran, S., Cooper, G.F. and Clermont, G., 2013. Outlier detection for patient monitoring and alerting. Journal of biomedical informatics, 46(1), pp.47-55.

[98] Ahmed, S., Saqib, M., Adil, M., Ali, T. and Ishtiaq, A., 2017, November. Integration of cloud computing with internet of things and wireless body area network for effective healthcare. In 2017 International Symposium on Wireless Systems and Networks (ISWSN) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.

[99] Naranjo-Hernández, D., Roa, L.M., Reina-Tosina, J., Estudillo-Valderrama, M.A. and Barbarov, G., 2015. Low-power platform and communications for the development of wireless body sensor networks. International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks, 11(7), p.431798.

[100] Kraemer, F.A., Braten, A.E., Tamkittikhun, N. and Palma, D., 2017. Fog computing in healthcare–a review and discussion. IEEE Access, 5, pp.9206-9222.

[101] Abdellatif, A.A., Mohamed, A., Chiasserini, C.F., Tlili, M. and Erbad, A., 2019. Edge computing for smart health: Context-aware approaches, opportunities, and challenges. IEEE Network, 33(3), pp.196-203.

[102] Satamraju, K.P., 2020. Proof of concept of scalable integration of internet of things and blockchain in healthcare. Sensors, 20(5), p.1389.

[103] Sriram, G.S., 2022. Edge computing vs. Cloud computing: an overview of big data challenges and opportunities for large enterprises. International Research Journal of Modernization in Engineering Technology and Science, 4(1), pp.1331-1337.

[104] O. Salem, A. Guerassimov, A. Mehaoua, A. Marcus, and B. Furht, "Anomaly detection in medical wireless sensor networks using svm and linear regression models," International Journal of E-Health and Medical Communications (IJEHMC), vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 20–45, 2014.

[105] O. Salem, Y. Liu, A. Mehaoua, and R. Boutaba, "Online anomaly detection in wireless body area networks for reliable healthcare monitoring," IEEE journal of biomedical and health informatics, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 1541–1551, 2014.

[106] S. A. Haque, M. Rahman, and S. M. Aziz, "Sensor anomaly detection in wireless sensor networks for healthcare," Sensors, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 8764–8786, 2015.

[107] G. Pachauri and S. Sharma, "Anomaly detection in medical wireless sensor networks using machine learning algorithms," Procedia Computer Science, vol. 70, pp. 325–333, 2015.

[108] S. Xie and Z. Chen, "Anomaly detection and redundancy elimination of big sensor data in internet of things," arXiv preprint arXiv:1703.03225, 2017.

[109] T. Aderibigbe and H. Chi, "A quick outlier detection in wireless body area networks," in Proceedings of the Practice and Experience in Advanced Re- search Computing 2017 on Sustainability, Success and Impact, 2017, pp. 1–3.

[110] F. A. Khan et al., "A continuous change detection mechanism to identify anomalies in ecg signals for wban-based healthcare environments," IEEE Access, vol. 5, pp. 13 531–13 544, 2017.

[111] O. Salem, A. Serhrouchni, A. Mehaoua, and R. Boutaba, "Event detection in wireless body area networks using kalman filter and power divergence," IEEE Transactions on Network and Service Management, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 1018–1034, 2018.

[112] S. Saraswathi, G. Suresh, and J. Katiravan, "False alarm detection using dynamic threshold in medical wireless sensor networks," Wireless Networks, pp. 1–13, 2019.

[113] L. Sun and J. He, "An extensible framework for ecg anomaly detection in wireless body sensor monitoring systems," International Journal of Sensor Networks, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 101–110, 2019.

[114] S. K. Nagdeo and J. Mahapatro, "Wireless body area network sensor faults and anomalous data detection and classification using machine learning," in 2019 IEEE Bombay Section Signature Conference (IBSSC). IEEE, 2019, pp. 1–6.

[115] Aboukhalil, A., Nielsen, L., Saeed, M., Mark, R.G. and Clifford, G.D., 2008. Reducing false alarm rates for critical arrhythmias using the arterial blood pressure waveform. Journal of biomedical informatics, 41(3), pp.442-451.

[116] Clifton, L., Clifton, D.A., Watkinson, P.J. and Tarassenko, L., 2011, September. Identification of patient deterioration in vital-sign data using one-class support vector machines. In 2011 federated conference on computer science and information systems (FedCSIS) (pp. 125-131). IEEE.

[117] Copetti, A., Leite, J.C., Loques, O. and Neves, M.F., 2013. A decision-making mechanism for context inference in pervasive healthcare environments. Decision Support Systems, 55(2), pp.528-537.

[118] Ramírez-Morales, I., Fernández-Blanco, E., Rivero, D. and Pazos, A., 2017. Automated early detection of drops in commercial egg production using neural networks. British poultry science, 58(6), pp.739-747.

[119] Alippi, C., Anastasi, G., Di Francesco, M. and Roveri, M., 2009. An adaptive sampling algorithm for effective energy management in wireless sensor networks with energy-hungry sensors. IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement, 59(2), pp.335-344.

[120] Ordoni, E., Moeini, A. and Badie, K., 2017, July. A new approach to recognize activities in smart environments based on cooperative game theory. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on INnovations in Intelligent SysTems and Applications (INISTA) (pp. 334-338). IEEE.

[121] Lim, L., Misra, A. and Mo, T., 2013. Adaptive data acquisition strategies for energyefficient, smartphone-based, continuous processing of sensor streams. Distributed and Parallel Databases, 31(2), pp.321-351.

[122] Magno, M., Polonelli, T., Casamassima, F., Gomez, A., Farella, E. and Benini, L., 2017. Energy-efficient context aware power management with asynchronous protocol for body sensor network. Mobile Networks and Applications, 22, pp.814-824.

[123] Nia, A.M., Mozaffari-Kermani, M., Sur-Kolay, S., Raghunathan, A. and Jha, N.K., 2015. Energy-efficient long-term continuous personal health monitoring. IEEE Transactions on Multi-Scale Computing Systems, 1(2), pp.85-98.

[124] Chen, S.Y., Lai, C.F., Hwang, R.H., Lai, Y.H. and Wang, M.S., 2015. An adaptive sensor data segments selection method for wearable health care services. Journal of medical systems, 39, pp.1-11.

[125] Yi, C., Wang, L. and Li, Y., 2015. Energy efficient transmission approach for WBAN based on threshold distance. IEEE sensors journal, 15(9), pp.5133-5141.

[126] Sodhro, A.H., Chen, L., Sekhari, A., Ouzrout, Y. and Wu, W., 2018. Energy efficiency comparison between data rate control and transmission power control algorithms for wireless body sensor networks. International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks, 14(1), p.1550147717750030.

[127] Zuhra, F.T., Bakar, K.A., Ahmed, A. and Tunio, M.A., 2017. Routing protocols in wireless body sensor networks: A comprehensive survey. Journal of Network and Computer Applications, 99, pp.73-97.

[128] Elias, J., 2014. Optimal design of energy-efficient and cost-effective wireless body area networks. Ad Hoc Networks, 13, pp.560-574.

[129] Chang, J.Y. and Ju, P.H., 2014. An energy-saving routing architecture with a uniform clustering algorithm for wireless body sensor networks. Future Generation Computer Systems, 35, pp.128-140.

[130] Nepal, S., Pudasani, A. and Shin, S., 2017. A fast channel assignment scheme for emergency handling in wireless body area networks. Sensors, 17(3), p.477.

[131] Rasheed, M.B., Javaid, N., Imran, M., Khan, Z.A., Qasim, U. and Vasilakos, A., 2017. Delay and energy consumption analysis of priority guaranteed MAC protocol for wireless body area networks. Wireless networks, 23, pp.1249-1266.

[132] Qi, X., Keally, M., Zhou, G., Li, Y. and Ren, Z., 2013, April. AdaSense: Adapting sampling rates for activity recognition in body sensor networks. In 2013 IEEE 19th Real-Time and Embedded Technology and Applications Symposium (RTAS) (pp. 163-172). IEEE.

[133] Ghasemzadeh, H., Amini, N., Saeedi, R. and Sarrafzadeh, M., 2014. Power-aware computing in wearable sensor networks: An optimal feature selection. IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing, 14(4), pp.800-812.

[134] Chu, D., Lane, N.D., Lai, T.T.T., Pang, C., Meng, X., Guo, Q., Li, F. and Zhao, F., 2011, November. Balancing energy, latency and accuracy for mobile sensor data classification. In Proceedings of the 9th ACM conference on embedded networked sensor systems (pp. 54-67).

[135] Martín, H., Iglesias, J., Cano, J., Bernardos, A.M. and Casar, J.R., 2012, March. Towards a fuzzy-based multi-classifier selection module for activity recognition applications. In 2012 IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications Workshops (pp. 871-876). IEEE.

[136] Ghosh, S., De, S., Chatterjee, S. and Portmann, M., 2021. Learning-based adaptive sensor selection framework for multi-sensing WSN. IEEE Sensors Journal, 21(12), pp.13551-13563.

[137] Idrees, A.K., Abou Jaoude, C. and Al-Qurabat, A.K.M., 2020, October. Data reduction and cleaning approach for energy-saving in wireless sensors networks of IoT. In 2020 16th International Conference on Wireless and Mobile Computing, Networking and Communications (WiMob) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.

[138] Qu, Y., Zheng, G., Wu, H., Ji, B. and Ma, H., 2019. An energy-efficient routing protocol for reliable data transmission in wireless body area networks. Sensors, 19(19), p.4238.

[139] Habib, C., Salim, C. and Mitton, N., 2022. Towards WBSNs Based Healthcare Applications: From Energy-Efficient Data Collection to Fusion. In 5G Impact on Biomedical Engineering (pp. 113-128). CRC Press.

[140] Elghers, S., Makhoul, A. and Laiymani, D., 2014, October. Local emergency detection approach for saving energy in wireless body sensor networks. In 2014 IEEE 10th International Conference on Wireless and Mobile Computing, Networking and Communications (WiMob) (pp. 585-591). IEEE.

[141] Salim, C., Makhoul, A., Darazi, R. and Couturier, R., 2016, April. Adaptive sampling algorithms with local emergency detection for energy saving in wireless body sensor networks. In NOMS 2016-2016 IEEE/IFIP Network Operations and Management Symposium (pp. 745-749). IEEE.

[142] Shawqi Jaber, A. and Kadhum Idrees, A., 2020. Adaptive rate energy-saving data collecting technique for health monitoring in wireless body sensor networks. International Journal of Communication Systems, 33(17), p.e4589.

[143] Xu, X., Zhao, F., Wang, W. and Tian, H., 2016. Adaptive sampling-based information collection for wireless body area networks. Sensors, 16(9), p.1385.

[144] Lee, C. and Lee, J., 2017, January. Harvesting and energy aware adaptive sampling algorithm for guaranteeing self-sustainability in wireless sensor networks. In 2017 International Conference on Information Networking (ICOIN) (pp. 57-62). IEEE.

[145] Lu, T., Liu, G., Li, W., Chang, S. and Guo, W., 2017. Distributed sampling rate allocation for data quality maximization in rechargeable sensor networks. Journal of Network and Computer Applications, 80, pp.1-9.

[146] Fathy, Y., Barnaghi, P. and Tafazolli, R., 2018, February. An adaptive method for data reduction in the internet of things. In 2018 IEEE 4th World Forum on Internet of things (WF-IOT) (pp. 729-735). IEEE.

[147] Azar, J., Habib, C., Darazi, R., Makhoul, A. and Demerjian, J., 2018, October. Using adaptive sampling and dwt lifting scheme for efficient data reduction in wireless body sensor networks. In 2018 14th international conference on wireless and mobile computing, networking and communications (WiMob) (pp. 1-8). IEEE.

[148] Başaran, M., Schlupkothen, S. and Ascheid, G., 2019, September. Adaptive sampling techniques for autonomous agents in wireless sensor networks. In 2019 IEEE 30th annual international symposium on personal, indoor and mobile radio communications (PIMRC) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.

[149] Bannay, A., Chaignot, C., Blotière, P.O., Basson, M., Weill, A., Ricordeau, P. and Alla, F., 2016. The best use of the Charlson comorbidity index with electronic health care database to predict mortality. Medical care, 54(2), pp.188-194.cha

[150] Lopez, S. and Americas, R.T.A.C., 2012. Pulse oximeter fundamentals and design. Free scale semiconductor, p.23.

[151] Karunanithy, K. and Velusamy, B., 2022. Edge device based efficient data collection in smart health monitoring system using wireless body area network. Biomedical signal processing and control, 72, p.103280.

[152] Yuce, M.R., Ng, P.C., Lee, C.K., Khan, J.Y. and Liu, W., 2007, August. A wireless medical monitoring over a heterogeneous sensor network. In 2007 29th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (pp. 5894-5898). IEEE.

[153] Aazam, M. and Huh, E.N., 2015, March. Fog computing micro datacenter based dynamic resource estimation and pricing model for IoT. In 2015 IEEE 29th international conference on advanced information networking and applications (pp. 687-694). IEEE.

[154] Hasan, K., Biswas, K., Ahmed, K., Nafi, N.S. and Islam, M.S., 2019. A comprehensive review of wireless body area network. Journal of Network and Computer Applications, 143, pp.178-198.

[155] Bhanumathi, V. and Kalaivanan, K., 2019. Application specific sensor-cloud: architectural model. Computational intelligence in sensor networks, pp.277-305.

[156] Kalaivanan, K. and Bhanumathi, V., 2018. Reliable location aware and Cluster-Tap Root based data collection protocol for large scale wireless sensor networks. Journal of Network and Computer Applications, 118, pp.83-101.

[157] Shi, W., Cao, J., Zhang, Q., Li, Y. and Xu, L., 2016. Edge computing: Vision and challenges. IEEE internet of things journal, 3(5), pp.637-646.

[158] Wang, T., Lu, Y., Cao, Z., Shu, L., Zheng, X., Liu, A. and Xie, M., 2019. When sensor-cloud meets mobile edge computing. Sensors, 19(23), p.5324.

[159] Zhao, W., Liu, J., Guo, H. and Hara, T., 2018. ETC-IoT: Edge-node-assisted transmitting for the cloud-centric internet of things. IEEE Network, 32(3), pp.101-107.

[160] Chen, X., Jiao, L., Li, W. and Fu, X., 2015. Efficient multi-user computation offloading for mobile-edge cloud computing. IEEE/ACM transactions on networking, 24(5), pp.2795-2808.

[161] Ren, J., Yu, G., He, Y. and Li, G.Y., 2019. Collaborative cloud and edge computing for latency minimization. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, 68(5), pp.5031-5044.

[162] Yi, S., Hao, Z., Qin, Z. and Li, Q., 2015, November. Fog computing: Platform and applications. In 2015 Third IEEE workshop on hot topics in web systems and technologies (HotWeb) (pp. 73-78). IEEE.

[163] Ha, K., Chen, Z., Hu, W., Richter, W., Pillai, P. and Satyanarayanan, M., 2014, June. Towards wearable cognitive assistance. In Proceedings of the 12th annual international conference on Mobile systems, applications, and services (pp. 68-81).

[164] Chun, B.G., Ihm, S., Maniatis, P., Naik, M. and Patti, A., 2011, April. Clonecloud: elastic execution between mobile device and cloud. In Proceedings of the sixth conference on Computer systems (pp. 301-314).

[165] Porambage, P., Okwuibe, J., Liyanage, M., Ylianttila, M. and Taleb, T., 2018. Survey on multi-access edge computing for internet of things realization. IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials, 20(4), pp.2961-2991.

[166] Ning, Z., Dong, P., Wang, X., Hu, X., Guo, L., Hu, B., Guo, Y., Qiu, T. and Kwok, R.Y., 2020. Mobile edge computing enabled 5G health monitoring for Internet of medical things: A decentralized game theoretic approach. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, 39(2), pp.463-478.

[167] Yuan, X., Tian, H., Wang, H., Su, H., Liu, J. and Taherkordi, A., 2020. Edge-enabled wbans for efficient qos provisioning healthcare monitoring: A two-stage potential game-based computation offloading strategy. IEEE Access, 8, pp.92718-92730.

[168] Roy, A., Roy, C., Misra, S., Rahulamathavan, Y. and Rajarajan, M., 2018, May. Care: Criticality-aware data transmission in cps-based healthcare systems. In 2018 IEEE International Conference on Communications Workshops (ICC Workshops) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.

[169] Merluzzi, M., Di Lorenzo, P., Barbarossa, S. and Frascolla, V., 2020. Dynamic computation offloading in multi-access edge computing via ultra-reliable and low-latency communications. IEEE Transactions on Signal and Information Processing over Networks, 6, pp.342-356.

[170] Safar, M., Ahmad, I. and Al-Yatama, A., 2017, September. Energy-aware computation offloading in wearable computing. In 2017 International Conference on Computer and Applications (ICCA) (pp. 266-278). IEEE.

[171] Isa, I.S.B.M., El-Gorashi, T.E., Musa, M.O. and Elmirghani, J.M., 2020. Energy efficient fog-based healthcare monitoring infrastructure. IEEE Access, 8, pp.197828-197852.

[172] Wan, J., Chen, B., Wang, S., Xia, M., Li, D. and Liu, C., 2018. Fog computing for energyaware load balancing and scheduling in smart factory. IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics, 14(10), pp.4548-4556.

[173] Yosuf, B.A., Musa, M., Elgorashi, T. and Elmirghani, J., 2020. Energy efficient distributed processing for IoT. IEEE Access, 8, pp.161080-161108.

[174] Merluzzi, M., di Pietro, N., Di Lorenzo, P., Strinati, E.C. and Barbarossa, S., 2019, December. Network energy efficient mobile edge computing with reliability guarantees. In 2019 IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.

[175] Ranadheera, S., Maghsudi, S. and Hossain, E., 2018. Computation offloading and activation of mobile edge computing servers: A minority game. IEEE Wireless Communications Letters, 7(5), pp.688-691.

[176] Sharma, B., Mittal, P. and Obaidat, M.S., 2020. Power-saving policies for annual energy cost savings in green computing. International Journal of Communication Systems, 33(4), p.e4225.

[177] Xiao, Y. and Krunz, M., 2017, May. QoE and power efficiency tradeoff for fog computing networks with fog node cooperation. In IEEE INFOCOM 2017-IEEE Conference on Computer Communications (pp. 1-9). IEEE.

[178] Xiao, Y. and Krunz, M., 2018. Distributed optimization for energy-efficient fog computing in the tactile internet. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, 36(11), pp.2390-2400.

[179] Apostolopoulos, P.A., Tsiropoulou, E.E. and Papavassiliou, S., 2020. Risk-aware data offloading in multi-server multi-access edge computing environment. IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking, 28(3), pp.1405-1418.

[180] Zhang, T., 2017. Data offloading in mobile edge computing: A coalition and pricing based approach. IEEE Access, 6, pp.2760-2767.

[181] Nassra, I. and Capella, J.V., 2023. Data Compression Techniques in IoT-enabled Wireless Body Sensor Networks: A Systematic Literature Review and Research Trends for QoS Improvement. Internet of Things, p.100806.

[182] Passos, C., Pedroso, C., Batista, A., Nogueira, M. and Santos, A., 2020, November. GROWN: Local Data Compression in Real-Time To Support Energy Efficiency in WBAN. In 2020 IEEE Latin-American Conference on Communications (LATINCOM) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.

[183] T. Srisooksai, K. Keamarungsi, P. Lamsrichan, and K. Araki, "Practical data compression in wireless sensor networks: A survey," Journal of Network and Computer Applications, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 37–59, 2012.

[184] Dang, L.M., Piran, M.J., Han, D., Min, K. and Moon, H., 2019. A survey on internet of things and cloud computing for healthcare. Electronics, 8(7), p.768.

[185] Fawcett, T., 2006. An introduction to ROC analysis. Pattern recognition letters, 27(8), pp.861-874.

[186] Faini, A., Parati, G., Di Rienzo, M. and Castiglioni, P., 2013, September. Night and day changes in heart rate and blood pressure fractal dimensions from 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring devices. In Computing in Cardiology 2013 (pp. 475-478). IEEE.

[187] Parati, G., 2005. Blood pressure variability: its measurement and significance in hypertension. Journal of hypertension, 23, pp.S19-S25.

[188] Goldberger, A.L., Amaral, L.A., Glass, L., Hausdorff, J.M., Ivanov, P.C., Mark, R.G., Mietus, J.E., Moody, G.B., Peng, C.K. and Stanley, H.E., 2000. PhysioBank, PhysioToolkit, and PhysioNet: components of a new research resource for complex physiologic signals. circulation, 101(23), pp.e215-e220.

[189] Ibrahim, H., Kong, N.S.P. and Ng, T.F., 2008. Simple adaptive median filter for the removal of impulse noise from highly corrupted images. IEEE Transactions on Consumer Electronics, 54(4), pp.1920-1927.

[190] Gallegos-Funes, F.J., Ponomaryov, V.I., Sadovnychiy, S. and Nino-de-Rivera, L., 2002. Median M-type K-nearest neighbour (MM-KNN) filter to remove impulse noise from corrupted images. Electronics Letters, 38(15), p.1.

[191] Royal College of Physicians (2017). Chart 1: The NEWS scoring system National Early Warning Score (NEWS) 2. Available at: https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/file/9434/download.

[192] H. Murtaza et al., "Correlation analysis of vital signs to monitor disease risks in ubiquitous healthcare system," EAI Endorsed Transactions on Industrial Networks and Intelligent Systems, 2020.

[193] Amazon (2023). Amazon Web Services (AWS) - Cloud Computing Services. [online] Amazon Web Services, Inc. Available at: <u>https://aws.amazon.com/</u>.

[194] NHS (2018). News 2.0 Patient label ADULT PATIENT OBSERVATION CHART. [online] Available at: https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/library/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2019/01/NEWS-24-May-2018-Final.pdf.

[195] Ghorbani, H., 2019. Mahalanobis distance and its application for detecting multivariate outliers. Facta Universitatis, Series: Mathematics and Informatics, pp.583-595.

[196] Abdi, H., 2007. Z-scores. Encyclopedia of measurement and statistics, 3, pp.1055-1058.

[197] Sharma, A.B., Golubchik, L. and Govindan, R., 2010. Sensor faults: Detection methods and prevalence in real-world datasets. ACM Transactions on Sensor Networks (TOSN), 6(3), pp.1-39.

[198] Serkani, E., Garakani, H.G. and Mohammadzadeh, N., 2019. Anomaly detection using SVM as classifier and decision tree for optimizing feature vectors. The ISC International Journal of Information Security, (firstonline).

[199] Du, D.Z. and Ko, K.I., 2011. Theory of computational complexity (Vol. 58). John Wiley & Sons.

[200] Arora, S. and Barak, B., 2009. Computational complexity: a modern approach. Cambridge University Press.

[201] Montgomery, D.C., Peck, E.A. and Vining, G.G., 2021. Introduction to linear regression analysis. John Wiley & Sons.

[202] Pachauri, G. and Sharma, S., 2015. Anomaly detection in medical wireless sensor networks using machine learning algorithms. Procedia Computer Science, 70, pp.325-333.

[203] Faye, P.M., De Jonckheere, J., Logier, R., Kuissi, E., Jeanne, M., Rakza, T. and Storme, L., 2010. Newborn infant pain assessment using heart rate variability analysis. The Clinical journal of pain, 26(9), pp.777-782.

[204] Bellieni, C.V., 2012. Pain assessment in human fetus and infants. The AAPS journal, 14, pp.456-461.

[205] Babroudi, S., Mohanty, S., Rajwani, A., Guzman, L., Topper, L., Asber, S., Freund, K. and Kher, S., 2023. Development and Implementation of an Escalation Protocol for Internal Medicine Trainees. ATS Scholar, pp.ats-scholar.

[206] Forster, S., McKeever, T.M. and Shaw, D., 2022. Effect of implementing the NEWS2 escalation protocol in a large acute NHS trust: a retrospective cohort analysis of mortality, workload and ability of early warning score to predict death within 24 hours. BMJ open, 12(11), p.e064579.

[207] Vergütz, A., da Silva, R., Nacif, J.A.M., Vieira, A.B. and Nogueira, M., 2017, November. Mapping critical illness early signs to priority alert transmission on wireless networks. In 2017 IEEE 9th Latin-American Conference on Communications (LATINCOM) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.

[208] Borges, G. and Brusamarello, V., 2016. Sensor fusion methods for reducing false alarms in heart rate monitoring. Journal of clinical monitoring and computing, 30, pp.859-867.

[209] de Mello Dantas, H. and de Farias, C.M., 2020, October. A data fusion algorithm for clinically relevant anomaly detection in remote health monitoring. In 2020 International Symposium on Networks, Computers and Communications (ISNCC) (pp. 1-8). IEEE.

[210] Churpek, M.M., Yuen, T.C., Winslow, C., Meltzer, D.O., Kattan, M.W. and Edelson, D.P., 2016. Multicenter comparison of machine learning methods and conventional regression for predicting clinical deterioration on the wards. Critical care medicine, 44(2), p.368.

[211] Phadat, D. and Bhole, A., 2014. Sensor network for patient monitoring. Int. Jour. of Research in Advent Technology, 2(1).

[212] Tao, D., Jin, L., Wang, Y. and Li, X., 2013. Rank preserving discriminant analysis for human behavior recognition on wireless sensor networks. IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics, 10(1), pp.813-823.

[213] O'Neill, S.M., Clyne, B., Bell, M., Casey, A., Leen, B., Smith, S.M., Ryan, M. and O'Neill,
M., 2021. Why do healthcare professionals fail to escalate as per the early warning system
(EWS) protocol? A qualitative evidence synthesis of the barriers and facilitators of escalation.
BMC emergency medicine, 21(1), pp.1-19.

[214] Makhoul, A., Laiymani, D., Harb, H. and Bahi, J.M., 2015. An adaptive scheme for data collection and aggregation in periodic sensor networks. International journal of sensor networks, 18(1-2), pp.62-74.

[215] Makhoul, A., Harb, H. and Laiymani, D., 2015. Residual energy-based adaptive data collection approach for periodic sensor networks. Ad Hoc Networks, 35, pp.149-160.

[216] Alippi, C., Anastasi, G., Di Francesco, M. and Roveri, M., 2009. An adaptive sampling algorithm for effective energy management in wireless sensor networks with energy-hungry sensors. IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement, 59(2), pp.335-344.

[217] Masoum, A., Meratnia, N. and Havinga, P.J., 2013, April. An energy-efficient adaptive sampling scheme for wireless sensor networks. In 2013 IEEE Eighth International Conference on Intelligent Sensors, Sensor Networks and Information Processing (pp. 231-236). IEEE.

[218] Wood, J.S., Firbank, M.J., Mosimann, U.P., Watson, R., Barber, R., Blamire, A.M. and O'Brien, J.T., 2013. Testing visual perception in dementia with Lewy bodies and Alzheimer disease. The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 21(6), pp.501-508.

[219] Laiymani, D. and Makhoul, A., 2013, July. Adaptive data collection approach for periodic sensor networks. In 2013 9th international wireless communications and Mobile computing conference (IWCMC) (pp. 1448-1453). IEEE.

[220] Ravishankar, H., Saha, A., Swamy, G. and Genc, S., 2014, August. An early respiratory distress detection method with markov models. In 2014 36th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (pp. 3438-3441). IEEE.

[221] Lyu, X., 2023. Application of Machine Learning to Health Data: From Clinical to Genomics (Doctoral dissertation, ETH Zurich).

[222] Thanh Noi, P. and Kappas, M., 2018. Comparison of random forest, k-nearest neighbor, and support vector machine classifiers for land cover classification using Sentinel-2 imagery. Sensors, 18(1), p.18.

[223] Su, J., Long, Y., Qiu, X., Li, S. and Liu, D., 2015. Anomaly detection of single sensors using OCSVM\_KNN. In Big Data Computing and Communications: First International Conference, BigCom 2015, Taiyuan, China, August 1-3, 2015, Proceedings 1 (pp. 217-230). Springer International Publishing.

[224] Naseem, A., Salem, O., Liu, Y. and Mehaoua, A., 2013, October. Reliable vital sign collection in medical wireless sensor networks. In 2013 IEEE 15th International Conference on e-Health Networking, Applications and Services (Healthcom 2013) (pp. 289-293). IEEE.

[225] Salem, O., Liu, Y. and Mehaoua, A., 2013. Anomaly detection in medical wireless sensor networks. Journal of Computing Science and Engineering, 7(4), pp.272-284.

[226] Smrithy, G.S., Balakrishnan, R. and Sivakumar, N., 2019. Anomaly detection using dynamic sliding window in wireless body area networks. In Data Science and Big Data Analytics: ACM-WIR 2018 (pp. 99-108). Springer Singapore.

[227] Dwivedi, R.K., Kumar, R. and Buyya, R., 2021. Gaussian distribution-based machine learning scheme for anomaly detection in healthcare sensor cloud. International Journal of Cloud Applications and Computing (IJCAC), 11(1), pp.52-72.

[228] Zois, D.S., Levorato, M. and Mitra, U., 2013. Energy-efficient, heterogeneous sensor selection for physical activity detection in wireless body area networks. IEEE Transactions on signal processing, 61(7), pp.1581-1594.

[229] Ordoni, E., Moeini, A. and Badie, K., 2017, July. A new approach to recognize activities in smart environments based on cooperative game theory. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on INnovations in Intelligent SysTems and Applications (INISTA) (pp. 334-338). IEEE.

[230] Chen, S.Y., Lai, C.F., Hwang, R.H., Lai, Y.H. and Wang, M.S., 2015. An adaptive sensor data segments selection method for wearable health care services. Journal of medical systems, 39, pp.1-11.

[231] Magno, M., Polonelli, T., Casamassima, F., Gomez, A., Farella, E. and Benini, L., 2017. Energyefficient context aware power management with asynchronous protocol for body sensor network. Mobile Networks and Applications, 22, pp.814-824.

[232] Crosby, G.V., Ghosh, T., Murimi, R. and Chin, C.A., 2012. Wireless body area networks for healthcare: A survey. International Journal of Ad Hoc, Sensor & Ubiquitous Computing, 3(3), p.1.

[233] Lin, L., Yang, C., Wong, K.J., Yan, H., Shen, J. and Phee, S.J., 2014. An energy efficient MAC protocol for multi-hop swallowable body sensor networks. Sensors, 14(10), pp.19457-19476.

[234] Shoaib, M., Bosch, S., Incel, O.D., Scholten, H. and Havinga, P.J., 2014. Fusion of smartphone motion sensors for physical activity recognition. Sensors, 14(6), pp.10146-10176.

[235] Thamilarasu, G. and Ma, Z., 2015, June. Autonomous mobile agent based intrusion detection framework in wireless body area networks. In 2015 IEEE 16th international symposium on a world of wireless, mobile and multimedia networks (WoWMoM) (pp. 1-3). IEEE.

[236] Odesile, A. and Thamilarasu, G., 2017, September. Distributed intrusion detection using mobile agents in wireless body area networks. In 2017 Seventh International Conference on Emerging Security Technologies (EST) (pp. 144-149). IEEE.

[237] Massoud, S., Ahmad, Y.S., Alkubeily, M. and Ahmad, A.S., 2017. Reducing Energy Consumption in WBSNs using Statistic Test to detect Duplicated Data. International Journal of Innovative Research in Computer and Communication Engineering (IJIRCCE), 5(12), pp.17608-17615. [238] Shaikh, S., Waghole, D., Kumbhar, P., Kotkar, V. and Awaghade, P., 2017, December. Patient monitoring system using IoT. In 2017 international conference on big data, IoT and data science (BID) (pp. 177-181). IEEE.

[239] Arfaoui, A., Kribeche, A., Senouci, S.M. and Hamdi, M., 2019. Game-based adaptive anomaly detection in wireless body area networks. Computer Networks, 163, p.106870.

## 'Appendix

### A.1 Anomaly detection

Anomaly detection techniques in healthcare data analysis offer significant benefits, including early detection, improved patient safety, and automated surveillance. However, challenges like false positives, imbalanced data, and interpretability need to be addressed to ensure the reliability and effectiveness of these methods. Selecting the most appropriate technique should consider the specific healthcare application, the quality of the available data, and the resources and expertise available for implementation.

The following are the most common applications of healthcare anomalies, highlighting their significance and impact:

- Patient Monitoring and Safety: Anomaly detection plays a pivotal role in continuously monitoring patients' vital signs and physiological parameters. By identifying deviations from established norms in heart rate, blood pressure, respiratory rate, and temperature, healthcare professionals can intervene promptly to prevent adverse events and ensure patient safety. This application is particularly critical in intensive care units (ICUs) and critical care settings, where rapid responses are vital for patient well-being.
- Early Disease Detection: Anomaly detection contributes to early disease detection by identifying subtle deviations in patient data that may signify the onset of health conditions. Timely recognition of anomalies in physiological patterns or diagnostic test results allows for

early interventions and improved disease management. This application holds immense potential for enhancing public health efforts, preventing disease outbreaks, and optimising treatment outcomes.

- Medication Error Prevention: Anomaly detection is instrumental in preventing medication errors by scrutinising medication administration records for irregularities. Detecting discrepancies such as incorrect dosages, missed doses, or improper administration routes ensures patient safety and reduces the risk of adverse drug reactions. This application minimises the potential harm associated with medication errors and contributes to improved treatment adherence.
- Healthcare Fraud Detection: Anomaly detection serves as a powerful tool in detecting fraudulent activities within healthcare billing, insurance claims, and reimbursement processes. By identifying anomalous patterns in financial transactions and claims data, anomaly detection helps combat healthcare fraud, ensuring accurate allocation of resources and preserving the financial integrity of healthcare systems.
- Early Disease Detection: Anomaly detection contributes to early disease detection by identifying subtle deviations in patient data that may signify the onset of health conditions. Timely recognition of anomalies in physiological patterns or diagnostic test results allows for early interventions and improved disease management. This application holds immense potential for enhancing public health efforts, preventing disease outbreaks, and optimising treatment outcomes.
- Medication Error Prevention: Anomaly detection is instrumental in preventing medication errors by scrutinising medication administration records for irregularities. Detecting discrepancies such as incorrect dosages, missed doses, or improper administration routes ensures patient safety and reduces the risk of adverse drug reactions. This application minimises the potential harm associated with medication errors and contributes to improved treatment adherence.
- Healthcare Fraud Detection: Anomaly detection serves as a powerful tool in detecting fraudulent activities within healthcare billing, insurance claims, and reimbursement processes. By identifying anomalous patterns in financial transactions and claims data, anomaly detection helps combat healthcare fraud, ensuring accurate allocation of resources and preserving the financial integrity of healthcare systems.
- Diagnostic Test Result Anomalies: Anomaly detection techniques are utilised to detect deviations in diagnostic test results, such as blood tests or genetic analyses. Detecting anomalies in test data allows for the early identification of underlying health conditions,

facilitating accurate diagnoses and tailored treatment strategies. This application optimises disease assessment and management.

- Workflow Optimisation: Anomaly detection extends to optimising healthcare workflows by identifying deviations from established protocols, resource utilisation patterns, or delays in patient care processes. By highlighting workflow anomalies, healthcare administrators and providers can streamline operations, improve efficiency, and enhance the quality of patient services.
- Predictive Analytics: Anomaly detection techniques enable predictive analytics by identifying trends and patterns that deviate from expected norms. By analysing historical patient data, anomaly detection can forecast potential health risks, disease progression, or treatment responses. This application supports proactive healthcare interventions and personalised treatment planning.

## A.2 Vital Signs

Set of factors that reflect physical health classified as 'physiological signs' or 'vitalsigns'. Generally it consist the following vital signs:

- Respiratory rate (breaths/min);
- Oxygen saturation;
- Temperature (C);
- Blood Pressure;
- Heart rate (beats/min);



Figure A.2: Vital signs.

A.3 Normal Range of vital signs

Table A.3: Normal Range of vital signs

Normal ranges: respiratory rate (RR), heart rate (HR) and blood pressue (BP)							
	Guide (k	weight g)	RR At rest HR		BP Systolic		
Age	Boys	Girls	minute 5th-95th centile	Beats per minute 5th-95th centile	5th centile	50th centile	95th centile
Birth	3.5	3.5	25-50	120-170	65-75	80-90	105
1 month	4.5	4.5					
3 months	6.5	6	25-45	115-160			
6 months	8	7	20-40	110-160			
12 months	9.5	9			70-75	85-95	
18 months	11	10	20-35	100-155			
2 years	12	12	20-30	100-150	70-80	85-100	110
3 years	14	14		90-140			
4 years	16	16		80-135			
5 years	18	18			80-90	90-110	111-120
6 years	21	20		80-130			
7 years	23	22					
8 years	25	25	15-25	70-120			
9 years	28	28					
10 years	31	32					
11 years	35	35					
12 years	43	43	12-24	65-115	90-105	100-120	125-140
14 years	50	50		60-110			
Adult	70	70					

## A.4 Pain Response

NEWS SCORE	FREQUENCY OF MONITORING	CLINICAL RESPONSE
0	Minimum 12 hourly	Continue routine NEWS monitoring with every set of observations
Total: 1-4	Minimum 4-6 hourly	<ul> <li>Inform registered nurse who must assess the patient;</li> <li>Registered nurse to decide if increased frequency of monitoring and / or escalation of clinical care is required;</li> </ul>
Total: 5 or more or 3 in one parameter	Increased frequency to a minimum of 1 hourly	<ul> <li>Registered nurse to urgently inform the medical team caring for the patient;</li> <li>Urgent assessment by a clinician with core competencies to assess acutely ill patients;</li> <li>Clinical care in an environment with monitoring facilities;</li> </ul>
Total: 7 or more	Continuous monitoring of vital signs	<ul> <li>Registered nurse to <b>Immediately</b> inform the medical team caring for the patient – this should be at least at Specialist Registrar level;</li> <li>Emergency assessment by a clinical team with critical care competencies, which also includes a practitioner/s with advanced airway skills;</li> <li>Consider transfer of Clinical care to a level 2 or 3 care facility, i.e. higher dependency or ITU;</li> </ul>

Figure A.4: Pain response table.

## A.5 Pain Assessment Tool



Figure A.5: Pain assessment tool

## A.6 Sample data looks like

SL #	SYSTOLICBP	SpO2	HR	PULSE	RESP	TEMP
1	151	97	133	132	32	36.8
2	153	97	133	132	32	36.7
3	154	97	133	132	32	36.6
4	152	97	133	132	29	36.9
5	147	98	133	132	29	36.8
6	144	98	133	132	29	36.6
7	154	98	133	132	30	36.6
8	147	98	133	132	36	37.1
9	149	99	133	115	36	36.5
10	151	99	133	115	38	36.5

## A.7: Physionet data training certificate

#### COLLABORATIVE INSTITUTIONAL TRAINING INITIATIVE (CITI PROGRAM) COMPLETION REPORT - PART 1 OF 2 COURSEWORK REQUIREMENTS\*

\* NOTE: Scores on this <u>Requirements Report</u> reflect quiz completions at the time all requirements for the course were met. See list below for details. See separate Transcript Report for more recent quiz scores, including those on optional (supplemental) course elements.



For this Report to be valid, the learner identified above must have had a valid affiliation with the CITI Program subscribing institution identified above or have been a paid Independent Learner.

Verify at: www.citiprogram.org/verify/?k45f8c635-cd6b-4bda-9ca4-ae643c2dda10-22577648

Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative (CITI Program) Email: <u>support@citiprogram.org</u> Phone: 888-529-5929 Web: <u>https://www.citiprogram.org</u>



# Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative

#### COLLABORATIVE INSTITUTIONAL TRAINING INITIATIVE (CITI PROGRAM) COMPLETION REPORT - PART 2 OF 2 COURSEWORK TRANSCRIPT\*\*

** NOTE: Scores on this <u>Transcr</u> course. See list below for details	<u>ipt Report</u> reflect the most current quiz completions, including quizzes on optional ( . See separate Requirements Report for the reported scores at the time all requiren	supplemental) elemental elements for the course	ents of the were met.	
• Name:	Maeum Billah /ID: 6223748)			
<ul> <li>Institution Affiliation:</li> </ul>	Massachusette Institute of Technology Affiliates (ID: 1012)			
Institution Annauon:	Institution Affiliation: Massachusetts Institute of Lechnology Affiliates (ID: 1912)			
Institution Email:	Seienee and angineering			
- Institution onit.				
· Fione.				
Curriculum Group:	Human Research			
<ul> <li>Course Learner Group</li> </ul>	: Data or Specimens Only Research			
Stage:	Stage 2 - Refresher Course			
Record ID:	22577648			
Report Date:	10-Mar-2017			
Current Score**:	100			
REQUIRED, ELECTIVE, AND S	SUPPLEMENTAL MODULES	MOST RECENT	SCORE	
Biomed Refresher 2 - Instruction	10-Mar-2017	No Quiz		
Biomed Refresher 2 - History ar	nd Ethical Principles (ID: 511)	10-Mar-2017	3/3 (100%)	
Biomed Refresher 2 - Regulatio	ns and Process (ID: 512)	10-Mar-2017	2/2 (100%)	
Biomed Refresher 2 - SBR Met	hodologies in Biomedical Research (ID: 515)	10-Mar-2017	4/4 (100%)	
Biomed Refresher 2 - Records-	10-Mar-2017	3/3 (100%)		
Biomed Refresher 2 - Genetics	Research (ID: 518)	10-Mar-2017	2/2 (100%)	
SBE Refresher 1 - International	Research (ID: 15028)	10-Mar-2017	2/2 (100%)	
Biomed Refresher 2 - Population	ns in Research Requiring Additional Considerations and/or Protections (ID: 519)	10-Mar-2017	1/1 (100%)	
SBE Refresher 1 – Defining Res	earch with Human Subjects (ID: 15029)	10-Mar-2017	2/2 (100%)	
SBE Refresher 1 – Assessing R	isk (ID: 15034)	10-Mar-2017	2/2 (100%)	
SBE Refresher 1 - Privacy and	Confidentiality (ID: 15035)	10-Mar-2017	2/2 (100%)	
SBE Refresher 1 - Research with	th Children (ID: 15036)	10-Mar-2017	2/2 (100%)	
Biomed Refresher 2 - HIPAA an	nd Human Subjects Research (ID: 526)	10-Mar-2017	5/5 (100%)	
Biomed Refresher 2 – Conflicts	of Interest in Research Involving Human Subjects (ID: 681)	10-Mar-2017	3/3 (100%)	
How to Complete the CITI Refre	sher Course and Receive a Completion Report (ID: 922)	10-Mar-2017	No Quiz	
For this Report to be valid, the identified above or have been	e learner identified above must have had a valid affiliation with the CITI Progra a paid Independent Learner.	am subscribing ins	titution	
Verify at: www.citiprogram.org/v	erify/?k45f8c635-cd6b-4bda-9ca4-ae643c2dda10-22577648			
Collaborative Institutional Trai	ining Initiative (CITI Program)			
Email: support@citiprogram.org	anny inducto (orri Flogram)			
Phone: 888-529-5929				
Web: https://www.citiprogram.org	<u>a</u>			

## A.8 Distribution and Cut of point

## Table A.8: TP, TN, FP, FN measurements as outcomes

Case	Prediction or test outcome	Reality or truth	
False Positive (FP)	Anomaly	Normal	
False Negative (FN)	Normal	Anomaly	
True Positive (TP)	Anomaly	Anomaly	
True Negative (TN)	Normal	Normal	



positive and negative.

#### Predicted classes of a perfect classifier



In binary classification, a test dataset has two labels; The performance of a binary classifier is perfect when it can predict the exactly same labels in a test dataset.



Specificity is calculated as the number of correct negative predictions (TN) divided by the total number of negatives (N).

(g)

False positive rate is calculated as the number of incorrect positive predictions (FP) divided by the total number of negatives (N).

(h)

# A.9 : R code linear regression algorithm

Example: R Code with this patient data
Threshold <- function(value, lower_threshold, upper_threshold) {     return(value < lower_threshold   value > upper_threshold) }
Classify <- function(sensor_data) {
emergency_vital_signs <- c()
for (i in 1:num_vital_signs) {
Value <- sensor_data[1] lower_threshold <- getLower(i)
upper_threshold <- getUpper(i)
if (Threshold(value, lower_threshold, upper_threshold)) {
emergency_vital_signs <- c(emergency_vital_signs, i)
}
if (length(emergency_vital_signs) > 0) { return(list/"ctatus" = "Emergency" "vital_signs" = emergency_vital_signs))
Petern(hist(status – Emergency, vital_signs – emergency_vital_signs))
return(list("status" = "Normal", "vital sians" = integer(0)))
}
}
LinearR <- function(sensor_data, coefficients, intercept) {
selected_sensors <- sensor_data[1:num_selected_sensors]
predicted_value <- 0 for (i in 1:num_selected_sensors) {
predicted value <- predicted value + coefficients[i] * selected sensors[i]
}
predicted_value <- predicted_value + intercept
return(predicted_value)
Monitor <- function(patient_data) {
sensor_aata <- patient_aata threshold_result <- Classifu/sensor_data)
if (threshold_result\$status == "Emergency") {
coefficients <- c(0, coefficient heart rate, coefficient blood pressure, coefficient respiratory rate,
coefficient_temperature, coefficient_oxygen_saturation, coefficient_pulse)
intercept <- trained_intercept
linear_regression_result <- LinearR(sensor_data, coefficients, intercept)
linear_regression_threshold <- 0.0 if (linear_regression_regult >= linear_regression_threshold) (
IJ (IIIeur_regression_result >= IIIeur_regression_titlestiolu) { # Perform actions for Emergency (Using Linear Regression)
cat("Final Status: Emergency (Using Linear Regression)\n")
} else {
# Perform actions for Normal (Using Linear Regression)
cat("Final Status: Normal (Using Linear Regression)\n")
} }
} else { # Perform actions for Normal (Threshold Algorithm)
cat("Final Status: Normal (Threshold Algorithm)\n")
}
}
# Assuming you have appropriate values for num_vital_signs, num_selected_sensors,
# coefficient_heart_rate, coefficient_blood_pressure, etc.
# ana the requirea functions getLower, getUpper, and trained_intercept # Example usage:
# Monitor(patient_data)